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2015 was another year of growth and good progress 
for Faroe despite a backdrop of significantly lower 
commodity prices. We delivered our exploration 
drilling programme safely and under budget, 
adding further material 2C resources, and doubled 
our 2P reserves in high quality assets, principally 
in Norway. Our diverse North Sea production 
portfolio also outperformed expectations, averaging 
10,530 boepd with lower unit operating costs of 
$23 per boe, down by 30% from the previous year.
Graham Stewart 
Chief Executive
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Contents Our  
business 

Faroe Petroleum is an independent oil 
and gas company focusing principally 
on exploration, appraisal and production 
opportunities in Norway and the UK.

For more 
information: 
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 Highlights

Our diverse North Sea production portfolio 
outperformed expectations, averaging 
10,530 boepd with lower unit operating 
costs of $23 per boe, down by 30% from 
the previous year.

Operations
Strong production performance 
and reserves growth.

10,530 boepd 
Total average economic production for 2015 at 10,530 boepd 
(2014: 9,106 boepd) – with Faroe’s main fields performing 
above expectations. 

$23 opex/boe 
Average operating cost per boe reduced by approximately 
30% to $23 (2014: $33) – improvement due to a combination 
of higher volumes, improved cost efficiencies and a weaker 
Norwegian krone. 

Acquisition 
Acquisition of additional interests in Blane and Enoch 
strengthened our tax-efficient UK production base.

We delivered our exploration drilling 
programme safely and under budget, 
adding further material 2C resources, 
and almost doubled our 2P reserves in 
high quality assets, principally in Norway.

 2P | 57.4 mmboe 
2P Reserves increased by 88% with closing reserves at 
57.4 mmboe (2014: 30.6 mmboe) – mainly reflecting the 
transfer from 2C Contingent Resources of the significant 
Pil and Butch oil fields.

2C | 98.3 mmboe 
2C Contingent Resources decreased to 98.3 mmboe 
(2014: 109.1 mmboe) – due to the reclassification of 
Pil and Butch fields to 2P Reserves, partly offset by the 
Boomerang discovery and the increased interest in 
South East Tor, all in Norway.

 13-31 mmboe 
An oil discovery of 13-31 mmboe (net to Faroe 3-8 mmboe) 
made on the Boomerang well in September 2015, adding 
to the 2014 Pil and Bue discoveries; the second of the two 
Pil follow-up wells, Blink, was dry.

Five APA licences 
Five APA licences awarded in Norway in January 2015. 
Award of a further six new exploration licences, including 
two operatorships, under the 2015 APA licensing round 
was announced on 20 January 2016.
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Financial
Strong balance sheet and positive cashflows 
from operations. 

 £91.5m 
cash at 31 December 2015.

 £68.5m 
net cash at 
31 December 2015.

 £113.0m
revenue (excluding 
hedging gains).

 £60.4m
EBITDAX (includes 
realised hedging gains). 

 £52.9m
loss after tax. 

 £61.9m
pre-tax exploration 
and appraisal capex. 

 £23.1m
development and 
production investments 
(including acquisitions). 

Outlook
Fully funded exploration programme and well positioned for further 
potential acquisitions. 

 Three wells
Three exploration wells scheduled for 2016 (Kvalross well 
announced as dry in February 2016) all of which benefit 
from Norway’s 78% exploration tax rebate.

 80% gas hedging
80% of 2016 and 50% of 2017 expected post-tax gas 
production hedged at average floor of 45p/th.

E&A capex £50m 
2016 exploration and appraisal capex is estimated to be 
approximately £50 million pre-tax (£12 million post-tax) 
and development and production capex for 2016 is estimated 
to be approximately £20 million.

 7,000-9,000 boepd
Production guidance for 2016 of 7,000-9,000 boepd, 
split 55% liquids (oil and condensate) and 45% gas.
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 Chairman’s and 
 Chief Executive’s 
statement
We are pleased to announce the 
audited results for the year ended 
31 December 2015.

The aim for the year was to continue our exploration-led/
production-backed strategy whilst preserving our cash reserves 
and a healthy balance sheet. With an active exploration 
programme consisting of five wells and persistently low 
commodity prices, this was a challenging objective and we 
are therefore pleased to report a closing cash balance of 
£91.5 million compared to £92.6 million at the close of 2014. 
This was achieved as a result of strong production 
performance, reduced operating costs, averaging $23/boe in 
2015, a fall in the value of the Norwegian Krone, commodity 
hedging gains, and generally prudent financial management 
and cost reductions. 

While low commodity prices currently look set to continue 
for some time, Faroe’s robust balance sheet and a diversified 
high quality portfolio together put the Company in a 
relatively strong position.

Market conditions
Having started 2015 at $57 per barrel, the Brent oil price 
ended the year at $37. The decline from mid-2014, when the 
oil price peaked at $115 per barrel, is even more significant. 
Oil prices declined further in January 2016, falling below $30 
per barrel. Since these lows, prices have strengthened with 
Brent averaging $33.6 in February and exceeding $40 per 
barrel in March. With oil demand continuing to increase and 
production slowing down, most analysts are forecasting a 
supply-demand balance by the end of 2016 or early 2017, 
after which global oil inventories should start drawing down 
and many are seeing the recent uptick in oil as the start to a 
more sustained recovery. Gas prices also declined throughout 
the course of 2015, with the UK spot price falling from 49p 
per therm at the start of 2015 to 33p per therm at year end. 
The outlook for the gas market is bearish with increased LNG 
exports from Australia and North America expected to exert 
downward pressure on European gas prices.

John Bentley 
Non-Executive Chairman

Graham Stewart 
Chief Executive 
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Despite the current low commodity prices, many fields 
globally are continuing to produce at peak levels in order 
to maximise cash flow, even though many are loss making. 
New developments are becoming more difficult to justify 
economically, resulting in large cuts in investment in 
developments as well as exploration and appraisal drilling, 
which, in turn, will constrain future oil production. 
Consequently the cost of rigs and field developments 
has fallen sharply in recent times, paradoxically making 
this an economically compelling time to invest. 

AIM-quoted E&P stocks had another very poor year with 
the AIM Oil & Gas Index falling by 42% throughout the course 
of the year. This compared to a 5% rise in the AIM All Share 
Index. The Oil & Gas stocks suffered from low commodity 
prices, a dearth of exploration successes, extremely low levels 
of takeover activity and increasing concerns about companies’ 
balance sheets and their ability to fund upstream developments 
or exploration programmes. Resources stocks in general 
remained out of favour with UK investors and are likely to do 
so until there is a sustained improvement in commodity prices. 

Faroe’s response to market conditions
Market conditions have sharpened our focus on preserving 
cash with particular attention being paid to four key cost 
saving areas: Company overheads; the exploration licence 
portfolio; operating costs on producing fields; and capital 
investment. Company overheads were reduced in 2015 with 
further reductions planned in 2016; we have rationalised our 
exploration portfolio down from 50 licence areas at the end 
of 2014 to 33 at the end of 2015, with further targeted licence 
relinquishments and withdrawals planned in 2016; on our 
operated Schooner and Ketch gas fields in the UK, an initiative 
was taken in 2015 by Faroe to share helicopter and marine 
services with Eni in neighbouring fields, an initiative which is 
generating savings for both operators; and in our Brage field 
in Norway, the partnership has agreed a drill-stop from 
January 2016. Our operator partners have been implementing 
significant cost reductions across the portfolio and more cost 
saving actions are to come. This is a continuous process and 
while we are satisfied with the progress made so far in all 
areas, much more can and must be done.

Faroe continues to benefit from the substantial tax incentive 
provided for exploration activity in Norway whereby the 
Company is able to reclaim 78% of exploration expenditure 
annually. In the UK, Faroe benefits from its carried forward 
tax losses of £55.6 million at December 2015, further improving 
the cash flow from production. With the acquisition of further 
interests in Blane and Enoch completed in November 2015, 
the Company expects to utilise fully its UK carried forward 
tax losses over the next few years. We welcome the UK Budget 
announcement made by the UK Chancellor on 16 March 2016 
concerning the reduction of the supplementary tax charge 
from 20% to 10%.

Consistent strategy
Faroe’s strategy is to build shareholder value through the 
monetisation of exploration success, growth in reserves and 
resources derived from successful exploration and appraisal 
drilling and targeted M&A activity. This consistent strategy 
and business model, underpinned by good quality low 
operating cost production, a relatively robust balance sheet 
and strong financial discipline means that Faroe is well placed 
in the current challenging environment. 

During the year, the Company achieved a very significant reserves 
increase of 88% year on year, with 2P Reserves standing at 
57.4 mmboe at 1 January 2016 (1 January 2015: 30.6 mmboe). 
The 2C Contingent Resources decreased by 10% in the same 
period, on 1 January 2016 standing at 98.3 mmboe compared 
to 109.1 mmboe a year earlier. The growth in 2P Reserves 
corresponds largely with the reduction in 2C Contingent 
Resources, due mainly to the transfer of Pil and Butch volumes 
from 2C to 2P. The Boomerang discovery and an increased equity 
interest acquired in South East Tor in 2015 have compensated, 
in part, for the reduction in 2C resulting from the organic transfer 
of Butch and Pil 2C to 2P. Since 2008 the Group has increased its 
2P Reserves by 56.2 mmboe, from 1.2 mmboe at 1 January 2008, 
mainly as a result of exploration successes which subsequently 
have either been matured or monetised through swap transactions. 

For more information:
Board of Directors P34
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Faroe’s production is spread across a balanced and 
high quality portfolio of assets with a fairly even split 
between Norway and UK and between liquids and 
gas. Approximately 80% of post-tax gas production 
is hedged in 2016 and 50% in 2017 at prices 
averaging 45p/therm, substantially above the current 
forward curve. Approximately 22% of post-tax oil 
production is hedged in H1 2016 with an average 
floor of approximately $50 per barrel. 

Exploration programme continues 
but fewer wells expected
Faroe’s exploration focus is predominantly in Norway. 
Having a broad portfolio of licences to high-grade 
and mature towards drilling is essential for the 
Company and Faroe remains committed to its 
cost-effective business model of winning exploration 
licences through licensing rounds to provide constant 
feedstock for a sustained drilling programme. Faroe 
won five licences in Norway at the beginning of 2015 
and a further six were awarded in Norway in January 
2016. As part of a continuous process of managing 
our portfolio and high-grading prospects, a number 
of licences have also been relinquished; Faroe had 
33 exploration licence areas at the end of 2015 
compared to 50 at the end of 2014.

Faroe has been one of the most active explorers in 
Norway in recent years, with a drilling programme 
averaging four exploration wells per annum over 
the last five years. Five wells were drilled in 2015, 
of which the Boomerang well was a successful 
discovery. As E&P companies, with whom Faroe 
partners, are looking to reduce expenditure due to 
continuing low commodity prices, it is expected that 
the number of exploration wells drilled by Faroe will 
also be lower than in recent years. In 2016 Faroe 
plans to participate in three wells, all in Norway. 
The first of these, Kvalross in the Barents Sea, 
spudded in January 2016; unfortunately the well was 
not a discovery, as announced on 24 February 2016. 
However, the well was drilled safely and significantly 
below the budget cost. Planning is ongoing in the 

High quality production portfolio
The Company’s diverse and high quality production 
portfolio remains core to our strategy. In terms 
of production volumes and opex per boe, 2015 
was a record year for Faroe, with average economic 
production for 2015 of 10,530 boepd, an increase 
of 16% on 2014, and opex per boe of $23, ensuring 
healthy operating cash flows.

Our latest production acquisition was announced 
in September 2015 when Faroe entered into an 
agreement to acquire an additional 12.5% of the 
Blane oil field from Roc Oil (Europe) Ltd for a total 
consideration of £10.6 million, taking Faroe’s equity 
in the Blane field to 30.5%. Blane offers significant 
upside potential in the form of increasing reserves 
and production. The transaction is also tax efficient, 
accelerating the rate at which Faroe can use its 
existing tax losses in the UK.

After producing above expectation during 2015, 
in response to the need to extend the Njord and 
Hyme production facility life (the Njord Future 
Project), by strengthening the structure and 
modifying the topsides, production from the Njord 
and Hyme fields in Norway will be suspended in 
the summer of 2016. Statoil, the operator, is now 
progressing plans for the Njord Future Project which, 
as well as bringing back on stream the Njord and 
Hyme fields, includes development of the significant 
Snilehorn field and potentially other discoveries in 
the area. The Njord Future Project, with estimated 
reserves of around 200 mmboe gross, aims to 
capitalise on the current market conditions through 
material cost reductions in order to maximise the 
economic value of this important project.

 Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s statement 
continued

“ While low 
commodity 
prices currently 
look set to 
continue for 
some time, 
Faroe’s  
robust balance 
sheet and a 
diversified 
high quality 
portfolio 
together put 
the Company 
in a relatively 
strong 
position.”
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Faroe-operated Brasse licence, with an exploration well 
scheduled to be drilled in the summer for which the Transocean 
Arctic drilling rig has been contracted on very competitive terms, 
minimising the net after-tax well cost to Faroe. Brasse is an 
exciting prospect within tie-back distance to either the Brage 
or the Oseberg platforms, if a discovery is made. In H2 2016, 
the Njord partnership (Faroe 7.5%), led by operator Statoil, is 
planning to drill a new prospect on the North Flank of Njord, 
in close proximity to the main field. If successful, the exploration 
well will add further volumes to the Njord Future Project.

Outlook
With a relatively strong balance sheet and cash flow from 
low-cost and partly hedged production assets, Faroe has built 
solid foundations on which to continue building its producing 
portfolio. This is planned to be achieved through a combination 
of maturing our existing assets and taking advantage of 
potential consolidation opportunities, through acquisitions 
and asset swaps. Faroe aims to continue its active exploration 
programme albeit with fewer wells targeted in 2016 and 2017. 
We look forward to drilling our operated Brasse well in the 
summer whilst continuing to high-grade the most prospective 
drilling targets from our exploration portfolio for future wells.

These are undoubtedly challenging times, but times of 
uncertainty create opportunity, and while we are taking all 
necessary measures to withstand the test of continuing low 
commodity prices, Faroe intends to take full advantage of 
its unique platform to deliver growth in the coming period.

John Bentley 
Chairman

Graham Stewart 
Chief Executive
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UK gas prices also declined throughout the course of 2015, with 
the UK National Balancing Point (NBP) spot price falling from 
49p per therm at the start of the year to 33p per therm at year 
end, a decline of 33%. However, thanks to a fairly strong H1, 
and the price fall only really starting to tell in Q4, the price only 
fell by 15% on an average full year basis (the realised gas price 
for Faroe in 2015 was 41 pence per therm excluding hedging). 
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OECD oil inventories continued to grow throughout 2015, with 
the expectation that this will continue in 2016. Oil stocks held 
by countries in the OECD reached a new all-time high of 
3.03 billion barrels by the end of 2015 according to the IEA. 

Economic/political review and outlook
The global economy in 2015 showed signs of slowdown, 
particularly in China, where reported GDP growth fell below 
7% for the first time in over 20 years. The Russian economy also 
continued to suffer, with the rouble declining by a further 20% 
against the US dollar, continuing a downward trend seen in 
2014. The year will also likely be remembered for the resilience 
of US shale oil output, the continued refusal of OPEC to cut oil 
supply, and the resultant increase in global oil inventories to 
record levels. 

Commodity prices
The Brent oil price continued to fall in 2015, continuing a rapid 
fall in prices that began in the second half of 2014 and gaining 
momentum last year. Having started 2015 at $57 per barrel, 
it ended the period at $37 per barrel, a fall of some 35%. 
The decline from mid-2014, when the oil price peaked at 
$115 per barrel, is even more dramatic. 2015 started off 
promisingly enough, with the price rallying to a peak of $68 per 
barrel in the second quarter, however this proved short-lived as 
downward pressures re-exerted themselves, and it became clear 
that OPEC and Russia were continuing to produce at capacity. 
Overall the Brent price averaged $52 per barrel throughout the 
year (the realised oil price for Faroe in 2015 was $49 per barrel 
excluding hedging). 

A continuation of the downward trend seen in 2014 led to 
the dramatic commodity price falls last year, with oversupply 
and slowing demand growth combining to drive global oil 
inventories higher. The IEA estimated global supply for oil of 
96.4 million barrels per day exceeding demand of 94.4 million 
barrels per day. US shale production continued to confound the 
market but has started to slow down as a result of a dramatic 
fall in rig count in the US since the oil price collapse, with output 
averaging 4.3 million barrels per day in 2015 versus 4.6 million 
barrels per day in 2014. Total US crude production averaged 
an estimated 9.4 million barrels per day (b/d) in 2015, down 
166,000 b/d from December 2014. It is forecast to average 
8.7 million b/d in 2016 and 8.2 million b/d in 2017. The IEA 
estimates that crude oil production in February averaged 
9.1 million b/d, which was 80,000 b/d below the January level. 
OPEC, led by Saudi Arabia, continued with its refusal to act 
as swing producer in 2015. 

 Market overview
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Recent events and outlook 
In January 2016 oil prices declined further with WTI and Brent 
both falling below $30 per barrel for the first time since 2003. 
This is leading to further cuts in capital expenditure by the major 
oil companies and National Oil Companies (NOCs). The IEA 
notes that upstream capex declined by 24% in 2015, and 
estimates that it will fall by a further 17% in 2016. Having 
already impacted the timing of many upstream developments, 
this trend is likely to continue in the short-term. The exception 
to this trend is the resumption of Iranian oil exports in early 2016 
following the easing of international sanctions against the 
country. Iran is targeting production of 4 million barrels per 
day in 2016 compared to 2.7 million barrels per day in 2015.

Since the lows of $27 per barrel in January 2016, the Brent oil price 
has strengthened and remained above $30 per barrel in February, 
averaging $33 for the month. With demand for oil continuing to 
increase and production levels slowing down or flattening, most 
analysts and agencies are forecasting a supply-demand balance 
by the end of 2016 or early 2017 after which global oil inventories 
should start drawing down. Further out, the impact of big cuts 
in capital investment seen in 2015 and 2016 will stunt future oil 
production. As a result, most analysts are predicting a recovery 
of oil prices with a recent survey suggesting market consensus at 
just below $70 per barrel in 2020. The outlook for the gas market, 
on the other hand, is less bullish, as increased LNG exports from 
Australia and North America are expected to put further pressure 
on European gas prices. 

Equity markets and E&P performance 
AIM-listed E&P stocks had another disappointing year because 
of lower commodity prices, with the AIM Oil & Gas Index (AXOIG) 
falling by 42% throughout the course of the year. This compared 
to a 5% rise in the AIM All Share Index (AXX). As a result, Oil 
& Gas was the worst performing sector in the market for the 
second consecutive year – see chart below. Faroe outperformed 
the AIM-listed E&P stocks, falling by 10% during 2015.

The Oil & Gas sector continued to suffer from low commodity 
prices, a dearth of exploration successes, extremely low levels 
of takeover activity and increasing concerns about companies’ 
balance sheets and their ability to fund upstream developments 
or exploration programmes. Resources stocks in general 
remained out of favour with UK investors and are likely to do 
so until there is a sustained improvement in commodity prices.
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Basic Resources

Financial Services

All Share

Technology

Industrial goods & services

Healthcare

Construction & Materials
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Performance of AIM All Share sectors 2015

Investment, costs and activity levels
The lower oil price last year continued to drive down drilling 
and development costs, at least for the few companies who 
could still afford to drill wells. This theme is likely to persist into 
2016 with rig-rates and utilisation rates remaining under severe 
pressure. The widely quoted Baker Hughes index in the US 
showed a dramatic 60% fall in the US rig count over the course 
of the year, falling from around 1,800 to 700 rigs. This has 
persisted into the early part of 2016 with the rig count in early 
March below 500, the lowest level in 17 years. This continues 
to put pressure on the Oil Services companies. 

Norwegian drilling plateaued last year, with 58 E&A wells drilled, 
one less than in each of the previous two years. However with 
the lower oil price leading to many drilling programmes being 
delayed or cancelled, it would be surprising if there was not 
a slowdown in activity in 2016. 
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2015 saw a sharp slowdown in activity in the UK, with a total of 
31 E&A wells being drilled compared to 40 wells in the previous 
year. The primary driver was the continuing fall in the oil price, 
which led to a material decline in discretionary upstream spend. 
Even the positive impact of lower rig-rates had little impact and 
there is nothing which suggests a change in this trend in 2016.
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 Our business

Faroe Petroleum has developed a 
geographically focused strategy with 
a diversified full-cycle portfolio. 

Exploration and appraisal
For several years, the Company has been among the most 
successful independents in winning prime quality exploration 
acreage in Norwegian waters. In January 2015, the Company 
was awarded five new licences in Norway. At the year end, 
the exploration and appraisal portfolio consisted of a total 
of 33 licence areas, decreased from 50 at the end of 2014, 
following a continuous programme of active management, 
relinquishments and high-grading.

Development
Following a series of successful exploration wells over recent 
years, Faroe now has three important projects in Norway 
progressing towards development: the Snilehorn discovery, 
which forms part of the Njord Future Project; the Butch field; 
and the Pil, Bue and Boomerang fields.

Production
The main fields in Faroe’s portfolio performed above 
expectation in 2015, which led to the upward adjustment 
of production guidance announced in November 2015, and 
ultimately an outcome which exceeded revised guidance. 
With an average operating cost of $23/boe in 2015, Faroe’s 
production portfolio was cash generative even in the low 
commodity price environment.

Faroe’s consistent strategy and business 
model is underpinned by a diversified portfolio 
of exploration, appraisal, development 
and production assets offshore Norway 
and the UK.

Faroe’s exploration focus is predominantly in Norway. 
Having a broad portfolio of licences to high-grade and 
mature towards drilling is essential for the company and 
Faroe remains committed to its cost-effective business 
model of winning exploration licences through licensing 
rounds to provide constant feedstock for a sustained 
drilling programme.

Exploration and appraisal

Diversified portfolio
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 33 
E&A licence areas in December 2015.

 Five APA licences 
awarded in Norway in January 2016.

 57.4 mmboe
2P reserves at 1 January 2016.

 98.3 mmboe
2C resources at 1 January 2016.

 10,530 boepd 
economic production in 2015. 

 $23 per boe 
opex in 2015.

Development Production

Diversified portfolio For more information: 
Strategy review P16

11Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt



 Pre-development projects

Snilehorn
Snilehorn (Faroe 7.5%): the operator (Statoil) has 
selected a two-well subsea tie-back to Njord A as 
the selected concept for the Snilehorn development. 
It is envisaged that a water injection well can be 
drilled from the Hyme template into the Snilehorn 
reservoir and thereby provide a cost efficient 
development solution for Snilehorn. The terms of 
a tie-in agreement with Njord have been negotiated, 
making the Snilehorn development an important 
element of the Njord Future Project. 

7.5%
licence interest.

 Maturing  
discoveries

Converting exploration success and transactions into value 
mmboe at 1 January 2016

1Adjusted to Kvalross prospective resource

Prospective
un-risked
resource

>8001

2C Resources 2P Reserves

57.4

98.3
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Following a series of successful exploration wells over recent years, 
Faroe now has three important projects in Norway progressing towards 
development. Collectively these projects are of great significance and, 
with development costs expected to fall significantly, these projects have 
the potential to add considerable value to Faroe in the coming years.

Butch
The Butch development plan passed concept 
selection stage in 2015 and the Front End 
Engineering and Design project is progressing 
to plan. The field is planned to be developed as 
a subsea tie-back to the BP-operated Ula oil field. 

The investment decision and Field Development 
Plan submission to the Norwegian authorities are 
currently planned for Q4 2016. Estimated capital 
expenditure has come down with further cost 
reductions targeted as the project starts the 
tendering processes.

 15%
licence interest.

Pil
A project feasibility report was submitted to the 
Norwegian authorities in 2015 confirming three 
economic development options: a subsea tie-back 
development to Njord; a subsea tie-back 
development to Draugen; or a stand-alone 
development based on a leased FPSO. 

During 2016 work will continue to mature the 
project towards a concept selection decision.

25%
licence interest.

For more information: 
Operations review P18

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt

13Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015



 Production

Total average economic production for the full 
year 2015 exceeded the upper end of guidance 
at 10,530 boepd (2014: 9,106 boepd), of which 
approximately 58% was liquids and 42% gas. 

Production portfolio
The Company’s diverse and high quality production 
portfolio remains core to our strategy. In terms 
of production volumes and opex per boe, 2015 
was a record year for Faroe, with average economic 
production for 2015 of 10,530 boepd, an increase 
of 16% on 2014, and opex per boe of $23, ensuring 
healthy operating cashflows.

Faroe’s production is spread across a balanced and 
high quality portfolio of assets with a fairly even split 
between Norway and UK and between liquids and 
gas. Approximately 80% of post-tax gas production 
is hedged in 2016 and 50% in 2017 at prices 
averaging 45p/therm, substantially above the current 
forward curve. Approximately 22% of post-tax oil 
production is hedged in H1 2016 with an average 
floor of approximately $50 per barrel. 

$23/boe
average operating cost.

In the Brage field (Faroe 14.26%), the investment 
in two new infill wells was very successful, adding 
further production capacity and contributing to a 
reduction in unit operating costs. The next drilling 
campaign on the Brage field is in preparation and 
is expected to commence in 2017.

 Exceeding 
our targets

Strategic report: Overview
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Our latest production acquisition was announced 
in September 2015 when Faroe entered into an 
agreement to acquire an additional 12.5% of the 
Blane oil field from Roc Oil (Europe) Ltd for a total 
consideration of £10.6 million, taking Faroe’s equity 
in the Blane field to 30.5%. Blane offers significant 
upside potential in the form of increasing reserves 
and production. The transaction is also tax efficient, 
accelerating the rate at which Faroe can use its tax 
existing losses in the UK. 

For more information: 
Operations review P18

Blane – P.111
Area
North Sea 

Block
30/3a (Upper)

Equity
30.5% equity 

Partners
Talisman Energy Norge (18% and operator)  
Talisman Sinopec (25.0%)  
JX Nippon E&P (14.0%)  
Dana Petroleum (12.5%) 

For more information: 
Financial review P24
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We have built solid foundations 
in the three main elements of our 
business model: 

Exploration
Application, licence awards, prospect maturation, discovery; 

Monetisation
Appraisal, sale, swap/trade into production;

Financing
Cash reserves, cash flow, debt facilities and tax efficiency.

Each of these areas commands substantial attention 
and resource for the business cycle to perform optimally. 
As demonstrated over the years, we focus on monetising 
our discoveries in the near term wherever we can in order 
to realise value, generate cash flow, and maintain a good 
portfolio balance, without excessive financial exposure 
to a single asset.
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Financing

Exploration

 Our strategy

Our strategy is to grow reserves and 
resources through monetising exploration 
and appraisal successes as well as asset 
transactions. This consistent strategy 
and business model, underpinned by 
a strong balance sheet and rigorous 
financial discipline, has again delivered 
strong results in the period and paves 
the way for further growth.

Our strategic drivers
 Win licences

 – Leverage our technical expertise.
 – Replenish exploration prospects.
 – Secure material equity stakes.

 Drill and discover
 – Drill up to five material wells per year.
 – Spread risk and cost optimally.
 – Partner with strong aligned companies.

 Monetise assets
 – Exploit drilling success.
 – Trade assets across value cycle.
 – Maximise trade value.

    Generate revenue and create 
value for stakeholders

 – Fund wells from cash flow.
 – Continue to build balanced production portfolio.
 – Achieve tax efficiency.

Strategic report: Overview

16 Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015



For more information:
Our business P10

 Key performance indicators 
  The Board has established the following Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the Group which are focused principally on managing 
the activities inherent in exploration, appraisal and production operations:

Explanations Performance Strategic drivers
Health, Safety and Environment

Lost time injury Frequency Rate (LTR)

Zero
A lost-time injury is defined as 
an occurrence that resulted in 
a fatality, permanent disability 
or time lost from work of one 
day/shift or more

  No time was lost on operations 
during the year

Operations

Delivery of successful drilling campaign

2015

2014

5

2013

2012

4

4

6

Delivery of active and successful 
exploration drilling programme

Target up to five exploration 
wells per annum. Spudded five 
wells in the period (four in 2014) 
with one successful discovery1 
(three2 in 2014)

 

2P Reserves 2C Resources

Growth in reserves and resources

2015

2014

9857.4

2013

2012

30.6 109.1

73.227.2

56.018.9

Growth in reserves and resources Reserves increased by 88% over 
the period to 57.4 mmboe and 
contingent resources decreased 
by 10% to 98 mmboe. During 
2014 reserves increased by 
13% to 30.6 mmboe 

 

Growth in production

2015

2014

10,530

2013

2012

9,106

6,059

7,200

Growth in production Economic production increased 
from 9,106 boepd in 2014 
to 10,530 boepd in 2015

 

Corporate & Finance

Total Shareholder Return (TSR %)

2015

2014

-10

2013

2012

-49

-16

-12

The total return of a stock  
to an investor (capital gain  
plus dividends)

The share price decreased from 
60.50p on 1 January 2015 to 
54.25p on 31 December 2015

 

EBITDAX (in £’000)

2015

2014

60,448

2013

2012

59,088

80,147

96,012

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation  
and exploration expenditure 
(EBITDAX)

EBITDAX increased from 
£59.1 million in 2014 
to £60.4 million in 2015

 

 1 Boomerang.  2 Solberg, Pil and Bue. 
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2P Reserves
almost doubled 
to 57.4 mmboe.

 10,530 
boepd
total average economic 
production for the full year.

$23/boe
average operating 
cost in 2015.

7,000-9,000
boepd
2016 production guidance.

The Company continued to manage 
and high-grade its extensive portfolio 
in 2015 resulting in further successful 
licence round applications, an active 
drilling programme, maturing of 
discoveries towards development 
and enhancing production.

 

Helge Hammer 
Chief Operating Officer

 Operations 
review

Net economic production averaged 10,530 boepd in 2015, 
an increase from 9,106 boepd last year and 2P Reserves 
almost doubled from 30.6 mmboe at the beginning of 
2015 to 57.4 mmboe at the beginning of 2016.

Production portfolio 
Total average economic production for the full year 2015 
exceeded the upper end of guidance at 10,530 boepd (2014: 
9,106 boepd), of which approximately 58% was liquids and 
42% gas. The main fields in Faroe’s portfolio performed 
above expectation in 2015, which led to the upward 
adjustment of production guidance announced in November 
2015, and ultimately an outcome which exceeded revised 
guidance. With an average operating cost of $23/boe in 
2015, Faroe’s production portfolio was cash generative 
even in the low commodity price environment.

In the Brage field (Faroe 14.26%), the investment in two new 
infill wells was very successful, adding further production 
capacity and contributing to a reduction in unit operating 
costs. The next drilling campaign on the Brage field is in 
preparation and is expected to commence in 2017.

The acquisition of additional interests in the Blane and 
Enoch fields was completed in November 2015, increasing 
the Company’s interests to 30.5% in Blane and 13.86% 
in Enoch. The deal boosts Faroe’s oil production and 
improves tax efficiency by accelerating the utilisation 
of carried forward tax losses.

Following excellent performance in 2015, production from 
the Njord and Hyme fields (Faroe 7.5%) will be temporarily 
suspended from the end of May 2016 after which the 
Njord A and B facilities are planned to be towed to shore 
to prepare the facilities for life extension – the Njord Future 
Project. The planning of the Njord Future Project is ongoing 
with concept selection scheduled for mid-2016 and a final 
investment decision and Field Development Plan submission 
expected in early 2017. It is expected that the Njord Future 
Project, which includes the Njord and Hyme fields, 
development of the Snilehorn field, and potentially further 
fields in the area, will take approximately three years from 
when the project is sanctioned before the facility is back 
on production. 

Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 201518
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This important project will seek to take full advantage 
of the significant cost reductions in the market today 
to maximise economic value and return on investment. 

The Schooner and Ketch fields (Faroe 60% and 
operator) delivered stable production during 2015 
and various cost reduction measures have been 
implemented to improve profitability; these measures 
include the logistic sharing initiative, covering the 
sharing of helicopters, vessels and accommodation, 
with the neighbouring Eni-operated Hewitt platform. 

The Schooner and Ketch fields tie back to the 
Theddlethorpe Gas Terminal in Lincolnshire. Discussions 
are ongoing with the terminal operator to extend the 
lives of the terminal and other infrastructure to allow 
the continued production of Schooner and Ketch and 
the other fields in the catchment area with remaining 
economic potential. The longevity of these fields is 
dependent upon a recovery in market prices and 
continued access to the infrastructure. 

Average full year 2016 production is expected to be 
in the range of 7,000–9,000 boepd from all fields, 
which includes production from the Njord and Hyme 
fields until the end of May 2016, in accordance with 
plans for the Njord Future Project. 

Pre-development projects
Following a series of successful exploration wells over 
recent years, Faroe now has three important projects 
in Norway progressing towards development: the 
Snilehorn discovery, which forms part of the Njord 
Future Project; the Butch field; and the Pil, Bue and 
Boomerang fields. Collectively these projects are 
of great significance and, with development costs 
expected to fall significantly as a result of sustained low 
commodity prices, these projects have the potential to 
add considerable value to Faroe in the coming years.

Snilehorn (Faroe 7.5%): the operator (Statoil) has 
selected a two-well subsea tie-back to Njord A as 
the selected concept for the Snilehorn development. 
It is envisaged that a water injection well can be 
drilled from the Hyme template into the Snilehorn 
reservoir and thereby provide a cost efficient 
development solution for Snilehorn. The terms of 
a tie-in agreement with Njord have been negotiated, 
making the Snilehorn development an important 
element of the Njord Future Project. 

Butch (Faroe 15%): the Butch development plan 
passed concept selection stage in 2015 and the 
Front End Engineering and Design project is 
progressing to plan. The field is planned to be 
developed as a subsea tie-back to the BP-operated 
Ula oil field. The investment decision and Field 
Development Plan submission to the Norwegian 
authorities are currently planned for Q4 2016. 

 30.5%
the Company increased 
its interest in Blane in 2015.

19Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt



of a total of 33 licence areas, decreased from 50 at 
the end of 2014, following a continuous programme 
of active management, relinquishments and 
high-grading. In January 2016, a further six new 
licences were awarded in Norway in the Awards in 
Predefined Areas (APA) licensing round. Five wells 
were drilled in 2015, all in Norway, and the 2016 
drilling programme contains three exploration wells. 

The Company’s principal exploration focus is 
in Norway, which offers very significant resource 
potential backed by substantial tax incentives 
whereby 78% of exploration expenditure can be 
reclaimed annually. Faroe’s Norwegian portfolio 
contains a diverse range of risk/reward profiles 
and maturity and extends from the shallower water 
region in the southern part of the Norwegian North 
Sea, across the Norwegian Sea and into the Arctic 
region with our Barents Sea licences. At the year 
end Faroe held eight exploration and appraisal 
licence areas in the Norwegian North Sea, 13 in 
the Norwegian Sea and three in the Barents Sea.

Estimated capital expenditure has come down with 
further cost reductions targeted as the project starts 
the tendering processes.

Pil (Faroe 25%): a project feasibility report was 
submitted to the Norwegian authorities in 2015 
confirming three economic development options: 
a subsea tie-back development to Njord; a subsea 
tie-back development to Draugen; or a stand-alone 
development based on a leased FPSO. During 2016 
work will continue to mature the project towards 
a concept selection decision.

Exploration
Portfolio overview
For several years, the Company has been among 
the most successful independents in winning prime 
quality exploration acreage in Norwegian waters. 
In January 2015, the Company was awarded five 
new licences in Norway. At the year end, the 
exploration and appraisal portfolio consisted 

Working in line with 
our strategy

 Drill and discover
 – Drill up to five material wells per year.
 – Spread risk and cost optimally.
 – Partner with strong aligned companies.

Five wells were drilled in 2015, all in Norway. The 2016 
drilling programme contains three exploration wells, also in 
Norway, one of which is the Faroe-operated Brasse well. 

Image: The Transocean Arctic – scheduled to drill the Brasse well in 
summer 2016.

For more information:
Key performance indicators P17

 Operations review  
continued
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At the year end Faroe held nine licence areas in the 
UK and Ireland. Of these, four are in the UK Central 
North Sea where the Company’s focus has been 
around the undeveloped Perth-Dolphin-Lowlander 
fields and a few other near-field opportunities. 
In 2016 the Company will withdraw and relinquish 
the two exploration licences held in the West of 
Shetland area (P1190 Tornado and P2011 Dunvegan). 
In October 2014 the Company was awarded three 
new licence options in Ireland located in the 
southern margin of the North Celtic Sea basin. 
The objective in this area is to exploit reprocessing 
technology at very low cost to de-risk a number 
of prospect opportunities ahead of making any 
significant further cost commitments.

Drilling operations
The Skirne East (Shango) exploration well was 
located in the Norwegian North Sea in licence 
PL627, adjacent to the producing Skirne Field, 
and commenced drilling in March 2015. The well 
encountered a net gas-bearing reservoir section 
estimated at 10 metres thickness in the Middle 
Jurassic Hugin formation, confirming hydrocarbons 
at the same reservoir level as in Skirne. Reservoir 
properties were found to be excellent. The 
preliminary resource estimate for the Skirne East 
discovery is in the range of 3 to 10 mmboe gross 
(0.3 to 2.0 mmboe net to Faroe). Due to the size 
of the discovery it is unlikely to be developed as 
a separate development project and the costs 
associated with the well have been written off in 
2015. The current focus in the area is to mature a 
prospect near Shango to drillable status. If successful, 
the prospect has the potential to make Shango a 
part of a possible economic development project. 

The Bister well, located in the Norwegian Sea 
in licence PL348C adjacent to the 2013 Snilehorn 
discovery and the producing Hyme field, started 
drilling in May 2015. The well and side-track found 
reservoir of similar quality to Hyme and Snilehorn but 
failed to encounter hydrocarbons. Valuable data was 
secured and the licence contains several further 

promising exploration targets, which are currently 
being evaluated. 

The Portrush well, located in the Norwegian Sea in 
licence PL793 south of the Njord field, commenced 
drilling in August 2015 and whilst the targeted 
reservoir was present no hydrocarbons were 
encountered. This well was drilled at very low cost, 
benefiting from significantly reduced rig-rates.

The follow-up campaign for the 2014 Pil discovery 
in licence PL586 commenced in June 2015 with the 
spudding of the Boomerang exploration well (Faroe 
25%). Pil is located approximately 30 kilometres to the 
south west of the producing Njord field (Faroe 7.5%). 
The exploration well targeted prospective resources 
in the Upper Jurassic reservoirs analogous to the Pil, 
Bue and Draugen field reservoirs. The main well bore 
encountered a 26 metre gross Upper Jurassic Rogn 
sandstone with moveable oil. Preliminary estimates 
of gross recoverable volumes in the discovery range 
between 13 and 31 mmboe. 

The second follow-up well, targeting the Blink 
prospect, commenced drilling in September 2015. 
The objective of the well 6406/12-5S was to test 
a possible extension of the Pil discovery towards 
the north. The well encountered a 557 metre gross 
section of Upper Jurassic sandstone following a 
technical side-track but the reservoir did not 
contain hydrocarbons. 

Since the year end the Company has drilled the 
Kvalross well in the Barents Sea (Faroe 40%) in 
licence PL611 to the south of OMV’s significant 
Wisting and Hanssen oil discoveries. The well tested 
two independent targets: the Kvalross prospect 
within the Lower Triassic Klappmyss formation; 
and the Kvaltann prospect within a Mid-Late Triassic 
Snadd formation channel. Good quality sands were 
encountered in the Kvaltann prospect but were 
found to be water-wet. In the main Kvalross target 
hydrocarbon shows were observed, but not in good 
quality reservoirs. 

For more information:
Our strategy P16
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The Company also plans to relinquish the Solberg 
and Rodriguez licences (Faroe 20%) in Norway; in 
both these cases, the decisions to withdraw are a 
result of a combination of increasing licensing fees 
together with a low probability of progressing these 
assets to become economically viable developments. 
The Company continues to monitor all of its 
pre-development assets and will not hesitate to 
withdraw from any which cease to have a reasonable 
expectation of creating value in the near to 
medium term.

Relinquishments and withdrawals
Due to lower commodity prices, stricter decision 
criteria are being applied by the Company for the 
retention of licences and commitment to further work 
and expenditure in our assets. In the near term, this 
will result in a reduction in the number of licences 
in the portfolio, and those licences that have been 
retained will be economically more robust. During 
2015 we withdrew from or relinquished 17 exploration 
licences. Since the year end the Company has also 
agreed to withdraw from the Tornado licence (Faroe 
7.5%), UK West of Shetland and consequently the 
book value was written off in 2015. 

Reserves and resources
2P Reserves
The Company’s internal estimate of Proven and Probable (2P) Reserves at 1 January 2016, prepared 
in accordance with the Petroleum Resource Management System guidelines endorsed by the Society of 
Petroleum Engineers, World Petroleum Congress, American Association of Petroleum Geologists and Society 
of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers has been estimated at 57.4 mmboe (1 January 2015: 30.6 mmboe) – 
increasing reserves by 88% over the year. This significant increase is mainly a result of the transfer from 
2C Resources to 2P Reserves on the significant Pil and Butch fields, both of which were discovered by 
Faroe Petroleum.

Gas (bcf) Liquids (mmbbls) Total (mmboe)

Norway UK Group Norway UK Group Group

1 January 2015 38.8 29.7 68.5 16.1 3.1 19.2 30.6

Revisions 5.5 (4.1) 1.4 2.2 (0.5) 1.7 1.9

Acquisitions – – – – 2.1 2.1 2.1

Transfer from 2C 22.5 – 22.5 22.9 – 22.9 26.6

Production (3.7) (5.7) (9.4) (1.8) (0.4) (2.2) (3.7)

1 January 2016 63.1 19.9 83.0 39.3 4.3 43.6 57.4

 Operations review  
continued
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The Company’s 2P Reserves have increased by 56.2 mmboe from 1 January 2009 to 1 January 2016 – as shown 
in the graph below.

Faroe’s 2P Reserves
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2C Contingent Resources
At 1 January 2016, 2C Resources were estimated to be 98.3 mmboe representing a decrease of 10% over 
the year (109 mmboe at 1 January 2015). Again, this reduction was largely as a result of the transfer of Pil and 
Butch volumes from 2C Resources to 2P Reserves. The 2015 Boomerang exploration discovery (Faroe 25%) 
and the increased interest in the South East Tor field (Faroe 85% and operator) compensate substantially 
for the transfer of Pil and Butch from 2C Resources to 2P Reserves.

Gas (bcf) Liquids (mmbbls) Total (mmboe)

Norway UK Group Norway UK Group Group

1 January 2015 116.5 17.6 134.1 43.4 43.4 86.7 109.1

Revisions 18.6 – 18.6 (7.2) (2.7) (9.9) (6.8)

Acquisitions 16.5 – 16.5 14.4 – 14.4 17.1

Discoveries 4.0 – 4.0 4.8 – 4.8 5.4

Transfer to Reserves (22.5) – (22.5) (22.9) – (22.9) (26.6)

1 January 2016 133.3 17.6 150.9 32.4 40.7 73.1 98.3

For more information:
Principal risks P29
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 £113.0m
revenue for the year.

 78% tax rebate
the Company benefits 
from an exploration tax 
rebate in Norway.

 £61.9m
exploration and 
evaluation investments 
in 2015.

 £13.6m
development and 
production investments 
in 2015.

 £45.1m
pre-tax impairment 
charges on producing 
assets for the year.

 Financial review

Overview
Faroe has sought to adjust to a low commodity price 
environment – this is a major challenge for Faroe as it is for 
the rest of the industry globally, particularly the small E&P 
companies. In 2015 we ran a cash-neutral budget, closing 
the year with £91.5 million cash compared to £92.6 million 
at the close of 2014. Falling oil and gas prices and an active 
exploration drilling programme of five wells made our target 
of a cash-neutral budget particularly challenging but through 
strong production performance, reduced operating and 
overhead costs, and significant gains on oil and gas hedges 
our target was achieved. At the year end £23.0 million of 
debt was drawn under the reserve based lending facility, 
unchanged from 2014, resulting in net cash at year end 
of £68.5 million (2014: £69.6 million). 

Revenue, including realised hedging gains, averaged 
$47 per boe (2014: $71 per boe) after taking account of 
£4.6 million overlift (2014: £18.4 million), included in revenue 
and cost of sales. The negative impact of the fall in revenue 
per boe, due to the continued fall in commodity prices 
during the year, was partly offset by a fall in opex per boe 
which fell from $33.5 per boe in 2014 to $22.5 per boe 
in 2015. DD&A per boe was reduced by $6.0 to $15.1 boe 
(2014: $21.1 boe) mainly as a result of higher production 
in 2015 and the effect of 2014 impairments.

Falling oil and gas prices and an active 
exploration drilling programme of five 
wells made our target of a cash-neutral 
budget particularly challenging, but 
through strong production performance, 
reduced operating and overhead costs, 
and significant gains on oil and gas 
hedges our target was achieved. 

Jonathan Cooper 
Chief Financial Officer
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Income statement
Revenue for the year was £113.0 million (2014: 
£128.8 million). Cost of sales, including depreciation 
of producing assets, but before impairment charges, 
was £99.8 million (2014: £102.8 million). Pre-tax 
impairment charges of £45.1 million (post-tax 
£26.7 million) (2014: £38.5 million and £29.2 million 
pre- and post-tax respectively) were incurred, 
primarily on Blane, Schooner and Ketch in the UK 
and Njord and Hyme in Norway. The main reason 
for the impairments is the significant decline in 
the oil and gas prices. These impairment charges 
resulted in a gross loss for the year of £32.0 million 
(2014: £12.5 million). However, EBITDAX for the year 
increased to £60.4 million (2014: £59.1 million) with 
strong production performance and lower operating 
costs offsetting falling commodity prices. Realised 
hedging gains of £9.3 million (2014: £0.5 million) 
are classified as other income and are included 
in EBITDAX.

Pre-tax exploration and evaluation expenses for 
the year were £89.5 million (post-tax: £22.0 million) 
(2014: £139.4 million and £47.2 million pre- and 
post-tax respectively). This includes pre-award 
exploration expenses of £6.0 million and write-
offs of licence-specific exploration and evaluation 
expenditure of £83.5 million on previously capitalised 
licences where active exploration has now ceased. 
The exploration costs which were written off 
during the year related to relinquished licences 
and unsuccessful well costs on PL611 (Kvalross), 
PL475D (Rodriguez/Solberg), PL793 (Portrush), 
PL627 (Shango), PL586 (Blink), PL348B (Bister), 
P324 (Lowlander) and P1190 (Tornado) along with 
other exploration costs on a number of licences.

The Group’s reported loss before tax was 
£122.3 million (2014: £165.8 million). Loss after 
tax was £52.9 million (2014: £55.0 million). 

Hedging
In line with Group policy approximately 57% of 
post-tax production was hedged in 2015, of which 
40% were oil sales and 76% were gas sales, with 
realised hedging gains, net of cost, of £9.3 million 
(2014: £0.5 million). The cost incurred for the 
2015 hedges was £1.3 million (2014: £1.0 million). 

At December 2015, the Group had entered into 
hedging arrangements covering approximately 
65% of 2016 and 50% of 2017 total expected 
gas production (on a post-tax production basis) and 
5% of expected oil production. The gas hedging 
arrangements are predominantly put options 
with floors between 45 and 50 pence per therm. 
The oil hedging arrangements are swaps and zero 
cost collars with an average strike price of $63 per 
barrel. Unrealised hedging gains for these open 
hedge contracts for the year were £10.6 million 
(2014: £6.1 million) based on mark-to-market 
calculations and are recognised as derivative financial 
assets. These hedging gains are shown as Other 
Income in the Income Statement, net of hedging 
costs of £1.5 million (2014: £1.5 million). 

Further gas and oil hedges have been undertaken 
in 2016 following which 80% of post-tax gas 
production is hedged in 2016 and 22% of post-tax 
oil production is hedged in H1 2016. The Company 
continues to monitor the commodity market and 
aims to extend the current hedging programme, 
particularly for oil, at opportune moments taking 
a layered approach to its hedging strategy. 

Faroe is subject to taxation under two regimes in 
Norway, namely: offshore, where a special tax of 
53% is applied; and onshore, where the standard 
corporation tax rate is 25%. Hedging gains fall only 
within the onshore regime and hence the concept 
of hedging “post-tax production” which implies that 
in order to be fully hedged in Norway on a post-tax 
basis, approximately 29% of pre-tax barrels need 
to be hedged. 

For more information:
Accounts P62
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The amount of tax receivable at 31 December 2015 
was £35.2 million (2014: £45.8 million) which is the 
tax refund on exploration expenditure in Norway 
net of taxable profits generated by the Norwegian 
producing assets. The refund will be received in 
December 2016. The tax credit in the Income 
Statement was £69.4 million (2014: £110.8 million) 
and consisted mainly of the Norway tax receivable, 
and origination of timing differences of £34.8 million.

Balance sheet
Exploration and evaluation investments of £61.9 million 
(post-tax: £14.8 million) (2014: £87.2 million pre-tax, 
£23.0 million post-tax) were made in the year. 
The E&E investments mainly related to drilling the 
Shango, Portrush, Bister, Blink and Boomerang wells 
in Norway. After exploration write-offs in the year 
of £83.5 million (2014: £131.7 million), the intangible 
assets decreased by £54.8 million to £73.5 million 
(2014: £128.3 million). Net assets decreased during 
the year to £192.4 million (2014: £245.5 million). 

Development and production investments of 
£13.6 million (2014: £22.6 million) were made in 
the year, excluding acquisitions. The Group acquired 
interests in Blane and Enoch from Roc Oil (Europe) 
Ltd for £10.6 million and determined that this was 
the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, 
fully attributable to the Blane field. Following DDA 
and impairments, development and production 
assets decreased by £27.8 million to £110.6 million 
(2014: £138.4 million).

Taxation
In Norway, the Company benefits from a 78% 
exploration and appraisal cost rebate, meaning that 
for every £1 spent the Norwegian Government will 
return 78p of eligible expenditure in the form of 
a rebate at the end of the following year, to the 
extent it is not offset against current year profits 
from producing assets. The Company can also 
borrow under its Norwegian exploration financing 
facility 96% of the 78 pence per £1 rebate, thereby 
maximising equity leverage in Norwegian exploration 
wells and minimising the need to farm down to third 
parties. The Norwegian tax system therefore ensures 
a very cost-effective fiscal environment in which to 
explore for hydrocarbons, and also cushions the cash 
impact of falling oil prices, as lower profits from 
production result in an increased tax rebate.

At December 2015 the Group had unrelieved 
tax losses in the UK of £55.6 million (2014: 
£68.0 million). The unrelieved tax losses are available 
indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits, 
with the potential to materially enhance the Group’s 
net results going forward. It is likely that the UK 
tax losses will be utilised in the coming years and 
a deferred tax asset of £30.0 million relating to the 
carried forward tax losses in the UK was recognised 
in 2014. In March 2015 it was announced that the 
supplementary corporation tax (“SCT”) in the UK 
was reduced from 32% to 20% with effect from 
1 January 2015 which necessitated a reduction in the 
recognised deferred tax asset of £5.0 million, which 
was expensed in the Income Statement in 2015. 
A further 10% reduction in SCT was announced 
in March 2016 and the net impact on the deferred 
tax asset following the latest SCT reduction will be 
£6.0 million, which will be recognised in the 2016 
accounts. The deferred tax asset as at 31 December 
2015 was £32.4 million.

 Financial review  
continued

“ In Norway, 
the Company 
benefits 
from a 78% 
exploration 
cost rebate, 
meaning that 
for every 
£1 spent the 
Norwegian 
Government 
will return 
78p of eligible 
expenditure.”
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With a combination of the current cash in the 
business, cash flow from producing assets and 
headroom in the Group’s bank facilities, the Group 
will be able to fund currently committed capital 
expenditure (exploration and development/ 
production). The pre-tax capital expenditure 
for 2016 is forecast to be up to £70 million. 

Jonathan Cooper 
Chief Financial Officer

The Group recognises the discounted cost 
of decommissioning when obligations arise. 
The amount recognised is the present value of the 
estimated future expenditure determined by local 
conditions and requirements, net of any amounts 
carried by third parties. At 31 December 2015 
the Group had decommissioning provisions of 
£85.9 million (2014: £77.1 million). The increase 
in the provision is mainly due to changes to 
existing provisions and additional provisions 
on acquired assets.

Cash flow
Closing cash was £91.5 million (2014: £92.6 million). 
Net cash at the year end was £68.5 million (2014: 
£69.6 million). Faroe Petroleum benefits significantly 
from a revolving credit facility of NOK 1,500 million 
for provision of 75% (as described above) of its 
eligible net exploration costs in Norway on a cash 
flow basis, such that only 25% of this expenditure 
is funded from Company equity. The borrowings 
under the EFF are repaid when the tax rebate is 
received in December of the year following the 
related expenditure. In December 2015 the Company 
received the tax rebate for 2014 of £40.2 million, 
most of which was used to repay the 2014 
utilisations of the EFF.

The Group also has a secured US$225 million 
(approximately £155.0 million) reserve based 
lending facility which is available for both debt 
and issuance of letters of credit. At 31 December 
2015 the calculated borrowing base amount was 
£53.5 million, of which £23.0 million was drawn 
(2014: £23.0 million).
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The system of internal controls is vital in managing 
the risks that face the Group and safeguarding 
shareholders’ interests. The Group’s internal controls 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk 
as an element of risk is inherent in the activities 
of an oil and gas company. The Board’s obligation 
is to be aware of the risks facing the Company, 
mitigate them where possible, insure against them 
where appropriate and manage the residual risk in 
accordance with the stated objectives of the Group.

A robust assessment of the principal risks facing 
the Company, including those that would threaten 
its business model, future performance, solvency or 
liquidity, is undertaken by the Board of Directors and 
Audit Committee. The effectiveness of the Group’s 
system of internal control is also monitored on an 
ongoing basis by both the Audit Committee and 
the Board of Directors. At each meeting, the Audit 
Committee reviews those risks and associated 
controls which are predominantly financial whilst 
the Board of Directors reviews those risks that are 
predominantly operational or of a corporate nature. 
The process involves the review of the updated Risk 
Registers and discussion with key personnel as 
to the implementation of such control associated 
procedures. 

An annual review of all risks, financial, operational 
and corporate was undertaken in December 2015 
by the board of directors which includes the 
members of the Audit Committee. This review 
involves the assessment of the Risk Registers and 
the Group’s written procedures. Following that 
annual review it was considered that the internal 
controls in respect of the key risks that face the 
Group to be appropriate.

 Risk management 
 and internal controls

Process
Risks and mitigation validated and presented  
to Audit Committee and Board of Directors 
for review.

Executive Committee

Identify
Senior management identify the key risks and 
develop mitigation actions. 
Local management create a register of their 
principal risks and mitigation actions.

Management

Review and confirmation
Ongoing review of all financial, accounting and 
commercial risks and mitigating controls and 
reporting to the Board of Directors.

Audit Committee

Ongoing review and control
Ongoing review of both the Audit Committee risk 
reviews and all operational and other risks and 
mitigating controls.

Board

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the 
system of internal controls which has been in place throughout 2015. 

28 Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

Strategic report: Performance



 Principal risks and uncertainties
Aside from the generic risks that face all businesses, 
the Group’s business, financial condition or results of 
operations could be materially and adversely affected 
by any of the risks described below.

These risks should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties nor are they 
listed in order of magnitude or probability. Additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to the Directors, or which 
they currently deem immaterial, may also have an adverse effect on the Group’s operating results, financial condition and prospects.

Area Description Mitigation

Exploration, 
development & 
production risk

The Group operates in a harsh environment that may result in increased risk, greater 
cost pressures and schedule delays. 

There is no assurance that the Group’s exploration activities will be successful and 
statistically a relatively small number of properties that are explored are ultimately 
developed into producing hydrocarbon fields.

The Group’s development projects require the construction and/or commissioning 
of production facilities and other forms of infrastructure for the Group to realise their 
full potential. Delays in the construction and commissioning of these projects and/or 
other technical difficulties may result in the Group’s current or future projected target 
dates for the delivery of development projects and for production being delayed and/
or further capital expenditure being required. If the Group fails to meet its work and/
or expenditure obligations, the rights granted under its licences/agreements with the 
host government and partners may be forfeited. 

Long-term unscheduled or scheduled shutdowns of production may have a material 
impact on the business, as the Group will lose production income whilst also bearing 
its share of any associated remedial or repair works which may be unquantifiable at 
outset and/or subject to cost overruns.

The Group is seeking to balance these risks by building 
a portfolio of prospects that carry a range of differing 
technical and commercial risks, and limiting the 
amount invested in any one project.

Decommissioning 
costs

Decommissioning cost estimates are based on subjective judgements and 
determinations which will change over time based on new information,  
costs and practices and such estimates may increase materially. 

The Group has an abandonment provision on its balance sheet to account for  
its expected share of decommissioning costs relating to its operations.

The actual costs of decommissioning are expected to be paid from the Group’s  
cash resources and cash flow generated from both the Group’s existing and future 
producing assets. In accordance with the practice generally employed in offshore 
oilfield operations, the Group does not have a sinking fund to meet the costs of 
decommissioning its current producing assets. 

The estimated timing of decommissioning is dependent upon a number of factors 
and a material reduction in production levels or commodity prices and/or an increase 
in operating expenditure may bring forward such timing. 

Given the uncertainty of both the timing and cost of decommissioning, the associated 
liabilities may exceed the Group’s cash resources to a point where the Group does 
not have the funds available to meet such costs.

The Group has a balanced portfolio of producing 
assets that are expected to decommission at 
different times to mitigate the overall impact of 
decommissioning costs. However, notwithstanding 
that, the Group is reliant upon generating surplus 
funds from its portfolio of continuing and new 
producing assets to meet such liabilities.

Estimation of 
reserves, 
resources and 
production profile

The estimates of oil and gas reserves used by the Group, and their anticipated 
production profiles, involve subjective judgements and determinations based 
on available geological, technical, contractual and economic information. These 
judgements may change based on new information from production or drilling 
activities or changes in economic factors, as well as from developments such as 
acquisitions and dispositions, new discoveries and extensions of existing fields and 
the application of improved recovery techniques. Published reserve estimates are also 
subject to correction for errors in the application of published rules and guidance.

If the assumptions upon which the estimates of the Group’s hydrocarbon reserves, 
resources or production profiles have been based prove to be incorrect, the Group 
may be unable to recover and produce the estimated levels or quality of hydrocarbons 
set out in this document. The Group’s business, prospects, financial condition or 
results of operations could be materially adversely affected by such inaccuracies.

The Group’s assessment of reserves is prepared 
in accordance with the Petroleum Resources 
Management System (PRMS), the joint reserves/
resources definitions of the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers, the World Petroleum Congress and the 
American Association of Petroleum Geologists.

In addition, the Group arranges for a competent 
person (Senergy (GB) Limited) to undertake an 
independent annual assessment of the Group’s 
reserves.
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Area Description Mitigation

Cash flow and 
financing risk

The ability to finance firm commitments, participate in the Group’s forthcoming 
developments (notably the Njord Greater Project and Butch and Pil developments) 
and generally develop the Group’s business depends upon:

(i)  cash flow from the Group’s producing assets: with the majority of production 
derived from non-operated production, cash flow is dependent upon a combination 
of factors including field performance, (both reservoir and facilities) commodity 
prices, fiscal regime and operating costs, all of which are substantially out of the 
control of the Group. 

(ii)  finance from the equity capital markets, debt finance, tax rebates (in Norway along 
with the supporting exploration debt facility), farm downs and other means: there is 
no assurance that the Group will be successful in obtaining the required financing or 
attracting farminees in the medium-term. If the Group is unable to obtain additional 
financing as needed, some interests may be relinquished, sold at an undervalue 
and/or the scope of operations reduced. 

In the event that sufficient funds are not available to finance the business it would have 
a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition and its ability to conduct 
operations.

The Group seeks to mitigate these risks by:

a)  Maintaining a portfolio of oil and gas producing 
interests in both the UK and Norway;

b)  Strong financial discipline and maintaining a strong 
balance sheet;

c)  The Board reviews and approves the financial 
strategy of the Group; 

d)  Short-term and longer-term cash flow forecasts 
are reported to senior management and the Board 
on a regular basis; and 

e)  The Group seeks to maintain strong relations with 
its banking syndicate and its shareholders.

Commodity prices The Group relies on third party infrastructure (including host platforms, pipelines 
and terminals) for the continuing operation of its producing assets. This infrastructure 
is in turn subject not only to the risk of physical damage but it is also has economic 
thresholds governed by a combination of commodity prices and throughput often 
from other producing fields. If this third party infrastructure is no longer economic 
to operate it may lead to cessation of production leaving it’s satellites fields stranded 
without a product evacuation route which is a particular risk to the Theddlethorpe 
Gas Treatment facility (“TGT”) to which the Schooner & Ketch Fields tie back to. 

Where and when appropriate the Group will continue 
to put in place suitable hedging arrangements, in 
accordance with its hedging policy, to mitigate the risk 
of a fall in commodity prices but such arrangements 
will only cover the relatively short-term, leaving the 
Group exposed to any longer-term decline in 
commodity prices, and in addition some of the 
hedging arrangements entered into by the Group 
also carry inherent delivery risks.

Competition risk 
and cost inflation

Notwithstanding the decline in commodity prices, there remains strong competition 
within the petroleum industry for the acquisition of good quality hydrocarbon assets. 
The Group competes with other exploration and production companies, many of 
which have greater financial resources than the Group, for the acquisition of such 
properties, licences and other interests as well as for the recruitment and retention 
of skilled personnel. The challenge to management is to secure assets and recruit 
and retain key staff without having to pay excessive premiums. 

In the current market many capital and operating costs are decreasing from site 
surveys through to decommissioning. However, upon a recovery in hydrocarbon 
prices we can expect a return of cost inflation which can have a major impact on 
both the cash outlay and economic viability of a project. 

There is also continuing competition for access to pipelines and other infrastructure 
which may delay the development of a field and thereby its economic value.

In formulating bids to acquire assets, the Company 
utilises experienced senior professionals within the 
Group to ensure that any bids are submitted at a 
competitive price that reflects the potential risked 
asset value and can generate appropriate returns for 
the Company’s shareholders. Prior to any asset being 
evaluated, senior management review the target 
to ensure it fits within the parameters set at the 
commencement of each year.

Cyber risks The Group is at risk of financial loss, reputational damage and general disruption 
from a failure of its IT systems or an attack for the purposes of espionage, extortion 
or to cause embarrassment.

The Group has a fully staffed IT department who 
ensure that the Group’s systems are protected in 
so far as is practicable but no system is infallible.

Fiscal risks The Group enters into commitments assuming a relatively stable fiscal system and 
any material change, such as the removal or substantial reduction of the exploration 
tax rebate in Norway, represents a risk to the Group’s ability to fund its projects. 

The Group operates in stable jurisdictions with 
sophisticated tax authorities capable of assessing 
the adverse impact of any change in legislation 
before it is enacted. 

 Principal risks and uncertainties 
continued
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Area Description Mitigation

Health, Safety, 
Environment and 
Security risks

The effective management of HSES risk exposure is the number one priority for 
the Board of Directors and executive and management teams. As a participant 
in offshore exploration, development and production the Group is exposed 
to material risk in the event of there being a major process safety incident or 
operational accident, natural disasters, failure to comply with approved policies, 
and pandemics. The consequences of such risks materialising can be injuries, loss 
of life, environmental harm, disruption to business, activities and financial loss. 
Depending upon the cause and severity, the materialisation of such risks may 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business. 

These HSES risks are managed by the Group through 
its dedicated HSES personnel and a Business 
Management System, third parties and other operators 
the Group partners with. The Group maintains a 
programme of insurance to cover such exposure up to 
recognised industry limits but should an incident occur 
of a magnitude in excess of such limits, the Group 
would be fully exposed to the financial consequences.

Loss of 
infrastructure

The Group relies on third party infrastructure (including host platforms, pipelines 
and terminals) for the continuing operation of its producing assets. This infrastructure 
is in turn subject not only to the risk of physical damage but it is also has economic 
thresholds governed by a combination of commodity prices and throughput often 
from other producing fields. If this third party infrastructure is no longer economic 
to operate it may lead to cessation of production  leaving it’s satellites fields stranded 
without a product evacuation route which is a particular risk to the Theddlethorpe 
Gas Treatment facility (“TGT”) to which the Schooner & Ketch Fields tie back to.  

Whilst the Group assesses the risk to infrastructure 
when it acquires new assets, such assessment is based 
on assumed economics and production profiles which 
are hard to predict in the medium to long-term. 
As regards TGT, the Company along with other 
interested parties is in discussion with the facility 
operator to enable operations to continue over the 
medium / long term.

Dependence 
upon executive 
management and 
technical staff

The Group is dependent upon its executive management and technical staff. There is 
a risk that the unexpected loss of services of any such member of staff could have a 
material adverse effect on the Group. The Group does not have any key person 
insurance in effect for management. Attracting and retaining additional skilled 
personnel may be required to ensure development of the Group’s business. The 
Group faces significant competition for skilled key personnel in the oil and gas sector. 
There is no assurance that the Group will successfully attract new personnel or retain 
existing key personnel required to continue to develop its business and to execute 
and implement its business strategy.

In order to mitigate this risk the Group has to offer 
a competitive remuneration and retention package 
including bonus and long-term incentive plans to 
incentivise loyalty and good performance from 
the existing highly skilled workforce.

Negative 
stakeholder 
reactions to 
operations and the 
Group’s strategy

The Group’s operational activities and its reputation could be significantly impacted 
if relationships with its stakeholders are not effectively managed. The Group places 
a high priority on managing these relationships.

This risk is mitigated through proactive engagement 
with investors, regulators, governments, lenders and 
communities where the Group has its activities.

Risk appetite 
Faroe’s risk appetite, in line with its strategy, is to seek exposure to a wide range of projects across the upstream exploration 
and production sector and to spread its capital and resources in proportion to the likelihood and impact of the associated risk and 
reward. The Company seeks to avoid excessive risk concentration in any one project or any one part of the upstream exploration 
and production sector. The Company has appetite for geological risk, both in its exploration drilling and in field development drilling 
up to certain financial thresholds, and for economic risks as regards the performance of its producing assets. The Company does 
not have appetite for risks regarding solvency, health and safety, environmental and reputational matters. 

The Strategic Report, as set out on pages 3 to 31 has been approved by the Board.

Graham Stewart 
Chief Executive
28 April 2016
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 Chairman’s introduction
The Group is committed to maintaining high standards 
of corporate governance to ensure that it is managed 
with openness, honesty and transparency.

The Group’s governance framework, which 
includes our Business Ethics Policy, is key to the way 
we work both internally and externally (the Group’s 
Business Ethics Policy can be found on the website  
www.faroe-petroleum.com). The Board approves 
the Group’s governance framework and the Audit 
Committee reviews its risk management and internal 
control processes.

Whilst the Group is not bound to comply with 
the September 2014 edition of The UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the “Code”) or Schedule 8 of 
The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 
2013 (the “Regulations”), in relation to Directors’ 
remuneration, the Group has elected to comply with 
the Code and the main principles of the Regulations. 

The Group’s commitment to strong corporate 
governance and risk management will remain 
central to the business during 2016 and on.

John Bentley 
Non-Executive Chairman
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Faroe Petroleum plc Board

   Audit
Committee

Renumeration
Committee

Executive
Committee

Nominations
Committee

Board gender Board nationality Board experience

Female (1)
Male (6)

Norwegian (2)
British (5)

Financial (4)
Oil & Gas (6) 
Natural Resources (1)
Chemical Engineering (1)

Our governance structure
The Group’s governance structure with the Board and four committees is designed to maintain the highest 
standards of personal and professional conduct throughout the organisation. The structure is in line with 
best practice and with the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Board diversity
Faroe Petroleum is an equal opportunities employer and we recognise that Directors and 
managers with diverse backgrounds, capabilities and experience gained from different 
sectors enhance the Group and strengthen governance.

For more information: 
Principal risks P29 
Audit Committee report P59
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 Board of Directors

John Bentley, aged 68 
Non-Executive Chairman

Graham Stewart, aged 55  
Chief Executive

Jonathan Cooper, aged 47  
Chief Financial Officer

Helge Hammer, aged 54  
Chief Operating Officer

Timothy Read, aged 69  
Senior Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Roger Witts, aged 69  
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Jorunn Saetre, aged 59  
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Biography John has 40 years’ experience 
in the natural resources sector. 
He served in a number of senior 
management positions in the 
Gencor Group in South Africa, 
the USA, the UK and Brazil. 
In 1996 John was instrumental 
in floating Energy Africa Ltd 
on the Johannesburg stock 
exchange and was Chief 
Executive for the following five 
years. More recently he has 
served on the Board of Caracal 
Energy Inc and currently serves 
on the boards of Wentworth 
Resources Ltd and Africa Energy 
Corporation. John, who holds a 
degree in Metallurgy from Brunel 
University, was appointed to 
the Board in September 2007.

Graham was instrumental 
in founding the Company in 
1998, where he has been Chief 
Executive since December 2002. 
He holds an honours degree 
in Offshore Engineering from 
Heriot-Watt University and an 
MBA from Edinburgh University. 
Graham has over 20 years’ 
experience in oil and gas 
technical and commercial affairs. 
He was previously Finance and 
Commercial Director at Dana 
Petroleum and Commercial 
Director of the Petroleum 
Science and Technology Institute.

Jon is a chartered accountant 
by training, having qualified with 
KPMG before joining Dresdner 
Kleinwort Benson (later 
Wasserstein) in their Oil & Gas 
Corporate Finance and Advisory 
Team. Jon is a Fellow of the 
ICAEW and also has a PhD in 
Mechanical Engineering from 
the University of Leeds. Jon 
was appointed to the Board of 
Directors on 1 July 2013. In 2006 
he was appointed as an Executive 
Director of Gulf Keystone 
Petroleum, followed by Sterling 
Energy plc in 2008, where he was 
Finance Director. He subsequently 
joined Lamprell plc as Chief 
Financial Officer in 2011.

Helge joined the Company 
in 2006, where he is Chief 
Operating Officer. Prior to joining 
Faroe Petroleum he was Asset 
Manager and deputy Managing 
Director at Paladin Resources. He 
holds a degree in Petroleum 
Engineering from NTH University 
of Trondheim and in Economics 
from Institut Francais du Petrol in 
Paris. Helge worked for Shell for 
13 years as a Reservoir Engineer, 
Team Leader and Business 
Manager in Norway, Oman, 
Australia and the Netherlands.

Tim was appointed to the Board 
as Non-Executive Director in 
March 2009. He has over 40 
years’ experience in the natural 
resource sector as an investment 
analyst, investment banker and 
corporate executive and director. 
He has extensive experience of 
all aspects of corporate finance, 
particularly M&A and equity 
markets. Between 1999 and 
2006 Tim was the Chief 
Executive of Adastra Minerals 
Inc, and since then has acted as 
Non-Executive Director for several 
natural resource companies, 
including Cumerio SA (acquired 
in 2008) and Nevoro Inc 
(acquired in 2009). Tim, who is 
currently a director of Metminco 
Limited and Capital Drilling 
Limited, has a BA (Economics) 
from the University of Strathclyde 
in Glasgow and was made a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute 
for Securities and Investment 
in 2000.

Roger has over 40 years’ 
experience in the oil and gas 
industry. Whilst he has broad 
senior management experience 
in the upstream industry, he has 
specific expertise in financial 
and tax planning, economic 
appraisal, debt finance and risk 
management. Roger qualified as 
a Chartered Accountant in 1970 
with Coopers and Lybrand and 
then moved to The British Land 
Company in 1972 as financial 
controller of two quoted 
subsidiaries. Roger’s oil industry 
experience started with Petrofina 
in 1976 where he held a number 
of senior positions including 
Managing Director of a 
combustion engineering 
subsidiary and Finance Director 
of Fina Exploration Company. 
He was Finance Director of 
Thomson North Sea from 
1984 to 1989 and of Seafield 
Resources from 1990 to 1997. 
Roger was appointed to the 
Board in May 2007 as part time 
finance director and became 
a Non-Executive Director in 
May 2009.

Jorunn was appointed to the 
Board as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director in 
September 2014. She is a 
chemical engineer by background 
and in 2008, she was the first 
to be awarded the title of “Oil 
Woman of the Year” by the 
Stavanger Society of Petroleum 
Engineers. Jorunn is currently the 
manager of the Stavanger office 
of the engineering support group 
AGR. Jorunn has progressed to 
senior positions with Halliburton, 
in Norway, Europe and the USA, 
over a 30 year period. Her roles 
included serving as Director of 
Halliburton’s European Research 
Centre, Head of Halliburton’s 
overall Scandinavian operations 
and responsibility for global 
Production Enhancement 
activities.

Year appointed 2007 2002 2013 2006 2009 2007 2014

Main Board meetings attended 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4

Special purpose 
meetings attended1

3/6 4/6 5/6 5/6 3/6 2/6 2/6

Committee membership Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Nominations Committee Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Independent Yes Executive Committee Executive Committee Executive Committee Yes Yes Yes

1 These meetings typically involve the specific approval of transactions or matters that have the prior general approval of the full Board and are attended principally by a committee  
 of executive directors.
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John Bentley, aged 68 
Non-Executive Chairman

Graham Stewart, aged 55  
Chief Executive

Jonathan Cooper, aged 47  
Chief Financial Officer
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Chief Operating Officer
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Senior Independent  
Non-Executive Director
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Independent 
Non-Executive Director
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Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Biography John has 40 years’ experience 
in the natural resources sector. 
He served in a number of senior 
management positions in the 
Gencor Group in South Africa, 
the USA, the UK and Brazil. 
In 1996 John was instrumental 
in floating Energy Africa Ltd 
on the Johannesburg stock 
exchange and was Chief 
Executive for the following five 
years. More recently he has 
served on the Board of Caracal 
Energy Inc and currently serves 
on the boards of Wentworth 
Resources Ltd and Africa Energy 
Corporation. John, who holds a 
degree in Metallurgy from Brunel 
University, was appointed to 
the Board in September 2007.

Graham was instrumental 
in founding the Company in 
1998, where he has been Chief 
Executive since December 2002. 
He holds an honours degree 
in Offshore Engineering from 
Heriot-Watt University and an 
MBA from Edinburgh University. 
Graham has over 20 years’ 
experience in oil and gas 
technical and commercial affairs. 
He was previously Finance and 
Commercial Director at Dana 
Petroleum and Commercial 
Director of the Petroleum 
Science and Technology Institute.

Jon is a chartered accountant 
by training, having qualified with 
KPMG before joining Dresdner 
Kleinwort Benson (later 
Wasserstein) in their Oil & Gas 
Corporate Finance and Advisory 
Team. Jon is a Fellow of the 
ICAEW and also has a PhD in 
Mechanical Engineering from 
the University of Leeds. Jon 
was appointed to the Board of 
Directors on 1 July 2013. In 2006 
he was appointed as an Executive 
Director of Gulf Keystone 
Petroleum, followed by Sterling 
Energy plc in 2008, where he was 
Finance Director. He subsequently 
joined Lamprell plc as Chief 
Financial Officer in 2011.

Helge joined the Company 
in 2006, where he is Chief 
Operating Officer. Prior to joining 
Faroe Petroleum he was Asset 
Manager and deputy Managing 
Director at Paladin Resources. He 
holds a degree in Petroleum 
Engineering from NTH University 
of Trondheim and in Economics 
from Institut Francais du Petrol in 
Paris. Helge worked for Shell for 
13 years as a Reservoir Engineer, 
Team Leader and Business 
Manager in Norway, Oman, 
Australia and the Netherlands.

Tim was appointed to the Board 
as Non-Executive Director in 
March 2009. He has over 40 
years’ experience in the natural 
resource sector as an investment 
analyst, investment banker and 
corporate executive and director. 
He has extensive experience of 
all aspects of corporate finance, 
particularly M&A and equity 
markets. Between 1999 and 
2006 Tim was the Chief 
Executive of Adastra Minerals 
Inc, and since then has acted as 
Non-Executive Director for several 
natural resource companies, 
including Cumerio SA (acquired 
in 2008) and Nevoro Inc 
(acquired in 2009). Tim, who is 
currently a director of Metminco 
Limited and Capital Drilling 
Limited, has a BA (Economics) 
from the University of Strathclyde 
in Glasgow and was made a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute 
for Securities and Investment 
in 2000.

Roger has over 40 years’ 
experience in the oil and gas 
industry. Whilst he has broad 
senior management experience 
in the upstream industry, he has 
specific expertise in financial 
and tax planning, economic 
appraisal, debt finance and risk 
management. Roger qualified as 
a Chartered Accountant in 1970 
with Coopers and Lybrand and 
then moved to The British Land 
Company in 1972 as financial 
controller of two quoted 
subsidiaries. Roger’s oil industry 
experience started with Petrofina 
in 1976 where he held a number 
of senior positions including 
Managing Director of a 
combustion engineering 
subsidiary and Finance Director 
of Fina Exploration Company. 
He was Finance Director of 
Thomson North Sea from 
1984 to 1989 and of Seafield 
Resources from 1990 to 1997. 
Roger was appointed to the 
Board in May 2007 as part time 
finance director and became 
a Non-Executive Director in 
May 2009.

Jorunn was appointed to the 
Board as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director in 
September 2014. She is a 
chemical engineer by background 
and in 2008, she was the first 
to be awarded the title of “Oil 
Woman of the Year” by the 
Stavanger Society of Petroleum 
Engineers. Jorunn is currently the 
manager of the Stavanger office 
of the engineering support group 
AGR. Jorunn has progressed to 
senior positions with Halliburton, 
in Norway, Europe and the USA, 
over a 30 year period. Her roles 
included serving as Director of 
Halliburton’s European Research 
Centre, Head of Halliburton’s 
overall Scandinavian operations 
and responsibility for global 
Production Enhancement 
activities.

Year appointed 2007 2002 2013 2006 2009 2007 2014

Main Board meetings attended 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4

Special purpose 
meetings attended1

3/6 4/6 5/6 5/6 3/6 2/6 2/6

Committee membership Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Nominations Committee Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Independent Yes Executive Committee Executive Committee Executive Committee Yes Yes Yes

1 These meetings typically involve the specific approval of transactions or matters that have the prior general approval of the full Board and are attended principally by a committee  
 of executive directors.
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 Directors’ report
Performance of the business 
and future developments
Information on the performance of the business and future 
developments can be found in the Strategic Report.

Dividends 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend 
for the year.

Directors
The names and biographies of the Directors during the year 
are disclosed on pages 34 to 35.

Events since the balance sheet date
Details of significant post balance sheet events are set out 
in Note 29 in the Group financial statements.

Share capital and share options
Details of the share capital of the Company and options over 
shares of the Company are set out in Note 21 to the Group 
financial statements. Over the period the Company had three 
share incentive schemes by which Directors and employees may: 
(i) be granted options under a long-term incentive scheme to 
subscribe for nil cost shares in the Company; (ii) be issued shares 
under a co-investment plan, and (iii) be issued shares under 
a share incentive plan. The maximum aggregate number of 
new shares which may be issued in respect of these schemes 
is currently limited to 10% of the issued share capital.

Composition of Group
Details concerning the subsidiary undertakings are given in 
Note 15 to the Group financial statements.

Substantial shareholdings
The Company has analysed its share register at 18 March 2016, 
the results of which indicate the following shareholders held 
3% or more in the issued share capital of the Company:

Shareholder Ordinary Shares %

Dana Petroleum Ltd* 48,055,825 17.86

Black Rock Investment Management 29,483,266 10.96

Fidelity Worldwide Investment 26,849,659 9.98

Aviva Investors 23,433,793 8.71

Schroder Investment Management 10,349,480 3.85

Invesco Perpetual 9,732,384 3.62

AXA Framlington Investment Managers 9,466,011 3.52

Scottish & Southern Energy plc 9,215,673 3.43

NFU Mutual 8,698,671 3.23

* Wholly owned subsidiary of The Korean National Oil Corporation. 

Directors’ interests in share capital
The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company 
at 20 March 2016 was as follows:

20 March 2016 31 December 2015

Ordinary 
Shares 

Options and 
Matching 

Shares
Ordinary 

Shares

Options and 
Matching 

Shares 

John Bentley 100,842 – 100,842 –

Graham Stewart 951,553 5,583,303 841,868 5,033,233

Helge Hammer 499,349 3,170,488 426,861 2,830,893

Jonathan Cooper 174,127 2,383,939 100,413 1,912,962

Tim Read 110,000 – 110,000 –

Roger Witts 83,331 43,168 83,331 43,168

Jorunn Saetre – – –  – 

Health, safety, the environment and the 
community
The Group has a formal Health, Safety and Environmental 
Policy which requires all operations within the Group to pursue 
economic development whilst protecting the environment. 
The Directors aim not to damage the environment of the areas 
in which the Group operates, to meet all relevant regulatory 
and legislative requirements and to apply responsible standards 
of its own where relevant laws and regulations do not exist.

It is the policy of the Group to consider the health and welfare 
of employees by maintaining a safe place and system of work 
as required by legislation in each of the countries where the 
Group operates.

Auditors and their independence
A resolution to appoint auditors for the year to 31 December 
2016 as approved by the Audit Committee will be proposed at 
the AGM. The Company has a policy for approval of non-audit 
services by the auditor, to preserve independence.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps 
that he ought to have taken as a Director to make himself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
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Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely 
to affect the future development, performance and position, 
are set out in the Strategic Report. The financial position of 
the Group, its cash flows and liquidity position and borrowing 
facilities are described in the Financial Review section in the 
Strategic Report and in Note 19. Further information on the 
Group’s exposure to financial risks and the management 
thereof is provided in Note 22.

The Board’s review of the accounts, budgets and financial 
plan lead the Directors to believe that the Group has sufficient 
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 
The financial statements are therefore prepared on a going 
concern basis.

Treasury policy
The objective of the Group’s treasury policy is to manage 
the Group’s financial risk and to minimise the adverse effects 
of fluctuations in the financial markets on the value of the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities, on reported profitability 
and on the cash flows of the Group. Note 22 sets out the 
particular risks to which the Group is exposed, and how 
these are managed.

Directors’ liabilities
The Company has granted an indemnity to one or more of 
its Directors against liability in respect of proceedings brought 
by third parties, subject to the conditions set out in the 
Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity 
provision remains in force as at the date of approving the 
Directors’ Report.

Interests in contracts
There have been no contracts or arrangements during 
the financial year in which a Director of the Company was 
materially interested and which were significant in relation 
to the Group’s business.

Political donations
The Group made no political donations during the year ended 
31 December 2015.

Graham Stewart 
Chief Executive 
28 April 2016

Board of Directors and Committees

John Bentley
Non-Executive Chairman

Graham Stewart
Chief Executive

Jonathan Cooper
Chief Financial Officer

Helge Hammer
Chief Operating Officer

Tim Read
Senior Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Roger Witts FCA
Independent Non-Executive Director

 Jorunn Saetre
 Non-Executive Director

 Julian Riddick
 Company Secretary

 Audit Committee
 Nominations Committee
 Remuneration Committee
 Executive Committee
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 Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, 
the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable United Kingdom law and regulations. Company 
law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law, the Directors are required 
to prepare financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union.

Under Company Law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. 

In preparing those financial statements the Directors are 
required to:

 – present fairly the financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of the Group; 

 – select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8: 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors and then apply them consistently; 

 – present information, including accounting policies, in 
a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable 
and understandable information; 

 – make judgements that are reasonable and prudent; 

 – provide additional disclosures when compliance with the 
specific requirements in IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact 
of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the 
Group’s financial position and financial performance; and 

 – state whether the Company financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ statement under the UK 
Corporate Governance Code
The Directors consider the Annual Report and Accounts, taken 
as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides 
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

Graham Stewart 
Chief Executive 
28 April 2016
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 Corporate governance report

Corporate governance and the UK 
Corporate Governance Code
The Directors support high standards of corporate governance 
and whilst the Company is not required to comply with the 
Code, it has nevertheless elected to comply with it, and the 
Board considers that the Company has been in compliance 
throughout the period other than the following:

Code requirement C.2.2: Taking account of the Company’s 
current position and principal risks, the Directors should explain 
in the Annual Report how they have assessed the prospects 
of the Company, over what period they have done so and 
why they consider that period to be appropriate. The Directors 
should state whether they have a reasonable expectation that 
the Company will be able to continue in operation and meet 
its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
drawing attention to any qualifications or assumptions as 
necessary. 

Company position: The Company is subject to a number of risks 
and uncertainties, as described on pages 29 to 31, which may 
have a material impact on the Company’s ability to continue in 
operation over the longer term. Rather than provide a long-term 
viability statement with a high level of qualification reflecting 
such risks and uncertainties, thus diminishing the value of such 
statement, the Directors have opted not to comply with this 
Code requirement.

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the 
system of internal controls which has been in place throughout 
2015. The responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal controls and risk management systems on 
an ongoing basis is divided between the Audit Committee and 
the Board, as described below. The Directors confirm they have 
carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the 
Group, including those that would threaten its business model, 
future performance, solvency or liquidity. The procedures 
performed are disclosed in the Audit Committee Report.

The workings of the Board 
and its committees
The Board
At 31 December 2015 the Board included four Non-Executive 
Directors, one of whom is the Chairman, and three Executive 
Directors. The Board is responsible to the shareholders for the 
proper management of the Group. It meets regularly, as set down 
in the table on page 40, to review trading performance, set and 
monitor strategy, examine acquisition and divestment possibilities, 
approve major capital expenditure projects, monitor changes to 
the business environment the risks the Group faces and other 

significant financing matters and report to shareholders. 
The Board delegates authority to the management for the 
day-to-day business under a set of delegated authorities which 
cover: routine operational matters, purchasing procedures, 
financial authority limits, contract approval procedures and 
the hiring of full time and temporary staff and consultants. 
Matters reserved for the Board are communicated in advance 
of formal meetings. All of the Directors are subject to election 
by shareholders at the first AGM after their appointment to the 
Board and to re-election by shareholders at least once every three 
years. In addition, as required under the Code, any Non-Executive 
Director who has served in that capacity on the Board for more 
than nine years will be subject to annual re-election.

At the year end the Board comprised three independent 
Non-Executive Directors; Tim Read (Senior Independent 
Director), Jorunn Saetre and Roger Witts. Mr Witts was an 
Executive Director of the Company until May 2009 which 
is more than the five year period set down by the Code as 
a measure of independence. Ms Saetre is currently the Rig 
Team Leader and manager of the Stavanger office of the 
engineering support group AGR which in 2015 provided 
engineering services of a value of approximately £180,414 
to the Group. The Board has nevertheless evaluated Mr Witts’ 
and Ms Saetre’s judgement, character and performance, and 
continues to be satisfied that they act as independent directors 
and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders 
and so continues to deem them to be independent.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors have other third 
party commitments including directorships of other companies as 
disclosed in the Directors’ biographies. The Company is satisfied 
that these associated commitments have no measurable impact 
on their ability to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

New Directors receive an induction on their appointment to 
the Board which covers the activities of the Group and its key 
business and financial risks, the terms of reference of the Board, 
and its committees, and the latest financial information about 
the Group.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring 
that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules 
and regulations are complied with. In addition, the Company 
Secretary will ensure that the Directors receive appropriate 
training as necessary. The appointment and removal of the 
Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole. 
All  Directors are supplied with information in a timely 
manner in a form, and of a quality, appropriate to enable 
them to discharge their duties.
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 Corporate governance report 
continued

Board performance
In accordance with Code provisions, the Company has a formal 
process of annual performance evaluation for the Board, its 
committees and individual Directors. The performance evaluation 
of the Board and the Board committees is primarily based upon 
answers to a detailed questionnaire. The areas covered in the 
questionnaire included the effectiveness of the Board and its 
committees, performance against objectives, preparation for and 
performance at meetings and corporate governance matters.

Once a questionnaire has been completed by each member of 
the Board, the Chairman then reports the results of the process 
to the Board. The Board and its committees are satisfied that 
they are operating effectively. 

A performance evaluation of the Board, the Board committees 
and individual Directors will continue to be conducted annually 
and the method for such review will continue to be reviewed 
by the Board in order to optimise the process.

The performance of the Executive Directors is reviewed by 
the Remuneration Committee and the bonuses payable to 
the Executive Directors are linked directly to the results of 
these reviews.

The following is a table of Board and committee meetings during the year:

Quarterly Board Special Purpose Board1 Audit Committee Nominations Committee Remuneration Committee

Meetings held during 2015 4 6 4 1 5

Number of meetings attended

Executive Directors

Graham Stewart 4 4 – 1 –

Jonathan Cooper 4 5 – – –

Helge Hammer 4 5 – – –

Non-Executive Directors

John Bentley 4 3 3 1 5

Tim Read 4 3 4 1 5

Roger Witts 4 2 4 1 4

Jorunn Saetre 4 2 4 1 4

1  These meetings typically involve the specific approval of transactions or matters that have the prior general approval of the full Board and are attended principally by a committee 
of executive directors.

The Company has directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
in place.

During 2015, certain Directors who were not committee 
members attended meetings of the Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee by invitation. These details have 
not been included in the table. Where a Director is unable to 
attend meetings of the Board or of Board committees, such 
Director is invited to review the relevant papers for the meetings 
and provide his or her comments to the Board or the Board 
committees in advance of such meetings.

The following committees deal with specified aspects of the 
Group’s affairs.

Audit Committee
The make-up and workings of the Audit Committee are set 
out in the separate Audit Committee Report. 

Remuneration Committee
The make-up and workings of the Remuneration Committee, 
together with details of the Directors’ remuneration, interest 
in options, together with information on service contracts, are 
set out in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration. No Director 
is involved in the decision of his or her own remuneration.
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Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee comprises John Bentley 
(committee chairman), Tim Read, Jorunn Saetre, Roger Witts 
and Graham Stewart. The Nominations Committee, which 
has Terms of Reference agreed by the Board and available on 
the Company’s website, will meet as and when required to:

 – consider, at the request of the Board, the making of any 
appointment or reappointment to the Board; and

 – provide advice and recommendations to the Board 
on any such appointment or re-appointment.

The Nominations Committee does use the services of 
independent consultants from time to time to assist in the 
identification of candidates for Non-Executive Directors and/or 
to benchmark candidates already identified by the committee 
against possible candidates identified by consultants. 

The Company’s policy is to attract and develop a highly qualified 
and diverse workforce and to ensure that all selection decisions 
are based on merit and that all recruitment activities are fair 
and non-discriminatory. We continue to focus on encouraging 
diversity of business skills and experience, recognising that 
Directors and managers with diverse skills sets, capabilities 
and experience gained from different backgrounds enhance 
the Group. Notwithstanding that the resources sector has 
historically been male dominated, at 31 December 2015, 
42% of the Group’s employees were female.

Relations with shareholders
Communication with shareholders is given high priority by 
the Board and is undertaken through press releases, general 
presentations at the time of the release of the annual and interim 
results and face-to-face meetings. The Group issues its results 
promptly to individual shareholders and also publishes the same 
on the Company’s website (www.faroe-petroleum.com). 
Regular updates to record news in relation to the Company 
and operational reports are also published on the website.

In order to ensure that the members of the Board develop an 
understanding of the views and concerns of major shareholders 
there is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders including 
meetings after the announcement of the Company’s annual 
and interim results. In addition, the Chairman and the senior 
independent Non-Executive Director (“SID”) have held face-to-
face meetings or spoken on the telephone with a number of the 
Company’s major shareholders on a range of matters including 
strategy, executive remuneration, long-term incentive schemes 
and corporate governance issues. The SID is available to attend 
meetings with major shareholders without the Executive 
Directors present, if requested by shareholders. The Board uses 
the AGM to communicate with private and institutional investors 
and welcomes their participation.

Signed on behalf of the Board by:

 

John Bentley 
Non-Executive Chairman
28 April 2016
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 Directors’ Remuneration Committee report
Annual statement

Remuneration Committee

Name Meetings attended
Tim Read (Chairman) 5/5
John Bentley 5/5
Roger Witts 4/5
Jorunn Saetre 4/5

Introduction
The Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 
31 December 2015 has been prepared by the Remuneration 
Committee and approved by the Board. The Committee is 
committed to transparent and quality disclosure. Our report 
for 2015 covers the following matters:

 – the Company’s intended Executive remuneration policy 
for 2016 and beyond (the Directors’ Remuneration Policy 
Report); and

 – how the policy has been implemented in the year ended 
31 December 2015 (the Annual Remuneration Report).

Performance of the Company in 2015
As commodity prices deteriorated over the period so did the 
market for Exploration & Production stocks. The Company 
did however make very good progress at an operational level 
with production coming in at the upper end of expectations/
guidance, a near doubling of reserves and exploration success:

 – total average economic production for the full year 2015 was 
at the upper end of guidance at approximately 10,530 boepd;

 – 2P Reserves increased by 88% with closing reserves at 
57.4 mmboe (1 January 2015: 30.6 mmboe). The significant 
increase is mainly a result of the transfer from 2C Resources 
to 2P Reserves on the significant Pil and Butch fields (NB 
largely as a consequence, 2C Contingent Resources reduced 
to 98.3 mmboe (1 January 2015: 109.1 mmboe));

 – active drilling campaign led to Boomerang discovery in 
Norway announced in September 2015; 

 – continued success in exploration licence rounds with awards 
of six new exploration licences, including two operatorship, 
under the 2015 Norwegian APA Licence Round; and

 – Faroe has ended 2015 with a strong balance sheet with year end 
cash of approximately £91 million (net cash position of £68 million). 

Key decisions and pay outcomes in 2015
 – Base salaries for the Executive Directors and all employees 
have been frozen (no change as at 1 January 2016).

 – For Norwegian employees, the Company operated a defined 
benefit scheme. This scheme, with the agreement of the 
relevant employees, was brought to a close in November 2015 
to avoid future potential pension deficits, and employees were 
transferred to a defined contribution scheme. To compensate 
for the closure of the defined benefit scheme the Company 
has expanded its defined contribution scheme, and made 
one-off payments to certain Norwegian employees, including 
Helge Hammer, to compensate for any shortfall arising from 
the transfer to a defined contribution scheme.
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 – From 2015, Helge Hammer’s salary was set in Sterling but 
paid in NOK. Half of his salary is paid using a fixed exchange 
rate set at the beginning of the year (GBP1:NOK 11.41 for 
2015) and the balance on a floating exchange rate that varies 
month to month. Previously his salary was set in NOK only. 

 – Annual bonuses are based on a scorecard of key performance 
indicators including corporate, operational (including HSE and 
growth in reserves and resources), financial and executive 
team performance measures. The scorecard outcome 
reflected the Company’s strong operating performance 
over the year and the Committee determined that an overall 
bonus payment of 50% of salary be awarded to the Executive 
Directors of which 50% (equal to 25% of salary) was deferred 
under the bonus deferral scheme. 

 – In addition, a further bonus payment equivalent to 8% of 
salary was paid, of which approximately 56% was deferred 
into the bonus deferral scheme, in relation to an underpayment 
made in the prior year as a result of an error in the calculation 
of the 2014 bonus scorecard. The 2014 annual bonus figures 
have, therefore, been restated accordingly.

 – No awards vested under the Company’s long-term 
incentive plans. 

 – Awards were granted in 2015 under the Faroe Petroleum 
Co-Investment Plan (CIP) and under the Faroe Petroleum 
Incentive Plan (FPIP). 

 – The Remuneration Committee reviewed the Company’s 
long-term incentive plans (see below for more detail).

Changes to the remuneration policy 
In 2015, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the current 
long-term incentive plans (CIP and FPIP). Our review found 
that although the performance measures remain applicable, 
the stretching performance targets are unrealistic in the current 
environment of significant downward pressure in oil prices. 
We also found that the high performance leverage and 
all-employee participation has resulted in significant possible 
share dilution of over 9% of share capital, restricting the 
Company’s ability to grant future equity-based awards. 
Therefore, we have revised these plans in the following way:

CIP
 – Participants can invest up to 100% of earned bonus 
(previously up to 100% of base salary).

 – The maximum match on each share invested has been 
reduced from 3:1 to 1:1.

 – Vesting continues to be dependent on the achievement of the 
Company’s TSR exceeding the FTSE AIM Oil and Gas Index and 
on the satisfaction of absolute TSR targets. However, 20% of 
the Matching Shares vest for absolute TSR of 8% p.a. increasing 
up to 100% vesting for absolute TSR of 16% p.a. (previously 30% 
vested at TSR of c.14% p.a. with full vesting at TSR of c.26% p.a.).

FPIP
 – Participation will be limited to Executive Directors and senior 
managers who report directly to them. 

 – The maximum face value of the annual award remains at 
250% of salary. However, there will no longer be a 1.5 times 
uplift for outstanding performance.

 – Vesting of future FPIP awards will be subject to achievement 
of two performance TSR conditions, both equally weighted: 
Faroe’s TSR outperformance vs. median of a bespoke group of 
international exploration and production companies and absolute 
TSR. The Committee has removed the reserves and resources 
targets used for previous FPIP awards on the basis that reinforcing 
these measures may not necessarily be consistent with the 
operational necessities in the current oil sector environment.

 – At threshold performance, 20% of the award vests 
(previously 25%).

RSP
Employees who will not participate in the revised FPIP will be 
granted an award under a new employee share plan known as 
the Restricted Share Plan (RSP). Awards of up to 50% of salary 
will vest dependent on continued employment, personal 
performance and absolute TSR performance over three years. 
Executive Directors will not be eligible to participate in this plan. 
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Bonus deferral 
From 2016 onwards, 20%–50% of the bonus will be deferred 
into shares for a minimum of one year (previously 20%–60% 
of the bonus deferred was deferred). Actual % of bonus 
deferred will remain dependent on the size of the bonus 
earned and will be calculated on a sliding scale. 

Dilution 
We are also proposing to increase the headline dilution limit in 
the revised FPIP and CIP plan rules to 15% of capital over ten 
years from the current 10%. However, equity grants each year 
will be made on the basis that the estimated “expected” vesting 
(i.e. taking into account the likelihood that vesting will be less than 
100% as a result of the performance conditions not being met 
in full) would not exceed 10%. The Committee’s intention is 
that actual dilution will exceed 10% only if performance has 
been strong (and therefore vesting is higher than that expected 
at grant) and no cash is available to purchase shares in the market. 
We will report on the level of actual and expected dilution in each 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to help shareholders gauge how 
this dilution approach is being executed. These revisions (along 
with other revisions linked to the 2015 pay decisions) have been 
reflected in the following remuneration policy. As the CIP in its 
current form expires this year, we will be requesting shareholder 
approval for a new plan at the 2016 AGM. We will also be 
requesting shareholders to approve amendments to the FPIP 
plan rules and approval of the new CIP and RSP plan rules. 

The changes in the remuneration policy and remuneration report 
will be put to shareholders for an advisory vote at the 2016 AGM.

Shareholder feedback
The Board is committed to maintaining an open and transparent 
dialogue with shareholders. The objective of this report is to 
communicate clearly how much the Executive Directors are 
earning and how this is strongly linked to performance. In the 
early part of 2016, we consulted shareholders on the proposed 
revisions to the CIP and FPIP as well as how to manage dilution 
going forward. Shareholders were broadly supportive of our CIP 
and FPIP proposals and increasing the dilution limit as proposed 
above. During the consultation period, shareholders suggested 
certain revisions to the CIP and FPIP, most of which have been 
incorporated into the final proposals above.

Tim Read 
Remuneration Committee Chairman
28 April 2016

 Directors’ Remuneration Committee report
Annual statement continued

44 Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

Governance



The Remuneration Committee has established the policy on the remuneration of the Executive Directors and the Chairman and the 
Board has established a policy on the remuneration of the other Non-Executive Directors. 

What is our remuneration policy? 
Executive Directors 
The policy on Directors’ remuneration is that the overall remuneration package should be sufficiently competitive to attract and retain 
individuals of a quality capable of achieving the Company’s objectives. The remuneration policy is designed such that individuals 
are remunerated on a basis that is appropriate to their position, experience and value to the Company. 

The main components of the remuneration policy and how they are linked to and support the Company’s business strategy are 
summarised below: 

Objective and link 
to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance assessment

Base salary

Core element of 
remuneration, set at a 
level which is sufficiently 
competitive to recruit and 
retain individuals of the 
appropriate calibre and 
experience.

Salaries are normally reviewed 
annually, and any changes are 
effective from 1 January each year.

When determining salaries for the 
Executives the Committee takes 
into consideration:

 – Company performance;
 – the performance of the individual 

Executive Director;
 – the individual Executive Director’s 

experience and responsibilities;
 – pay and conditions throughout 

the Company.

Salaries are benchmarked 
periodically against comparable 
roles at companies of a similar size, 
complexity and in the Exploration 
& Production sector.

When determining salary increases of the 
Executive Directors, the Committee takes 
into account the employment conditions 
and salary increases awarded to employees 
throughout the Company.

Any salary increases in future years will 
be determined by the Committee. 

There is no maximum salary opportunity. 

Salary increases will be determined 
in accordance with the rationale set 
out under Operation (see Column 2). 

Other benefits

Support individuals in 
carrying out their roles.

Reviewed periodically to ensure 
benefits remain market competitive.

Benefits typically comprise life 
assurance cover, private healthcare 
arrangements and permanent health 
insurance and in Norway cash 
allowances in lieu of company car.

Benefit values vary year on year depending 
on premiums and the maximum potential value 
is the cost of the provision of these benefits.

Not applicable.

Annual bonus

Incentivises the 
achievement of a range 
of short-term performance 
targets that are key to the 
success of the Company. 

Executive Directors participate in 
an annual performance related 
bonus scheme.

Bonus scheme awards are awarded 
annually at the year end.

Performance period is one financial 
year with pay-out determined by the 
Committee following the year end. 

Depending on the size of the bonus 
award in any given year, between 20% 
and 50% (calculated based on a sliding 
scale) will be deferred into shares for 
a minimum of one year.

Maximum bonus potential: 100% of salary.

At threshold performance 20% of 
the maximum bonus can be earned.

There is no contractual obligation 
to pay bonuses. 

A performance scorecard is used 
as a guide for the Committee, which 
reserves the right to override the 
formulaic outturn based on a broader 
assessment of overall Company 
performance.

Performance targets are based on 
a range of corporate, operational, 
financial and executive team 
performance measures.

The precise allocation between 
measures (as well as the weightings 
within these measures) will be 
determined by the Committee at 
the start of each year. 

 Directors’ remuneration policy
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 Directors’ remuneration policy 
continued

Objective and link 
to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance assessment

Long-term incentives

Incentivises the 
achievement of long-term 
financial performance 
and sustainable returns 
to shareholders in a way 
that aligns the interests 
of Executives and 
shareholders. 

Faroe Petroleum Co-Investment 
Plan (CIP): Under the CIP key 
employees can purchase shares in 
the Company (Investment Shares) 
using bonus deferral or other funds. 

Investment Shares will be matched 
(Matching Shares) by the Company 
provided participants still hold the 
shares and meet other certain 
performance criteria at the end 
of a three year period. 

Employees can invest up to 100% of earned 
bonus in any financial year to purchase 
Investment Shares. 

The maximum match is 1:1 (i.e. one share for 
every Investment Share) (on a grossed up basis). 

At threshold performance 20% of the 
maximum match will be released.

The vesting of Matching Shares will 
be subject to continued employment 
with the Company, satisfaction of the 
performance targets and any other 
terms or conditions determined at 
the grant stage.

Performance will be measured at 
the end of a three year performance 
period against absolute Total 
Shareholder Return (“TSR”) targets 
and a relative TSR underpin. 

Faroe Petroleum Incentive Plan 
(FPIP): Under the FPIP (first approved 
by shareholders in 2013), the 
Committee may award annual grants 
of Nil-Cost Options, Conditional 
Share Awards or Phantom Shares. 

On the grant of annual awards, the Committee 
will determine the maximum face value of the 
awards that can be granted to a participant 
in any calendar year. 

The maximum face value of the annual awards 
that can be granted is 250% of salary. 

At threshold performance 20% of an award 
will be released.

The vesting of awards will be subject 
to continued employment with 
the Company, satisfaction of the 
performance targets and any other 
terms or conditions determined at 
the grant stage.

Performance will be measured at the 
end of a three year performance period 
against conditions which will include 
absolute TSR, relative TSR and possibly 
other measures that the Remuneration 
Committee consider appropriate. 
TSR measures have been selected 
as a transparent assessment of the 
successful execution of the business 
strategy and which capture the return 
delivered to shareholders. 

Any awards granted to the Executive 
Directors and Senior Executives will be 
required to be held for an additional 
two year holding period after the 
three year performance period before 
they vest. 

The Committee may, at the time of 
vesting or at any time before, reduce 
the vesting level of awards in special 
circumstances and general malus 
principles will be applicable upon the 
discovery of deficient performance. 

Faroe Petroleum Share Incentive 
Plan (SIP): Employees can invest 
annually in shares of the Company 
and receive a match for every share 
purchased. 

This is an HMRC all employee 
approved plan. 

Employees can invest up to an annual 
maximum of £1,500. 

The maximum match will be 2:1 (i.e. two 
shares for every Investment Share). 

The vesting of Matching Shares will be 
subject to continued employment with 
the Company and any other terms 
or conditions determined at the grant 
stage at the end of a three year period.
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Objective and link 
to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance assessment

Pension

To provide competitive levels 
of retirement benefit.

In the UK the Company does not 
operate a pension scheme, but does, 
at the Directors’ option, contribute 
to the personal pension plans of each 
Executive Director, or pays cash in lieu 
of such contributions. 

In the UK where such contributions 
reach the maximum Annual Allowance 
or an Executive Director has 
accumulated an amount equivalent 
to the Lifetime Allowance, such excess 
contributions are paid as cash. 

In Norway, up until November 2015, 
the Company operated a defined 
benefit scheme. This scheme, with the 
agreement of the relevant employees, 
was brought to a close to avoid future 
potential pension deficits. 

From 1 November 2015, Norwegian 
employees, including Helge Hammer, 
participate solely in a defined 
contribution scheme. 

UK Executive Directors receive a contribution 
to a personal pension scheme or cash allowance 
in lieu of pension benefits up to 20% of salary.

In Norway the Company contributes to a pension 
plan on behalf of the Norwegian Executive 
Director as follows:

 – up to 25.1% of base salary up to approximately 
£83,000 (approximately NOK 1.1 million), 
which is paid into a defined contribution 
scheme;

 – 10% of base salary above approximately 
£83,000 (approximately NOK 1.1 million) which 
is used on personal pension schemes; and;

 – a further 10% of base salary above 
approximately £118,000 (approximately 
NOK 1.5 million) which is also used on 
personal pension schemes. 

Defined contributions above the limit of 
NOK 1.1 million (as set for 2015) are a taxable 
benefit to the employee, and the Company 
meets the associated taxation on behalf of 
the Executive Director. 

Not applicable.

Shareholding requirement

To align Executives’ interests 
with those of shareholders 
through build-up and 
retention of a personal 
shareholding.

Executives have five years to 
accumulate the required shareholding.

Shares held that are no longer subject 
to performance conditions will count 
towards the requirement.

Executives are required to hold shares with 
a value equivalent to one times base salary. 

Not applicable.

Non-Executive Directors
The table below sets out the key elements of the policy for Non-Executive Directors:

Objective and link 
to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance assessment

Fees

Core element of 
remuneration, set at a level 
sufficient to attract individuals 
with appropriate knowledge 
and experience.

Fee levels reflect market conditions and 
are sufficient to attract individuals with 
appropriate knowledge and experience.

NEDs are paid a base fee and additional 
fees for chairmanship of committees. 
Fees may also be paid for additional 
time spent on the Company’s business 
outside of the normal duties. 

Fees are reviewed annually with changes 
effective from 1 January each year. 

Whilst there is no maximum individual fee level, 
fees are set at a level which is considered 
appropriate to attract and retain the calibre 
of individual required by the Company. However, 
the Company avoids paying more than necessary 
for this purpose. 

Fee increases may be made in line with market 
movements and to take into account the time 
commitment and duties involved. 

Non-Executive Directors do not participate in 
any variable remuneration elements or any other 
benefits arrangements. 

Fees will be determined in 
accordance with the rationale set 
out under Operation. 
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 Directors’ remuneration policy 
continued

New appointments
The same principles as described above will be applied in setting the remuneration of a new Non-Executive Director. 
Remuneration will comprise fees only, to be paid at the prevailing rates of the Company’s existing Non-Executive Directors. 

Remuneration policy for other employees
The remuneration policy for Executive Directors is designed to be aligned with the Company’s objectives. The remuneration 
arrangements for Executive Directors are cascaded as appropriate to other employees to ensure that their arrangements are also 
aligned with the Company’s objectives:

 – The Company’s approach to salary reviews is consistent across the Company, with consideration given to level of responsibility, 
experience, individual performance, salary levels in comparable companies and the Company’s ability to pay. 

 – All employees participate in the same annual bonus scheme as the Executive Directors with opportunities varying by 
organisational level. All employees are also eligible to participate in the CIP and on the same basis as the Executive Directors. 

 – Direct reports to the Executive Directors are eligible to participate in FPIP with vesting dependent on the same performance 
conditions as the Executive Directors, although award sizes vary by organisational level. Other employees are eligible to participate 
in the new RSP with vesting after three years dependent on continued employment, personal performance and absolute TSR 
performance conditions.

 – All employees are eligible to participate in the SIP on the same terms as the Executive Directors.

 – Pension and benefits arrangements vary according to location and so different arrangements are in place for different populations 
in the Company. 

Service contracts and exit payment policy
The service and employment contracts of the Executive Directors are not of a fixed duration and therefore have no unexpired 
terms, but continuation in office as a Director is subject to re-election by shareholders as required under the Company’s Articles 
of Association and in accordance with the provisions of the Code. The Company’s policy is for Executive Directors to have service 
and employment contracts with provision for termination of no longer than 12 months’ notice. 

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts. Letters of Appointment provide for termination of the appointment 
with three months’ notice by either party. 

Director Date of latest contract/ letter of appointment Notice period by Company or Director

Executive Directors

Graham Stewart 9 July 2012 12 months

Helge Hammer 8 March 2004 12 months

Jonathan Cooper 28 May 2013 12 months

Non-Executive Directors

John Bentley 1 September 2013 3 months

Timothy Read 1 March 2015 3 months

Roger Witts 1 May 2015 3 months

Jorunn Saetre 13 August 2014 3 months

When determining any loss of office payment for a departing individual the Committee will always seek to minimise cost to the 
Company whilst seeking to reflect the circumstances in place at the time. The Committee retains overriding discretion to make 
loss of office payments appropriate to the circumstances and applying the overriding principle that there should be no element 
of reward for failure.
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Under the Executive Directors’ service contracts, if notice is served by either party, the Executive Directors can continue to receive 
their full salary and other contractual benefits for the duration of their notice period during which time the Company may require 
them to continue to fulfil their normal duties or may assign a period of garden leave. All service contracts and letters of appointment 
are available for viewing at the Faroe registered office.

Where an Executive Director’s employment is terminated after the end of a performance year but before an annual bonus payment 
is made, the Executive will remain eligible for an annual bonus award for that performance year subject to an assessment based 
on performance achieved over the period. No award will be made in the event of gross misconduct. Where an Executive Director’s 
employment is terminated during a performance year, a pro-rata annual bonus for the period worked in that performance year 
may be payable subject to an assessment based on performance achieved over the period.

Under the Rules of the Company’s long-term incentive arrangements (CIP, Share Option Scheme and FPIP) all unvested awards will 
lapse on cessation of employment unless the Committee determines an Executive is deemed to be a good leaver. In determining 
whether an Executive Director should be treated as a good leaver and the extent to which awards may vest, the Committee will 
take into account the circumstances of the individual’s departure. 

At any time within three months of any Change of Control of the Company, an Executive Director having completed a minimum 
of 12 months’ service may give notice to the Company to terminate his employment with three months’ notice and be entitled 
to receive a sum equivalent to 12 months’ salary and benefits (including pension) and 65% of the total bonus paid (if any) in 
the previous calendar year. 

Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Company in developing policy
In setting the remuneration policy for Directors, the pay and conditions of other Faroe employees are taken into account. 
The Committee is provided with data on the remuneration structure for senior members of staff below the Executive Director 
level and uses this information to ensure consistency of approach throughout the Company. The Company has not formally 
consulted with employees when drawing up the Directors’ remuneration policy. However, the Company considers any informal 
feedback received from employees.

Consideration of shareholder views
The Committee takes the views of the shareholders very seriously and these views have been influential in shaping remuneration 
policy and practice. Shareholder views are considered when evaluating and setting ongoing remuneration strategy and the 
Committee commits to consulting with shareholders prior to any significant changes to its remuneration policy. The Committee 
consulted with shareholders in early 2016 on revisions to the FPIP and CIP plans and on increasing the dilution limit from 10% 
to 15% over ten years. Their feedback was considered and appropriate revisions were made to the proposals.
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Annual report on remuneration

This section of the remuneration report contains details of how the Company’s remuneration policy was implemented during 
the financial year ending on 31 December 2015. 

Single total figure of remuneration 
Executive Directors
The remuneration of Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shown below.

Executive Director (£’000) Salary Taxable benefits Annual bonus2
Long-term 
incentives SIP Pension Total

Graham Stewart
2015 376 7 188 – – 75 646

2014 365 5 295 – 5 73 743

Helge Hammer1
2015 290 11 128 – 5 131 565

2014 257 13 199 – 5 72 546

Jonathan Cooper
2015 254 3 127 – – 40 424

2014 247 4 200 – – 37 488

Notes
1  For 2015 Mr Hammer’s salary was set in Sterling but paid in NOK. Half of his salary is paid using a fixed exchange rate set at the beginning of the year (GBP1:NOK 11.41 for 2015) 

and the balance on a floating exchange rate that varies month to month.
2  50% of the 2015 bonus payment was deferred into Faroe shares. The 2014 annual bonus has been restated to correct an underpayment equivalent to 8% of salary as a result 

of the miscalculation of the 2014 scorecard outcome. 

Non-Executive Directors 
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shown below. 

Non-Executive Director (£’000) Basic fees Additional fees Other Total fees

John Bentley1
2015 118 – – 118

2014 112 6 – 118

Timothy Read2
2015 47 19 – 66

2014 47 19 – 66

Roger Witts3
2015 47 19 15 81

2014 48 8 – 56

Jorunn Saetre4
2015 47 – – 47

2014 16 – – 16

Notes
1 Additional fees paid for Chairmanship of the Nominations Committee.
2 Additional fees paid for Senior Non-Executive Directorship Chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee. 
3  Additional fees paid for Chairmanship of the Audit Committee. Other fees reflect additional fees paid for additional time spent on activities which are outside his ordinary duties 

as a Director.
4 Commenced as a Director on 1 September 2014.
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Additional details in respect of single total figure table
Taxable benefits
Benefits typically comprise life assurance cover, private healthcare arrangements and permanent health insurance and in Norway 
a cash allowance in lieu of company car. The Company provided Executive Directors with the following benefits during the year:

Executive Director (£’000) Company car or cash allowance 
Life assurance cover, private healthcare 

arrangements and permanent health insurance

Graham Stewart
2015 – 7

2014 – 5

Helge Hammer
2015 10 1

2014 12 1

Jonathan Cooper
2015 – 3

2014 – 4

Annual bonus scheme
For the Executive Directors, the maximum annual bonus for 2015 was 100% of salary. At the end of the financial year, performance 
was carefully reviewed by the Committee against a performance scorecard comprising corporate, operational (including HSE and 
growth in reserves and resources), financial and executive team performance measures. Based on this scorecard outcome and a 
review of the Company’s underlying performance, as described at the commencement of this report, the Committee determined an 
overall bonus payment of 50% of salary. A proportion equal to 50% of bonuses paid for 2015 (equal to 25% of salary) was deferred 
into the Company’s shares for a minimum of one year. In addition, a further bonus payment equivalent to 8% of 2014 salary was 
paid, of which approximately 56% was deferred into the bonus deferral scheme, in relation to an underpayment made as a result 
of miscalculation in the 2014 scorecard outcome in the prior year. 

Executive Director (£’000) Bonus payment £’000 Bonus payment % of base salary

Graham Stewart
20151 188 50%

20142 295 81%

Helge Hammer
20151 128 50%

20142 199 81%

Jonathan Cooper
20151 127 50%

20142 200 81%

Notes
1  50% of the bonuses paid to Executive Directors for 2015 (equal to 25% of salary) have been deferred into shares and will qualify as Investment Shares under the CIP and be subject 

to a three year holding period.
2 The 2014 bonuses have been restated to correct an underpayment equivalent to 8% of salary.

Long-term incentives
Awards granted under the Co-Investment Plan on 28 May 2012 did not meet the performance conditions (i.e. the satisfaction 
of the relative TSR underpin or the satisfaction of the absolute TSR targets) at the end of the three year performance period. 
These awards lapsed.

Awards granted under the Share Option Scheme on 13 April 2011, and subsequently converted into FPIP awards for the Executive 
Directors and others that participated in the option exchange (see policy table), did not meet the performance conditions (i.e. the 
satisfaction of the absolute TSR targets) at the end of the further 12 month period after the primary three year performance 
period and have lapsed. 

The second tranche of awards granted under the FPIP, derived from the exchange of vested awards granted under the Share 
Option Scheme, were released on 24 July 2015.
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Annual report on remuneration 
continued

Total pension entitlements 
The Company does not operate a pension scheme for the UK based Executive Directors, but does, at the Directors’ option, 
contribute to the personal pension plans of each Executive Director, or pays cash in lieu of such contributions. UK Executive 
Directors receive a contribution to a personal pension scheme or cash allowance in lieu of pension benefits up to 20% of salary.

On 1 November 2015 the Company changed the pension arrangements in Norway where up until that date it had been operating 
both a defined benefits scheme up to a certain limit and above that a defined contribution scheme. The defined contribution 
scheme was enhanced, as described below, to replace the defined benefits scheme. 

The Norwegian defined benefit scheme, which was in place until 31 October 2015, was designed to provide a pension, from 67 years 
of age, equivalent to 66% of base salary up to a limit of approximately £83,000 (approximately NOK 1.1 million, being a limit adjusted 
annually by the Norwegian Government). All staff employed up until 2015, including Helge Hammer, participated in this scheme.

From 1 November 2015, following the closure of the defined benefit scheme, the Company made one off compensation payments 
to certain Norwegian employees, including Helge Hammer, to address any shortfall arising from the transfer to the expanded 
defined contribution scheme where the Company contributes to a pension scheme on behalf of the employee up to 25.1% of 
base salary limit up to approximately £83,000 (approximately NOK 1.1 million).

In addition to this defined contribution scheme, the Company made throughout the period the following contributions to the 
employees which they paid into their personal pension plans: 

 – 10% of base salary above approximately £83,000 (approximately NOK 1.1 million); and 

 – for Helge Hammer and certain other senior managers, the Company contributes a further 10% of base salary above 
approximately £118,000 (approximately NOK 1.5 million). 

Defined contributions above the limit of NOK 1.1 million (as set for 2015) are a taxable benefit to the employee and the Company 
meets the associated taxation on behalf of Helge Hammer and the relevant employees.

Scheme interests awarded in 2015 financial year
The tables below set out the details of the long-term incentive awards granted in the 2015 financial year where vesting 
will be determined according to the achievement of performance conditions that will be tested in future reporting periods. 
No Non-Executive Directors received scheme interests during the financial year.

Co-Investment Plan
On 20 January 2015 the Committee granted the following Matching Awards following the purchase of Investment Shares 
by the Executive Directors: 

Executive Director

Type of  
interest 
awarded

Date of 
award

Number of 
Investment 

Shares 
purchased

Face value of 
Matching Share 

award made1

Number of 
Matching 

Shares 
granted

Percentage  
of award 
receivable  

for threshold 
performance

End of 
performance 

period
Exercise price 

£

Graham Stewart Conditional share 20/01/15 135,390 £555,745 811,306 30% 20/01/18 0.00

Helge Hammer Conditional share 20/01/15 91,464 £397,599 580,436 30% 20/01/18 0.00

Jonathan Cooper Conditional share 20/01/15 71,538 £300,070 438,059 30% 20/01/18 0.00

Note
1 Calculated as number of Matching Shares multiplied by the closing share price preceding the date of grant of £0.68. 
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Under the CIP, these Matching Share awards will vest dependent upon the following performance criteria: (i) the satisfaction of a 
TSR underpin whereby no Matching Share awards will be released unless the TSR performance of the Company exceeds the return 
of the FTSE AIM Oil and Gas Index over the three year performance period; (ii) the satisfaction of absolute TSR targets over a three 
year performance period from the date of grant whereby 30% of the Matching Shares will be released for share price growth 
of 50% over the performance period and 100% will be released for share price growth of 100% over the performance period.

Faroe Petroleum Incentive Plan
On 15 June 2015 the Committee granted the following awards under the FPIP:

Executive Director

Type of 
interest 
awarded

Basis of 
award

Face value of 
award made1

£’000
Number  

of awards

Percentage  
of award 
receivable  

for threshold 
performance

End of 
performance 

period2
Exercise price

£
Performance 

conditions

Graham Stewart Nil-Cost Option 250% of salary 940 1,146,341 25% 15/06/18 0.00

See table below.Helge Hammer Nil-Cost Option 200% of salary 560  682,927 25% 15/06/18 0.00

Jonathan Cooper Nil-Cost Option 200% of salary 508  619,268 25% 15/06/18 0.00

Notes
1 Calculated as number of awards granted multiplied by the closing share price preceding the date of grant of £0.82.
2  Any awards that vest at the end of the performance period for Executive Directors will be required to be held for an additional two year holding period after the three year performance 

period before they vest. 

Performance for the Executive Directors and Senior Executives will be measured against three equally weighted performance 
conditions, as set out in the following table:

Performance level

Vesting level  
(% of maximum 

opportunity at grant)1
Relative TSR2

(1/3rd weighting)
Absolute TSR

(1/3rd weighting)

Reserves and resources3

(1/3 weighting)

Reserve Replacement 
(proven and probable) 

Resources Growth 
(contingent unrisked) 

Threshold 25% 50th percentile 10% growth p.a. 100% 70%

Good 55% 60th percentile 15% growth p.a. 105% 85%

Strong 100% 75th percentile 20% growth p.a. 130% 115%

Outstanding 150% 90th percentile 25% growth p.a. 150% 200%

Notes
1 Vesting will be calculated on a straight line basis between each vesting level.
2 Performance relative to a bespoke comparator group of international exploration & production companies, both onshore and offshore, with a range of market capitalisations.
3  Reserve replacement and resources growth, on a per share basis, will be determined by reference to the reserves and contingent risked resources as assessed by an independent engineer 

on 1 January 2015 and at the end of the performance period. These two figures will be weighted equally.
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Annual report on remuneration 
continued

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests
Directors’ share interests at 31 December 2015 are set out below:

CIP Share Option Scheme FPIP LTIP SIP

Director

Number of 
beneficially 

owned 
shares1

Total 
number of 
Investment 

Shares

Total 
number of 
Matching 

Shares 
subject to 
conditions

Interests 
subject to 
conditions

Vested but 
unexercised

Exercised 
during 

the year

Interests 
subject to 
conditions2 

Vested and 
unexercised

Vested but 
unexercised

Total 
number of 
Partnership 

Shares

Total 
number of 
Matching 

Shares 
subject to 
conditions

Total interests 
held at 

31 Dec 2015

Executive

G. Stewart 643,012 193,679 1,211,321 – – – 3,238,401 573,157 – 5,177 10,354 5,875,101

H. Hammer 288,593 133,492 878,652 – – – 1,759,960 182,729 – 4,776 9,552 3,257,754

J. Cooper 8,165 87,616  571,971 – – – 1,331,727 – – 4,632 9,264 2,013,375

Non–Executive

J. Bentley 100,842 – – – – – – – – – 100,842

T. Read 110,000 – – – – – – – – – 110,000

R. Witts 83,331 – – – – – 43,168 – – – 126,499

J. Saetre – – – – – – – – – – –

Notes
1 Beneficial interests include shares held directly or indirectly by connected persons.
2 Including those of Nil-Cost Option interests granted under the FPIP in exchange for unvested and vested Share Option Scheme awards.

Dilution
The Company funds FPIP and CIP awards using a combination of cash and newly-issued shares. The maximum dilution limit available 
to fund such awards was 10% of share capital under the FPIP and CIP rules, and from 2016 will be, subject to shareholder approval 
at the 2016 AGM, raised to 15%. As of 31 December 2015, the maximum dilution which would result if all relevant outstanding 
FPIP/CIP awards were to vest would be 9.6%. Taking into account performance-to-date under the outstanding FPIP/CIP cycles, 
the Company estimates the ‘expected’ dilution to be 5.1%.

54 Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

Governance



Performance graphs and Chief Executive Officer Remuneration 
The chart below shows the Company’s performance compared with the performance of the FTSE AIM All Share Index,  
FTSE All Share Oil & Gas Producers Index and the FTSE AIM SS Oil & Gas Index.

Historical TSR performance
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The chart below shows the Company’s performance in respect of growth in Proven and Probable (2P) Reserves,  
as prepared by Senergy1, along with 2P Reserves (boe) per issued share, in the last eight years. 
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1  Since 2012 the Company has reported its internal estimate of Proven plus Probable (2P) reserves which are made according to the Petroleum Resource Management System guidelines 
endorsed by the Society of Petroleum Engineers. Whilst these internal estimates are broadly in line with the estimates generated by Senergy, as the Group’s appointed independent 
engineer, the Remuneration Committee uses Senergy’s estimates to assess performance to ensure independence.
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Annual report on remuneration 
continued

The table below shows the percentage change in the Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration package over the past seven years: 

Year Name
Single figure of total 
remuneration (£’000)

Bonus pay-out (as % 
maximum opportunity)

Long-term incentive vesting 
rates (as % maximum 

opportunity)

2015

Graham Stewart

646 50% –

2014 743 81% –

2013 553 35% –

2012 567 30% –

2011 677 92% –

2010 629 100% –

2009 496 64% –

Percentage change of Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
The table below compares the percentage increase in the Chief Executive Officer’s pay (including salary and fees, taxable benefits and 
annual bonus) with the wider employee population. The Company considers full-time employees to be an appropriate comparator group. 

Year on year change (%) Chief Executive Officer Average employee pay 

Base salary 3% 4%

Taxable benefits 40% 2%

Bonus (36%) (27%)

Implementation of remuneration policy in 2016 
Base salary 
Following a review of Executive Directors’ salary levels, the Committee determined that no increase was appropriate for the year 
commencing 1 January 2016. The salaries for 2016 are as follows:

Executive Director
Salary
£’000

Graham Stewart 376

Helge Hammer1 280

Jonathan Cooper 254

Note
1  From 2015 Mr Hammer’s salary was set in Sterling but paid in NOK. Half of his salary is paid using a fixed exchange rate set at the beginning of the year (GBP1:NOK 11.41 for 2015) 

and the balance on a floating exchange rate that varies month to month.

Pension and benefits
Benefits and pensions offered in 2016 will be in line with remuneration policy:

 – UK Executive Directors (Graham Stewart and Jonathan Cooper) will continue to receive a contribution to a personal pension 
scheme or cash allowance in lieu of pension benefits up to 20% of salary. The Company will continue to contribute to the 
Norwegian defined contribution scheme of 10% of base salary above £83,000 and a further 10% of salary above £118,000.

 – Benefits will comprise life assurance cover, private healthcare arrangements, and permanent health insurance and in Norway 
cash allowances in lieu of a company car. Values will be of a similar level offered in 2015.

Annual bonus
The maximum annual bonus opportunity will remain at 100% for Executive Directors in 2016. The bonus will be based on a 
performance scorecard which consists of corporate, operational, financial and team objectives. Up to 50% of the earned bonus 
will be deferred into shares for a minimum of one year. 
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Long-term incentives in 2016 
CIP
Executive Directors invested shares in the CIP in January 2016 based on last year’s approved Remuneration Policy (i.e. could invest 
up to 100% of salary with a maximum match of 3:1 dependent on absolute TSR growth and a relative TSR underpin). The shares 
invested are as follows:

Executive Director Shares invested/purchased Maximum Matching Shares

Graham Stewart 58,516 697,329

Helge Hammer 38,569 458,756

Jonathan Cooper 39,522 470,977

FPIP
It is anticipated that Graham Stewart will receive an FPIP award of 250% of his salary and Helge Hammer and Jonathan Cooper will 
receive an FPIP award of 200% of salary. 

The performance conditions attached to the vesting of these awards are based on relative and absolute TSR as follows:

Performance level
Vesting level (% of maximum 

opportunity at grant)1
TSR outperformance2

(50% weighting)
Absolute TSR

(50% weighting)

Threshold 20% Median TSR 8% growth p.a.

Stretch 100% Median TSR + 15% p.a. 16% growth p.a.

Notes
1 Vesting will be calculated on a straight line basis between each vesting level.
2 Performance relative to a bespoke comparator group of international exploration & production companies.

Non-Executive Director fees
Following a review of the fees the Board determined that the fees for Non-Executive Directors remain at the 1 January 2016 level. 

NED fee component
1 January 2015

£’000
1 January 2016

£’000 % change

Chairman fee 118 118 0.00%

Average basic fee 47 47 0.00%

Additional fee for Senior Independent Director role 11 11 0.00%

Additional fee for Chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee 8 8 0.00%

Additional fee for Chairmanship of the Audit Committee 19 19 0.00%

Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any variable remuneration elements or any other benefits arrangements.

Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to Directors’ remuneration 
Members of the Committee

Director Number of meetings held Number of meetings attended

John Bentley 5 5

Timothy Read1 5 5

Roger Witts 5 4

Jorunn Saetre 5 4

Note
1 Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The members of the Committee have no personal financial interest other than as shareholders in matters to be decided, no 
potential conflicts of interest arising from cross Directorships and no day-to-day involvement in running the business. Roger Witts 
and Jorunn Saetre were unable to attend one of the Remuneration Committee meetings due to prior commitments.

Role of the Committee and activities
The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the remuneration policy for Executive Directors and the senior 
management and for setting the remuneration packages for each Executive Director. The Committee also has oversight of the 
remuneration policy and packages for other senior members of staff. The written Terms of Reference of the Committee are 
available on the Company’s website and from the Company on request. The role of the Committee includes:

 – determining and agreeing with the Board the remuneration policy for all the Executive Directors;

 – ensuring that remuneration packages are competitive and determining individual remuneration packages for each Director;

 – determining whether the Directors should be eligible for annual bonuses and benefits under long-term incentive schemes;

 – considering any new long-term incentive schemes and associated performance criteria;

 – determining payouts or grants under all incentive schemes;

 – considering the pension contributions to the Directors and associated costs to the Company of basic salary increases and other 
changes in remuneration, especially for Directors close to retirement;

 – determining what compensation commitments exist under the Directors’ service contracts; and

 – determining notice or contract periods under the Directors’ service contracts.

Advisers to the Committee
During the year the Committee sought independent advice from PwC and Kepler, a brand of Mercer, both of which are members 
of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, voluntarily operate under the code of conduct in relation to executive 
remuneration consulting in the UK. 

The Committee also sought the views of Graham Stewart during the year and Julian Riddick (Company Secretary). The Chief 
Executive and Company Secretary are given notice of all meetings and, at the request of the Chairman of the Committee, attend 
the meetings. In normal circumstances, the Chief Executive and the Company Secretary will be consulted on general policy matters 
and matters concerning the other Executives and employees. Neither the Chief Executive Officer nor the Company Secretary 
participates in discussions in relation to their own remuneration arrangements.

Statement of voting at general meeting
The table below shows the advisory vote on the 2014 Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2015 AGM:

Resolution 2 Votes for Votes against Votes withheld

Number of 
votes %

Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
votes %

Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
votes

Number of 
shareholders

2014 Directors’ 
Remuneration Report 149,527,796 98.6 130 982,382 0.6% 18 0.8 5

Annual report on remuneration 
continued
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Audit Committee report

Audit Committee

Name Meetings attended
Roger Witts (Chairman) 4/4
John Bentley 3/4
Jorunn Saetre 4/4

Summary of the role of the Audit 
Committee
The Audit Committee acknowledges and embraces its role 
of protecting the interests of shareholders in relation to 
the published financial information by the Company and 
the effectiveness of the audit thereof. The Audit Committee 
also plays a key role in ensuring that the report and accounts 
are fair, balanced and understandable and contain sufficient 
information on the Company’s performance, business model 
and strategy.

The Audit Committee is governed by Terms of Reference 
which are available on the Company’s website. These terms 
are agreed by the Board and subject to annual review, the 
last being in December 2015. 

Composition of the Audit Committee 
and meetings
The Audit Committee comprises Roger Witts (committee 
chairman), Tim Read, Jorunn Saetre and John Bentley and 
their summary biographies can be found on pages 34 and 35. 
Roger Witts and Tim Read are deemed to be members with 
recent and relevant financial experience. 

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year (four full 
committee meetings and two sub-committee meetings in 
2015) and meetings are attended by the Chief Executive and 
the Chief Financial Officer by invitation. At least once a year 
the Committee meets in private session with the external 
auditors. A record of Directors’ attendance at meetings of 
the Audit Committee held during 2015 is given above.

Significant issues related 
to the financial statements
The significant issues that were considered by the Audit 
Committee in 2015 in relation to the financial statements 
and how these were addressed were as follows:

Going concern and working capital: the Group operates 
in an uncertain environment, exacerbated by the continuing 
period of low commodity prices, and maintaining sufficient 
cash headroom for the business is essential. The Group has a 
strict budgetary discipline and advanced cash flow forecasting 
tools which enable management to closely monitor the Group’s 
working capital forecasts. The working capital forecasts 
including sensitivity analyses are examined on an ongoing basis 
by the Audit Committee, and always when contemplating 
acquisitions and disposals, to enable the Board of Directors 
to report that the Group remains a going concern. 

Oil and gas assets: oil and gas assets are split between 
exploration and evaluation assets (E&E) and development and 
production assets (D&P). Once active exploration is completed 
on an E&E asset it is assessed for impairment. If commercial 
reserves are not discovered, the E&E asset is written off to the 
Income Statement. The Audit Committee reviews management’s 
rationale for writing off E&E assets at least twice a year ahead 
of the interim review and year end audit. For D&P assets, an 
impairment review is carried out on an asset-by-asset basis 
and involves comparing the carrying value with its economic 
value. The Audit Committee reviews the assumptions used 
by management to ascertain the economic values in order to 
ensure that these are reasonable. The key assumptions include 
commodity prices, discount rate and inflation rate. Due to the 
continuing low oil price environment, the Committee has taken 
particular interest in the impairment review in 2015 and notes 
the above-normal impairment charges on both E&E and D&P 
assets. The Audit Committee is satisfied with management’s 
assumptions, particularly in relation to commodity prices. The 
Audit Committee takes cognisance of the views and experience 
of the Group technical staff and external consultants but accepts 
that responsibility for such impairments lies with the management 
and, ultimately, the Board.
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Audit Committee report 
continued

Decommissioning provisions: a substantial portion of the 
Group’s liabilities consist of decommissioning provisions (for the 
removal of platforms, subsea facilities, pipelines and the plugging 
of wells). The Group provides for these long-term liabilities using 
estimates of operators of the fields, or, for assets operated by 
Faroe, third party experts. The Audit Committee recognises the 
inherent uncertainties of these estimates, particularly the timing 
of the decommissioning activities, for both the Company’s assets 
and the third party downstream facilities and infrastructure whose 
early abandonment could trigger the early decommissioning of 
the Company’s fields. Due to this uncertainty and the materiality 
of the provisions, the Committee ensures that they are adequately 
reviewed for existing assets, and in asset acquisition considerations, 
but there will remain considerable uncertainty on the timing of 
decommissioning of downstream facilities and infrastructure.

Interpretation and application of 
accounting standards
Faroe Petroleum prepares its accounts in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Accordingly, 
the Income Statement shows an unrealised gain of £4.6 million 
on open hedge contracts as at 31 December 2015. These 
hedges were part of the Group’s risk management programme 
and were designed to mitigate the impact of future oil and gas 
price movement. Although these hedges were not taken out 
for speculative purposes, IAS 39 requires them to be marked to 
market at 31 December 2015, suggesting, in our view, that they 
are speculative in nature, and giving rise to a notional profit. 
There is no way of forecasting what the ultimate outcome will 
be, and if oil and/or gas prices recover, the gains will diminish 
or disappear. We hope that this treatment will be reconsidered 
in the future to avoid the recognition of such gains or losses.

External audit 
Ernst & Young LLP were originally appointed as auditors 
to the Group in 2007 following a tender review. To ensure 
independence, Ernst & Young LLP rotate the audit partner 
and the third audit partner was appointed by rotation in 2013. 
The Group conducted a further audit tender in 2015 following 
which Ernst & Young retained their appointment as auditors. 

The effectiveness of the external audit process is largely 
dependent on appropriate audit risk identification at the 
commencement of the audit process. Ernst & Young LLP 
prepared a detailed audit plan, identifying key risks which 
in 2015 included asset impairment and provisioning for 
decommissioning liabilities. As detailed above, these risks 
were reviewed during the year and the Audit Committee 
has challenged both management’s assumptions and estimates 
and the tests undertaken by the auditors. We assess the 

effectiveness of the audit process in addressing these matters 
semi-annually. In addition, we also seek feedback from 
management on the effectiveness of the audit process.

For the 2015 financial year, management were satisfied that there 
had been appropriate focus and challenge on the primary areas of 
audit risk and assessed the quality of the audit process to be good. 
The Audit Committee concurred with the view of management. 

Following a review of Ernst & Young’s performance, the Audit 
Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that 
they be reappointed as auditors to the Group in a resolution 
to be put to shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. 

Private meetings are held with the external auditor semi-
annually to provide an opportunity for open dialogue and 
feedback from the Committee and the auditor without 
management being present. Matters typically discussed include 
the auditor’s assessment of business risks and management 
activity thereon, the transparency of interactions with 
management and confirmation that there has been no 
restriction in scope placed on them by management. Informal 
meetings are also held from time to time between the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and the external lead audit partner.

Non-audit services
The Audit Committee has established a policy for the supply 
of non-audit services by the external auditor to ensure that such 
services do not impair the auditor’s independence or objectivity. 
The policy identifies services that the auditor may provide, 
services that are excluded in normal circumstances, sets limits 
to expenditure for non-audit services and establishes a reporting 
and review process by the Audit Committee.

As far as categories of services which it is acceptable for an 
auditor to provide, the governing principles are: the auditor 
cannot audit its own work, the auditor cannot perform 
management functions and the auditor cannot act as an 
advocate for the Group. Based upon these principles, specific 
categories of services have been identified that the auditor 
can provide.

Risk management and internal controls
The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the 
system of internal controls which has been in place throughout 
2015. The system of internal controls is vital in managing the risks 
that face the Group and safeguarding shareholders’ interests. 
The Group’s internal controls are designed to manage rather than 
eliminate risk as an element of risk is inherent in the activities of 
an oil and gas company. The Board’s obligation is to be aware 
of the risks facing the Company, mitigate them where possible, 
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insure against them where appropriate and manage the residual 
risk in accordance with the stated objectives of the Group.

A robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, 
including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity, is undertaken by the Board 
of Directors and Audit Committee. The effectiveness of the 
Group’s system of internal control is also monitored on an 
ongoing basis by both the Audit Committee and the Board of 
Directors. At each meeting, the Audit Committee reviews those 
risks and associated controls which are predominantly financial 
whilst the Board of Directors reviews those risks that are 
predominantly operational or of a corporate nature. The process 
involves the review of the updated Risk Registers and discussion 
with key personnel as to the implementation of such control 
associated procedures. 

An annual review of all financial, operational and corporate 
risks, was undertaken in December 2015 by the Board of 
Directors which includes the members of the Audit Committee. 
This review involves the assessment of the Risk Registers and 
the Group’s written procedures. Following the annual review 
the internal controls in respect of the key risks that face the 
Group were considered to be appropriate.

The following describes the principal elements of the Group’s 
internal control system and processes employed to review 
the effectiveness of such system:

Strategic plan: The Board sets the strategic direction for the 
Group which is then implemented by the Executive Directors 
and senior management which make up the executive committee. 
Goals are set at the commencement of each year by the 
executive committee and monitored thereafter by the Board.

Management structure: A formal schedule of matters is 
reserved for consideration and approval by the Board including all 
major decisions of financial, technical or organisational importance. 
The Group’s internal control procedures require Board approval for 
all new projects and all major expenditure requires the approval 
of the Chief Executive. The executive committee meets regularly 
to discuss day-to-day operational matters.

Risk management: The Board is responsible for identifying 
the major business risks that face the Group and for determining 
appropriate risk mitigation in accordance with the Group’s risk 
management policy, which covers environmental, operational, 
financial and legal risks. Matrices setting out the principal risks 
faced by the Group, prepared by the Company Secretary and 
HSE Manager, are presented to the Board and Audit Committee 
for review at each quarterly meeting. 

Liquidity and budgetary risk: Each year the Board approves 
the Group’s business plan and budget and variance analysis is 
undertaken regularly throughout the year and reported to the 
Board, which approves any material variation to the budget. 
Short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts are produced 
and reported to Senior Management and the Board on a 
regular basis. The Group produces, and updates the rolling five 
year plan each year, which is also approved by the Board.

Internal audit
In 2015 the Company introduced an internal audit function 
which was carried out by a combination of Faroe staff and 
external consultants. Four internal audits were undertaken on 
joint operations accounting, cash forecasting, the budgeting 
process and payment authorities. Whilst there were no major 
findings, the audits did uncover a number of processes and 
documentation that required improvement and remedial action 
has been taken. In 2016, the internal audit function will focus 
on payroll and controls around the treasury function. 

Signed on behalf of the Audit Committee by:

Roger Witts 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
28 April 2016
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Our opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion:

 – Faroe Petroleum plc’s Group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give 
a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of the Group’s 
loss for the year then ended;

 – the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 

 – the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

 – the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and, as regards 
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

What we have audited
Faroe Petroleum plc’s financial statements comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 Balance sheet as at 31 December 2015

Consolidated income statement for the year then ended Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended Cash flow statement for the year then ended 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended Related notes 1 to 30 to the financial statements

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended

Related notes 1 to 30 to the financial statements

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Overview of our audit approach
Risks of material misstatement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 – The appropriateness of the carrying value of exploration and appraisal assets based on current operations and future planned 
activities is not supported.

 – The appropriateness of the carrying value of development and production assets based on current operations and future 
planned activities is not supported.

 – Oil and Gas reserves estimates are inaccurate, leading to incorrect accounting computations being applied.
 – The appropriateness of the decommissioning estimates, given the level of subjectivity and complexity involved in the 

computations, with a number of key cost assumptions feeding into those calculations is incorrect. 
 – Incorrect accounting for complex transactions. 
 – The timing of the recognition of revenue, based on contractual and lifting arrangements, is incorrect.

Audit scope 
 
 

 – We performed an audit of the complete financial information of two components (UK and Norway) and audit procedures 
on specific balances for a further component (Faroe Islands).

 – The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 97% of Loss before tax, 96% of Revenue 
and 92% of Total assets.

Materiality  – Overall Group materiality of £3.0 million which represents 0.8% of Total assets.

 Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Faroe Petroleum plc
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Our assessment of risk of material misstatement
We identified the risks of material misstatement described below as those that had the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit and the direction of the efforts of the audit team. In addressing these risks, we have 
performed the procedures below which were designed in the context of the financial statements as a whole and, consequently, we 
do not express any opinion on these individual areas.

Risk Our response to the risk
What we concluded  
to the Audit Committee

Impairment or de-recognition of exploration and appraisal assets

Refer to the Audit Committee Report (pages 59 
to 61); Accounting policies (Note 2); and Note 5 
and 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The potential impairment of exploration 
and appraisal (“E&A”) assets or the need to 
de-recognise those assets is a key area of audit 
focus due to the significant value attached 
to E&A assets in the balance sheet. 

Management are required to make a number 
of significant judgements in determining the 
recognition and the carrying value of these 
assets and in determining whether there are 
any indicators of impairment. The fall in oil 
prices will impact the current and future 
financial performance, as well as increase the 
risk of uncommercial exploration activities and 
the non-renewal of exploration licences.

The risk has increased in the current year owing to 
the continued downturn in the oil and gas industry.

In evaluating whether the carrying value of the exploration and appraisal assets 
was supported we:
 – obtained evidence to support management’s current and future planned 

activities on an asset by asset basis;
 – confirmed whether any firm committed activities were in existence, also 

taking into account any key licence decision points in order to satisfy ourselves 
over the future viability of each asset;

 – evaluated whether any indicators of impairment existed. 

We focused on this area as it involves complex and subjective judgements about 
the future results of the business. In evaluating whether any impairment was 
necessary to the remaining carrying value of the exploration and appraisal assets 
we corroborated the carrying value of the exploration asset portfolio of the Group 
to the valuations made within the Competent Persons Report, challenging the 
assumptions used by the specialist. These included forecast oil and gas price 
curves, discount rates applied, and the forecast plans for key assets.

We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area in two locations, 
which covered 100% of the risk amount.

We concluded that 
management’s 
judgements in relation to 
the future demonstrable 
activities planned on 
those E&A assets which 
remained in the Balance 
Sheet as at 31 December 
2015, and management’s 
judgements on E&A assets 
which were deemed to 
be sub-economic and 
consequently written 
off through the Income 
Statement were 
reasonable.

Impairment of development and producing assets

Refer to the Audit Committee Report (pages 59 
to 61); Accounting policies (Note 2); and Note 5 
and 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The potential impairment of development and 
production (“D&P”) assets is a key area of audit 
focus due to the significant value attached to 
D&P assets in the balance sheet. 

Management are required to make a number 
of significant judgements in determining the 
recognition and the carrying value of these 
assets and in determining whether there are 
any indicators of impairment. The fall in oil 
prices will impact the current and future 
financial performance, as well as increase the 
risk of uncommercial exploration activities and 
the non-renewal of exploration licences.

The risk has increased in the current year owing to 
the continued downturn in the oil and gas industry.

We focused on this area as it involves complex and subjective judgements about 
the future results of the business. In evaluating whether any impairment was 
necessary to the remaining carrying value of the D&P assets, our audit work 
involved obtaining evidence regarding its recoverable amount and how this 
compared to the amount at which the D&P assets were currently recorded. 
In assessing the carrying values of the D&P assets we:
 – evaluated whether any indicators of impairment existed;
 – evaluated the appropriateness of the discount rate and inflation rate applied;
 – reconciled the net book values within the impairment computations to those 

recorded within the SUN system at the year end;
 – corroborated the oil and gas reserves used in the impairment calculations 

to those determined by the in-house specialists;
 – tested the pricing assumptions used for oil and gas within the impairment 

calculations; 
 – corroborated the life of field activity via the cessation of production dates 

as estimated within the latest decommissioning cost estimates; and 
 – assessed the forecast cash flows in the net present value computations 

including oil revenues, gas revenues, opex costs, opex rates per bbl, and 
capex costs, ensuring that forecast plans for the assets were in line with 
our current understanding of the business. 

We also evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis on D&P impairment testing 
in order to assess the potential impact of a range of possible outcomes, as well 
as performing our own sensitivity analysis. Sensitivities were applied for oil and 
gas pricing assumptions, discount rates and inflation rates.

Additionally, we evaluated the financial statement disclosures for compliance 
with the requirements of accounting standards. 

We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area in two locations, 
which covered 100% of the financial statement balance.

We agreed with the 
adjustments booked 
by management at the 
year end in relation to 
impairment and concluded 
that, following these 
adjustments, the amounts 
booked for impairment 
and exploration write-offs 
were reasonable.

63Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

A
cco

unts



Risk Our response to the risk
What we concluded  
to the Audit Committee

Estimation of oil and gas reserves

Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 59 
to 61 ); Operations Review on page 18 and 
Accounting policies (Note 2).

This was considered to be a significant risk due 
to the subjective nature of reserves estimates 
and their impact on the financial statements 
through impairment and depreciation, depletion 
and amortisation (“DD&A”) calculations. 

Faroe undertakes an evaluation of its oil and 
gas reserves, using its own technical experts. 
An independent third party is also engaged 
to evaluate the Group’s oil and gas reserves. 
Any differences between the two data sets 
are investigated and explained.

This risk is unchanged from the prior year.

We gained an understanding of the Group’s internal process for reserves 
estimation and challenged management’s assumptions including commercial 
assumptions to ensure that they are based on supportable evidence. In doing 
so, we have:
 – compared the internal reserve estimation balances to those derived from 

an external third party reserves specialist challenging any variations, and 
reviewing the entitlements to the oil and gas reserves; 

 – performed an analysis of the reasonableness of key assumptions and agreed 
key assumptions to corroborative evidence where possible, such as oil and gas 
pricing, production flow rates and near-term operational plans for assets; and

 – confirmed the qualifications and expertise of the in-house reserves specialists 
and the third party specialists.

Additionally we evaluated the financial statement disclosures for compliance 
with the requirements of accounting standards. 
We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area in two locations, 
which covered 100% of the financial statement balance.

We concluded that 
management’s 
judgements in relation 
to the volume of reserves 
to be recognised and 
1P and 2P reserves were 
appropriate.

Decommissioning estimation

Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 59 
to 61); Accounting policies (Note 2); and Note 5 
and 20 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

This was considered to be a significant risk due 
to the subjective nature of decommissioning, 
owing to the number of key assumptions 
involved in its estimation.

It is a key area of audit focus due to 
the significant value attached to the 
decommissioning assets and provisions 
in the balance sheet.

This risk is unchanged from the prior year.

We focused on this area as it involves complex and subjective judgements about 
the future decommissioning plans of both Faroe and of the Operators of fields 
in which Faroe has a non-operating interest. Our audit procedures included:
 – obtaining an understanding of the third party operator gross cost estimates 

supplied to the Group; 
 – agreeing the ownership entitlements applied to the cost estimates by 

management to external data; 
 – evaluating the appropriateness of the discount and inflation rates applied;
 – evaluating the completeness of the estimates in light of any new drilling or 

developments undertaken; 
 – assessing the reliance which we could place on external experts employed to 

estimate the gross cost estimate for decommissioning Schooner and Ketch; and
 – assessing the suitability of the estimated lives of each field through to the 

estimated dates of decommissioning.

Additionally, we evaluated the financial statement disclosures for compliance with 
the requirements of accounting standards. 
We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area in two locations, 
which covered 100% of the risk amount.

We agreed with the 
adjustments booked 
by management at the 
year end in relation to 
decommissioning and 
concluded that following 
these adjustments 
the amounts booked 
in relation to 
decommissioning 
were reasonable.

Incorrect accounting for complex transactions 

Refer to the Accounting policies (Note 2); and Note  
13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Due to the unusual nature of acquisitions which are 
outside the normal course of the business, and can 
involve complex accounting consideration, complex 
contractual considerations and significant adjustments 
to consideration paid, owing to transactions made 
between effective dates and completion dates of 
transactions, we focus on one-off transactions as  
a key area of audit focus. 

No complex transactions were entered into during 
2014 therefore the inclusion of this risk is new in 2015.

We focused on this area as it involves the complicated application of International 
Financial Reporting Standards in relation to fair value accounting and on asset 
acquisition vs. business combination determination. Our audit procedures included:
 – determining the appropriate accounting to be applied;
 – corroborating the completion statements involved in the acquisitions to the 

Sale and Purchase agreement and to third party support;
 – evaluating the calculation of the fair values associated with investment balances;
 – corroborating the consolidation adjustments relating to pre-acquisition 

balances and post-acquisition balances; and
 – re-performing the allocation of fair values to acquired assets.

As part of the audit of the UK component the Primary Team performed audit 
procedures over the financial statement balance.

We agreed with the 
adjustments booked 
by management at the 
year end in relation to 
the Blane and Enoch 
acquisitions and concluded 
that following these 
adjustments the amounts 
booked in relation to 
the Blane and Enoch 
acquisitions were 
reasonable.

Revenue recognition

Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 59 
to 61); Accounting policies (Note 2); and Note 3 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As per ISA 240, there is a presumption to 
consider the risk of fraud in revenue recognition. 
As such we have focused on the recognition 
of revenue as a key area of audit focus. 

We have focused on the potential for mis-statement of revenue via the amounts 
calculated at the year end. Monthly sales patterns, production and liftings can be 
audited and corroborated to third party evidence with limited risk of mis-statement, 
owing to the low volume and high value nature of the transactions. For our cut-off 
revenue recognition risk we performed the following audit procedures:
 – re-performed the calculation of the underlift/overlift volumes and pricing at the year end;
 – performed transactional testing on all significant revenue streams (oil, gas and NGLs);
 – performed additional substantive testing on all significant revenue streams;
 – agreed volumes produced on a field by field basis to support; and
 – corroborated the prices applied to sales to the contracts in place per field.

We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area in two locations, which 
covered 96% of the financial statement balance.

We concluded that 
revenue recognised for the 
year ended 31 December 
2015 was materially 
correct on the basis of the 
procedures performed 
both at group and by 
component audit teams.
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No risks of material mis-statement identified in the prior year 
have been downgraded in the current year.

The scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our 
allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope 
for each entity within the Group. Taken together, this enables us 
to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the Group 
and effectiveness of Group-wide controls, changes in the business 
environment and other factors when assessing the level of work 
to be performed at each entity.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group 
financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate 
quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial 
statements, of the three reporting components of the Group, 
we selected two components covering entities within the United 
Kingdom and Norway, which represent the principal business 
units within the Group.

Of the two components selected, we performed an audit of the 
complete financial information of both components (“full scope 
components”) which were selected based on their size or risk 
characteristics. For the remaining components (“specific scope 
components”), we performed audit procedures on specific 
accounts within that component that we considered had the 
potential for the greatest impact on the significant accounts 
in the financial statements either because of the size of these 
accounts or their risk profile. 

The reporting components where we performed audit 
procedures accounted for 100% (2014: 100%) of the Group’s 
Loss before tax, 100% (2014: 100%) of the Group’s Revenue and 
100% (2014: 100%) of the Group’s Total assets. For the current 
year, the full scope components contributed 97% (2014: 99%) 
of the Group’s Loss before tax, 96% (2014: 100%) of the Group’s 
Revenue and 92% (2014: 100%) of the Group’s Total assets. 
The specific scope component contributed 3% (2014: 0%) of the 
Group’s Loss before tax, 4% (2014: 0%) of the Group’s Revenue 
and 8% (2014: 0%) of the Group’s Total assets. The audit scope 
of these components may not have included testing of all 
significant accounts of the component but will have contributed 
to the coverage of significant accounts tested for the Group. 

Changes from the prior year 
There have been no changes to scoping from the prior year.

Involvement with component teams 
In establishing our overall approach to the Group audit, we 
determined the type of work that needed to be undertaken at 
each of the components by us, as the primary audit engagement 
team, or by component auditors from other EY global network 
firms operating under our instruction. Of the two full scope 
components, audit procedures were performed on one of these 
directly by the primary audit team. For the other full scope 
component, where the work was performed by component 
auditors, we determined the appropriate level of involvement to 
enable us to determine that sufficient audit evidence had been 
obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group as a whole.

The Group audit team continued to follow a programme of 
planned visits that has been designed to ensure that the Senior 
Statutory Auditor visits the Norway component team annually. 
During the current year’s audit cycle, one planned visit was to 
be undertaken by the primary audit team to the component team 
in Norway. This visit would have involved discussing the audit 
approach with the component team and any issues arising from 
their work, meeting with local management as part of the audit 
close out meeting, and reviewing key audit working papers on 
risk areas. Unfortunately, owing to unforeseen circumstances 
the site visit had to be cancelled the day prior to arrival. The flight 
between Aberdeen and Stavanger was cancelled. Consequently 
attendance at the closing meeting was performed via Faroe’s 
video conferencing facilities; the discussion with the component 
team on accounting issues was performed via phone call. 
The primary team interacted regularly with the component team 
where appropriate during various stages of the audit, reviewed 
key working papers and were responsible for the scope and 
direction of the audit process. This, together with the additional 
procedures performed at Group level, gave us appropriate 
evidence for our opinion on the Group financial statements.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing 
the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements 
on the audit and in forming our audit opinion. 

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually 
or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. 
Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and 
extent of our audit procedures.
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We determined materiality for the Group to be £3.0 million 
(2014: £4.0 million), which is 0.8% of total assets (2014: 1.6% 
of equity). We believe that total assets provide us with a base 
for materiality which relates to the balances which shareholders 
are most concerned with for Faroe Petroleum plc. The reduction 
in the Group’s exploration assets and impaired asset values, 
reflecting the difficult operating conditions for oil and gas 
companies, is reflected in our lower materiality level. In the 
prior year our computation was based on equity. Whilst the 
two metrics do not contain fundamentally different values, both 
being balance sheet accounts, we believe that the concept of 
basing materiality on total assets is more easily understood by 
users of the accounts. 

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality 
which was based on equity and was set at £4.0 million based 
on 1.6% of equity. At the year end, as a result of the continued 
decline in the oil and gas market, the exploration write-offs and 
impairments resulted in the downward revision of materiality 
from £4.0 million to £3.0 million.

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or 
balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately 
low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected 
and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our 
assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our 
judgement was that performance materiality was 50% (2014: 
50%) of our planning materiality, namely £1.5 million (2014: 
£2.0 million). We have set performance materiality at this 
percentage due to Our objective in adopting this approach 
was to ensure that total detected and audit differences in 
all accounts did not exceed our planning materiality level.

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of 
obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement 
accounts is undertaken based on a percentage of total 
performance materiality. The performance materiality set for 
each component is based on the relative scale and risk of the 
component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the 
risk of misstatement at that component. In the current year, the 
range of performance materiality allocated to components was 
£0.85 million to £0.92 million (2014: £0.9 million to £1.7 million). 

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are 
considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to 
them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.15 million 
(2014: £0.25 million), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, 
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, 
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the 
quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light 
of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Group’s and the parent company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read 
all the financial and non-financial information in the Directors’ 
Report and Group Financial Statements to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect 
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 
set out on page 38, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the  
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
 – the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006;

 – the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;

 – the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 39 to 41 with respect to internal control and 
risk management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the 
financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
ISAs (UK 
and Ireland) 
reporting

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report is: 
 – materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 
 – apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group 

acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 
 – otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to report whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge 
acquired in the course of performing the audit and the Directors’ statement that they consider the Annual Report 
and accounts taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the entity’s performance, business model and strategy; and whether the Annual Report 
appropriately addresses those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee that we consider should 
have been disclosed.

We have no exceptions 
to report.

Companies 
Act 2006 
reporting

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
 – adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
 – the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 

are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
 – certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 – we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit;
 – a Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by the Company.

We have no exceptions 
to report.

Statement on the Directors’ assessment of the principal risks that would threaten 
the solvency or liquidity of the entity
ISAs (UK 
and Ireland) 
reporting

We are required to give a statement as to whether we have anything material to add or to draw attention 
to in relation to:
 – the Directors’ confirmation in the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal 

risks facing the entity, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity;

 – the disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed 
or mitigated;

 – the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties 
to the entity’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements; and

 – the Directors’ explanation in the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the entity, over 
what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to 
whether they have a reasonable expectation that the entity will be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention 
to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We draw attention to 
the omission of a viability 
statement from the 
Directors’ Report and 
Group Financial Statements. 
Management believe that 
a longer-term viability 
statement would have such 
a high level of qualification 
as to provide no meaningful 
information to the reader 
of the accounts. We do not 
believe that the omission 
of the viability statement 
creates a material omission 
from the Group Financial 
Statements taken as whole.

James Nisbet (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Aberdeen 
3 May 2016

Notes:
1  The maintenance and integrity of the Faroe Petroleum plc website is the 

responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not 
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept 
no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements since they were initially presented on the website.

2  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Note
2015

£’000
2014

£’000

Revenue 3 112,980 128,761
Cost of sales 4 (99,838) (102,815)
Asset impairment 5 (45,108) (38,468)
Gross loss (31,966) (12,522)

Other income 7 13,867 5,044
Net gain on disposal of exploration and evaluation assets 13 – 783
Exploration and evaluation expenses (89,537) (139,374)
Administrative expenses (3,718) (6,570)
Operating loss 7 (111,354) (152,639)

Finance revenue 9 909 650
Finance costs 9 (11,855) (13,807)
Loss on ordinary activities before tax (122,300) (165,796)

Tax credit 11a 69,382 110,815

Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent (52,918) (54,981)

Loss per share – basic (pence) 12 (19.7) (22.6)
Loss per share – diluted (pence) 12 (19.7) (22.6)

 Group income statement
 for the year ended 31 December 2015
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2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Loss for the year (52,918) (54,981)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on retranslation on foreign operations net of tax (1,503) 1,246
Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (54,421) (53,735)

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Loss for the year (36,748) (9,387)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (36,748) (9,387)

 Group statement of other  
comprehensive income
 for the year ended 31 December 2015

 Company statement of other  
comprehensive income
 for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Note
2015

£’000
2014

£’000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 73,521 128,316
Property, plant and equipment: development & production 13 110,594 138,351
Property, plant and equipment: other 13 503 827
Financial assets 14 12 12
Deferred tax asset 11e 32,398 29,964

217,028 297,470
Current assets
Inventories 16 5,922 4,342
Trade and other receivables 17 27,964 36,543
Current tax receivable 17 35,195 45,831
Financial assets 14 10,621 6,110
Cash and cash equivalents 18 91,515 92,571

171,217 185,397
Total assets 388,245 482,867
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (32,418) (34,314)
Current taxation (689) –

Financial liabilities 19 (55,776) (65,684)
(88,883) (99,998)

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 11d (19,888) (58,781)
Provisions 20 (87,118) (77,673)
Defined benefit pension plan deficit 23 – (954)

(107,006) (137,408)
Total liabilities (195,889) (237,406)
Net assets 192,356 245,461
Equity attributable to equity holders
Equity share capital 21 26,824 26,751
Share premium account 262,453 262,388
Cumulative translation reserve (4,055) (2,552)

Retained earnings (92,866) (41,126)
Total equity 192,356 245,461

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jonathan Cooper 
Chief Financial Officer

 Group balance sheet
at 31 December 2015
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Note
2015

£’000
2014

£’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 164 237

Financial assets 14 162,419 195,632
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 15 48,960 39,706

211,543 235,575
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 17 337 321
Cash and cash equivalents 18 37,576 48,628

37,913 48,949
Total assets 249,456 284,524

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (1,275) (1,179)

(1,275) (1,179)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 20 (526) (258)

(526) (258)
Total liabilities (1,801) (1,437)
Net assets 247,655 283,087

Equity attributable to equity holders
Equity share capital 21 26,824 26,751
Share premium account 262,453 262,388
Retained earnings (41,622) (6,052)
Total equity 247,655 283,087

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2016 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Jonathan Cooper 
Chief Financial Officer

 Company balance sheet
at 31 December 2015
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Note
2015

£’000
2014

£’000

Loss before tax (122,300) (165,796)
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 13 38,447 33,108
Exploration asset write-off 7 83,569 131,735
Unrealised hedging gains (4,580) (4,583)
Gain on disposal of asset – (783)
Asset impairment 5 45,108 38,468
Fair value of share based payment 1,916 2,429
Movement in trade and other receivables 2,768 19,387
Movement in inventories (1,580) 548
Movement in trade and other payables (1,896) (18,674)
Currency translation adjustments 1,587 4,292
Expense recognised in respect of equity-settled share based payments (67) (65)
Interest received (909) (650)
Interest and financing fees 10,268 9,515
Tax rebate 40,284 22,473
Net cash generated in operating activities 92,615 71,404

Investing activities
Purchases of intangible and tangible assets (84,585) (136,019)
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 1,300 5,700
Interest received 9 909 650
Net cash used in investing activities (82,376) (129,669)

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Group 138 65,004
Issue costs – (3,502)
Net (repayments)/proceeds from borrowings (9,908) 44,691
Interest and financing fees paid (5,322) (4,663)
Net cash (outflow)/ inflow from financing activities (15,092) 101,530
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,853) 43,265

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 92,571 40,591
Effect of foreign exchange rate differences 3,797 8,715
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 91,515 92,571

 Group cash flow statement
 for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Note
2015

£’000
2014

£’000

Loss before tax (36,748) (9,387)
Depreciation charges 13 113 87
Investment write down 27,890 –
Fair value of share based payment 1,039 1,311
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (16) (192)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 96 (28)
Currency translation adjustments 10,431 9,358
Expense recognised in respect of equity-settled share based payments (67) (65)
Inter-company service charge uplift (308) (222)
Interest received (3,228) (3,398)
Interest and financing fees 23 6
Net cash used in operating activities (775) (2,530)

Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 13 (40) (189)
Receipts from/(loans to) subsidiary undertakings 26,674 (7,297)
Investments in subsidiary undertakings (26,674) –
Interest received 3,228 3,398
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 3,188 (4,088)

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity instruments of the Company 138 65,004
Issue costs – (3,502)
Interest paid (23) (6)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 115 61,496
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,528 54,878

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 48,628 4,758
Effect of foreign exchange rate differences (13,580) (11,008)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 37,576 48,628

 Company cash flow statement
 for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Share capital 
£’000

Share  
premium 

account 
£’000

Cumulative 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

As at 1 January 2014 21,269 206,303 (3,798) 11,840 235,614
Loss for the year – – – (54,981) (54,981)
Other comprehensive income:
 Loss on retranslation of foreign subsidiaries – – 1,246 – 1,246
Total comprehensive income/(loss) – – 1,246 (54,981) (53,735)

Issue of Ordinary Shares under EBT 65 – – – 65
Issue of Ordinary Shares 5,417 59,587 – – 65,004
Issue costs – (3,502) – – (3,502)
Share based payments – – – 2,080 2,080
Buy back of share options – – – (65) (65)
As at 31 December 2014 26,751 262,388 (2,552) (41,126) 245,461

Loss for the year – – – (52,918) (52,918)
Other comprehensive income:
 Loss on retranslation of foreign subsidiaries – – (1,503) – (1,503)
Total comprehensive loss – – (1,503) (52,918) (54,421)

Issue of Ordinary Shares under EBT 73 65 – – 138
Share based payments – – – 1,245 1,245
Buy back of share options – – – (67) (67)
As at 31 December 2015 26,824 262,453 (4,055) (92,866) 192,356

Share capital
The balance classified in share capital is the nominal value on issue of the Group’s equity share capital, comprising 10 pence  
Ordinary Shares.

Share premium
The balance classified as share premium is the premium on issue of the Group’s equity share capital, comprising 10 pence  
Ordinary Shares less any costs of issuing the shares.

Cumulative translation reserve
The cumulative translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign subsidiaries.

 Group statement of changes in equity
 for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Share capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

account 
 £’000

Retained  
earnings  

£’000
Total  
£’000

As at 1 January 2014 21,269 206,303 3,257 230,829
Loss for the year – – (9,387) (9,387)
Total comprehensive loss – – (9,387) (9,387)

    
Issue of Ordinary Shares under EBT 65 – – 65
Issue of Ordinary Shares 5,417 59,587 – 65,004
Issue costs – (3,502) – (3,502)
Share based payments – – 2,080 2,080
Buy back of share options – – (65) (65)
Unrealised foreign exchange movement – – (1,937) (1,937)
As at 31 December 2014 26,751 262,388 (6,052) 283,087
Loss for the year – – (36,748) (36,748)
Total comprehensive loss (36,748) (36,748)

Issue of Ordinary Shares under EBT 73 65 – 138

Share based payments – – 1,245 1,245
Buy back of share options – – (67) (67)
As at 31 December 2015 26,824 262,453 (41,622) 247,655

Share capital
The balance classified in share capital is the nominal value on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 10 pence  
Ordinary Shares.

Share premium
The balance classified as share premium is the premium on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 10 pence  
Ordinary Shares less any costs of issuing the shares.

 Company statement of changes in equity
 for the year ended 31 December 2015
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1 Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS
The financial statements of Faroe Petroleum plc and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015 
were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 28 April 2016 and the Balance Sheet was signed on the Board’s behalf 
by Jonathan Cooper. Faroe Petroleum plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and domiciled in Scotland. 

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015. 
Faroe Petroleum plc is listed on the AIM market.

2 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The Group’s financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2015, have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). The Company’s financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish 
its individual Income Statement and related notes. 

The Group intends to prepare the financial statements of the UK qualifying subsidiaries in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 101: Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2015.

The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain fair value 
adjustments required by those accounting policies. The financial statements are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand pounds (£000) except where otherwise indicated.

The Directors believe that the Company has adequate resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future. The bases 
for the Directors’ considerations are disclosed in the Directors’ Report. Thus the Directors continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Accounting estimates
The Group’s accounting policies make use of estimates and judgements in the following areas: Impairment, Depreciation, 
Decommissioning, Reserves and Share based payments. These are described in more detail in the relevant accounting policies.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2015. Control is achieved when 
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has all of the following:

 – power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);

 – exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

 – the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

 Notes to the accounts
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Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when the 
Group has less than a majority of the voting, or similar, rights of an investee, it considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

 – the contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;

 – rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

 – the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until 
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests (NCI), even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 
loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other 
components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair 
value.

Foreign currencies
The functional currency for the UK entities is Sterling and the functional currencies for Faroe Petroleum Norge AS and Føroya 
Kolvetni P/F are Norwegian Kroner and Danish Kroner respectively.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are recorded in the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rate ruling on the Balance Sheet date and any gains and 
losses on translation are reflected in the Income Statement.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the Balance Sheet date. 
Income and expenses are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences on assets 
and liabilities of such foreign operations are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the 
deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the Income Statement.
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2 Accounting policies continued
Joint arrangements
Judgement is required to determine when the Group has joint control over an arrangement, which requires an assessment of 
the relevant activities and when the decisions in relation to those activities require unanimous consent. The Group has determined 
that the relevant activities for its joint arrangements are those relating to the operating and capital decisions of the arrangement, 
including the approval of the annual capital and operating expenditure work programme and budget for the joint arrangement, and 
the approval of chosen service providers for any major capital expenditure as required by the joint operating agreements applicable 
to the entity’s joint arrangements. The considerations made in determining joint control are similar to those necessary to determine 
control over subsidiaries, as set out in Note 2. Judgement is also required to classify a joint arrangement. Classifying the arrangement 
requires the Group to assess their rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. Specifically, the Group considers:

 – the structure of the joint arrangement – whether it is structured through a separate vehicle;

 – when the arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, the Group also considers the rights and obligations arising from:

 – the legal form of the separate vehicle;

 – the terms of the contractual arrangement; and

 – other facts and circumstances, considered on a case by case basis.

This assessment often requires significant judgement. A different conclusion about both joint control and whether the arrangement 
is a joint operation or a joint venture may materially impact the accounting. A complete list of the Group’s Joint Operations is 
provided in Note 30.

A Joint Operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangements. In relation to its interests in joint operations, the Group 
recognises its:

 – assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

 – liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

 – revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;

 – share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

 – expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Revenue
Revenue arising from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer 
and it can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents 
amounts receivable for goods provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, customs duties and sales taxes. Revenues 
associated with the sale of oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, petroleum and chemicals products and all other 
items are recognised when the title has passed, or has deemed to have passed to the customer, in accordance with the commercial 
terms of each contract.

Generally, revenues from the production of oil and natural gas properties in which the Group has an interest with joint venture 
partners are recognised on the basis of the Group’s working interest in those properties (the entitlement method). Differences 
between the production sold and the Group’s share of production are recognised within cost of sales at market value.

Interest income is recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest method.

 Notes to the accounts continued
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Finance costs and debt
Finance costs of debt instruments are allocated to periods over the term of the related instrument at a constant rate on the carrying 
amount. Arrangement fees and issue costs are deducted from the proceeds on initial recognition of the liability and are amortised 
and charged to the Income Statement as finance costs over the term of the instrument.

Oil and gas expenditure – exploration and evaluation assets
Capitalisation
Pre-acquisition costs on oil and gas assets are recognised in the Income Statement when incurred. Costs incurred after rights to explore 
have been obtained, such as geological and geophysical surveys, drilling and commercial appraisal costs and other directly attributable 
costs of exploration and appraisal including technical and administrative costs, are capitalised as intangible exploration and evaluation 
(“E&E”) assets. The assessment of what constitutes an individual E&E asset is based on technical criteria but essentially either a single 
licence area or contiguous licence areas with consistent geological features are designated as individual E&E assets. 

E&E costs are not amortised prior to the conclusion of appraisal activities. Once active exploration is completed the asset is assessed 
for impairment. If commercial reserves are discovered then the carrying value of the E&E asset is reclassified as a development and 
production (“D&P”) asset, following development sanction, but only after the carrying value is assessed for impairment and where 
appropriate its carrying value adjusted. If commercial reserves are not discovered the E&E asset is written off to the Income Statement.

Impairment
The Group’s oil and gas assets are analysed into cash-generating units (“CGU”) for impairment review purposes, with E&E asset 
impairment testing being performed at a grouped CGU level. The current CGU consists of the Group’s whole E&E portfolio. E&E assets 
are reviewed for impairment when circumstances arise which indicate that the carrying value of an E&E asset exceeds the recoverable 
amount. When reviewing E&E assets for impairment, the combined carrying value of the grouped CGU is compared with the grouped 
CGU’s recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of a grouped CGU is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. Impairment losses resulting from an impairment review are written off to the Income Statement.

Oil and gas expenditure – development and production assets
Capitalisation
Costs of bringing a field into production, including the cost of facilities, wells and sub-sea equipment together with E&E assets 
reclassified in accordance with the above policy, are capitalised as a D&P asset. Normally each individual field development will form 
an individual D&P asset but there may be cases, such as phased developments, or multiple fields around a single production facility 
when fields are grouped together to form a single D&P asset. 

Depreciation
All costs relating to a development are accumulated and not depreciated until the commencement of production. Depreciation 
is calculated on a unit of production basis based on the proven and probable reserves of the asset. Any re-assessment of reserves 
affects the depreciation rate prospectively. Significant items of plant and equipment will normally be fully depreciated over the life 
of the field. However, these items are assessed to consider if their useful lives differ from the expected life of the D&P asset and 
should this occur a different depreciation rate would be charged.

The key areas of estimation regarding depreciation and the associated unit of production calculation for oil and gas assets are:

 – recoverable reserves; and

 – future capital expenditure.
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2 Accounting policies continued
Impairment
A review is carried out for any indication that the carrying value of the Group’s D&P assets may be impaired. The impairment review 
of D&P assets is carried out on an asset by asset basis and involves comparing the carrying value with the recoverable value of an 
asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The value 
in use is determined from estimated future net cash flows. Any additional depreciation resulting from the impairment testing is 
charged to the Income Statement.

The future cash flows are adjusted for risks specific to the cash-generating unit and are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate. 
The discount rate is derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital and is adjusted where applicable to take 
into account any specific risks relating to the country where the cash-generating unit is located, although other rates may be used 
if appropriate to the specific circumstances. In 2015 the rate used was 7.5% nominal (2014: 7.5% nominal). The discount rates 
applied in assessments of impairment are reassessed each year.

See Note 13 for the carrying value of oil and gas assets. Reserves and production volumes are also stated in the Review of Activities, 
primarily in the Producing Assets section.

Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations
The calculation of value-in-use for oil and gas assets under development or in production is most sensitive to the following 
assumptions:

 – production volumes/recoverable reserves;

 – commodity prices;

 – fixed and variable operating costs;

 – capital expenditure; and

 – discount and inflation rates.

Production volumes/recoverable reserves
Annual estimates of oil and gas reserves are generated internally by the Company’s reservoir engineers. These are reported annually 
to the Board in conjunction with an externally generated Competent Persons Report (“CPR”). The self certified estimated future 
production profiles are used in the life of the fields which in turn are used as a basis in the value-in-use calculation. 

Commodity prices
An average of published forward prices and the long-term assumption for natural gas and Brent oil are used for the first three years 
of future cash flow and an inflated real price thereafter, in accordance with the Company’s corporate assumptions. Field specific 
discounts and prices are used where applicable.

Fixed and variable operating costs
Typical examples of variable operating costs are pipeline tariffs, treatment charges and freight costs. Commercial agreements are 
in place for most of these costs and the assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation are sourced from these where available. 
Examples of fixed operating costs are platform costs and operator overheads. Fixed operating costs are based on operator budgets.

Capital expenditure
Field development is capital intensive and future capital expenditure has a significant bearing on the value of an oil and gas 
development asset. In addition, capital expenditure may be required for producing fields to increase production and/or extend 
the life of the field. Cost assumptions are based on operator budgets or specific contracts where available.

 Notes to the accounts continued
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Discount and inflation rates
Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risks specific to the oil and gas sector and are based on the weighted 
average cost of capital for the Group. Where appropriate, the rates are adjusted to reflect the market assessment of any risk specific 
to the field for which future estimated cash flows have not been adjusted. The Group has applied a discount rate of 7.5% for the 
current year (2014: 7.5%). The inflation rate used in the calculation was 2.0% (2014: 2.0%).

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Following our review of the above assumptions and having performed a sensitivity analysis on the impairment reviews performed 
we conclude that commodity prices are the most sensitive assumption. A 10% change in commodity prices would result in a change 
of the impairment charge by £7,700,000 in the UK and by £3,000,000 in Norway.

Oil & gas expenditure – acquisitions and disposals 
Commercial transactions involving the acquisition of a D&P asset in exchange for an E&E or D&P asset are accounted for at fair value 
with the difference between the fair value and cost being recognised in the Income Statement as a gain or loss. When a commercial 
transaction involves a D&P asset and takes the form of a farm-in or farm-out agreement, the premium expected to be paid/received 
is treated as part of the consideration.

Fair value calculations are not carried out for commercial transactions involving the exchange of E&E assets. The capitalised costs of 
the disposed asset are transferred to the acquired asset. Farm-in and farm-out transactions of E&E assets are accounted for at cost. 
Costs are capitalised according to the Group’s cost interest (net of premium received or paid) as costs are incurred.

Proceeds from the disposal of an E&E asset, or part of an E&E asset, are deducted from the capitalised costs and the difference 
recognised in the Income Statement as a gain or loss. Proceeds from the disposal of a D&P asset, or part of a D&P asset, are 
recognised in the Income Statement, after deducting the related net book value of the asset.

Decommissioning
The Group recognises the discounted cost of decommissioning when the obligation to rectify environmental damage arises. 
The amount recognised is the present value of the estimated future expenditure determined by local conditions and requirements. 
A corresponding property, plant and equipment asset of an amount equal to the provision is created unless the associated activity 
resulted in an Income Statement write-off. This asset is subsequently depreciated as part of the capital cost on a unit of production 
basis. Any change to the present value of the estimated decommissioning cost is reflected as an adjustment to the provision and the 
property, plant and equipment asset. The unwinding of the discount on the decommissioning provision is included as an interest 
expense.

Where the Group has an asset with nil carrying value, and subsequently on the basis of new information makes an increase to the 
discounted cost of decommissioning, then such increase is taken to the Income Statement.

The key areas of estimation regarding decommissioning are:

 – expected economic life of field, determined by factors such as: 

 – field reserves and future production profiles – see Review of Activities section

 – commodity prices

 – inflation rate 2% (2014: 2%);

 – nominal discount rate 5% (2014: 5%); and

 – decommissioning cost estimates (and the basis for these estimates).

See Note 20 Provisions in respect of decommissioning obligations and explanation of discount rates.
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2 Accounting policies continued
Underlift/Overlift
Lifting arrangements for oil and gas produced in certain fields are such that each participant may not receive its share of the overall 
production in each period. The difference between cumulative entitlement and cumulative production less stock is “underlift” or 
“overlift”. Underlift and overlift are valued at market value and included within debtors (“underlift”) or creditors (“overlift”). Movements 
during an accounting period are adjusted through cost of sales, such that gross profit is recognised on an entitlement basis.

Other property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas assets are stated in the Balance Sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation is provided to write-off the cost less the estimated residual value of the tangible fixed asset on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

 – IT equipment  3 to 4 years

 – Other equipment 5 years

Financial assets
Financial assets which are trade investments of the Group and Company are accounted for at fair value unless this cannot be reliably 
re-assessed.

In the Group accounts, financial assets which are loans provided by the parent company to subsidiary undertakings are carried at 
cost and treated as net investments in the subsidiaries and, as such, both foreign currency and impairment gains and losses on such 
loans are recognised in the Income Statement, to the extent that any individual subsidiary would be able to borrow in its own 
capacity as a single entity. In the Company accounts, foreign currency gains and losses on such loans to subsidiary undertakings 
are recognised in the Income Statement.

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the financial statements at cost less provisions for impairment.

Inventories
The Group’s share of any physical stock is accounted for at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Taxation
The Income Statement tax charge/ (credit) comprises both current and deferred tax. Tax is charged or credited in the Income 
Statement except on items related directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax liabilities are payable 
on income for the year and are based on rates of tax enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided in full on temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, with the following exemptions:

 – where the temporary differences arise on initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction (other than a business 
combination) that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

 – in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future; and

 – deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised.
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Key assumptions in determining the recoverability of the deferred tax asset
 – based on current forecasts, the deferred tax asset will be fully utilised by 2020;

 – the current forecasts are based on the same price assumptions used in the 2015 impairment tests, which are deemed 
to be reasonable; and

 – the forecasts are derived from operator budgets and Life of Field models which are deemed to be reasonable.

Pensions
The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan as part of Norwegian employees’ remuneration, which requires contributions 
to be made to a separately administered fund. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using 
the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income.

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service cost not yet 
recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.

Other Group employees and certain senior Norwegian employees receive contributions to personal pension plans, which are 
charged to the Income Statement on an accruals basis.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are shown at face value less any provision for unrecoverable 
debt. Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to recover balances in full. Balances are 
written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote.

Operating leases
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity 
of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Share based payments
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions 
which may be equity settled or cash settled. The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees, for awards granted after 
7 November 2002, is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined 
by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled 
to the award (“the vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until 
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The Income Statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

The key areas of estimation regarding share based payments are:

 – share price volatility; and

 – estimated lapse rates.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance conditions are satisfied.
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2 Accounting policies continued
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense if the terms had not 
been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification which increases the total fair value of the share based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated 
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of 
the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

Cash settled transactions relate to phantom options, where employees are entitled to a cash payment equivalent to the gain 
that would have been made by exercising options at notional price over a notional number of shares and then selling the shares 
at the date of exercise. The ultimate cost of a cash-settled transaction is the fair value of the cash paid at the settlement date. 
The cumulative cost recognised until settlement date is a liability on the face of the balance sheet and not a component of equity. 
The fair value of the liability is determined by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model. All changes in the liability are 
recognised in profit or loss.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Employee Benefit Trust
The substance of the relationship between the Group and the Employee Benefit Trust indicates that the Trust is a Special Purpose 
Entity (SPE) controlled by the Group. The activities of the Trust are being conducted on behalf of the Group in order to obtain 
benefits from its operation and on this basis the assets held by the Trust are consolidated into the Group’s financial statements.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Borrowings are recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless 
the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the Balance Sheet date.

Interest on borrowing directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. The Group has not borrowed against qualifying assets and has 
not capitalised any interest costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, 
interest rates and commodity prices in addition to trading purposes. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised 
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives 
relating to unquoted equity instruments are carried at cost where it is not possible to reliably measure their fair value subsequent 
to initial recognition. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are carried on the Balance Sheet at fair value, with realised and unrealised gains 
or losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in the Income Statement. Derivatives are classified as held for trading and are 
included in this category. Unrealised gains or losses are calculated by comparing the derivative contract pricing to forward curve data.

The use of derivative financial instruments is explained further in note 22 and the Principal Risks and Uncertainties section of these 
financial statements.
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Impact of new standards and interpretations
There were no new and effective standards on 1 January 2015.

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the commencement date 
of the accounting period for these financial statements: 

Title

Effective date 
(annual periods 

beginning 
on or after)

 – Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations 1 January 2016

 – IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

 – IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements – Amendments to IAS 27 1 January 2016

 – IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 1 1 January 2016
 – IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation  
– Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 1 January 2016

 – IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

 – IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

 – Amendment to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017

 – Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 cycle 1 January 2016

 – Amendment to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017

 – IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2016

 – IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 1 January 2016

 – IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 1 January 2016

The amendments as noted above are not believed to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group. 
The Group will adopt these standards on the date at which they become effective.

3 Revenue
Revenue recognised in the Income Statement is analysed as follows:

2015
£’000

2014 
£’000

Oil sales 63,737 99,141
Gas sales 39,323 20,310
Condensate sales 7,895 6,890
Tariff income 2,025 2,420
Total revenue 112,980 128,761
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4 Cost of sales 
Cost of sales recognised in the Income Statement is analysed as follows:

2015
£’000

2014 
£’000

Operating costs 38,866 38,845
Commercial tariffs 15,932 11,009
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation – development and production assets 38,019 35,442
Adjustments to decommissioning cost estimates – (2,761)
Movement in over-/underlift during the year 4,620 18,405
Other cost of sales 2,401 1,875
Total cost of sales 99,838 102,815

In 2014, the Glitne gross decommissioning cost estimate was reduced. Due to the Glitne abandonment asset having been previously 
written off to nil, this has led to credits being charged through depletion, depreciation and amortisation in the Income Statement 
of £nil (2014: £2,761,000). 

5 Asset impairment 
Impairment losses
An asset impairment charge of £45,108,000 has been recognised during the year. The pre-tax impairment charge and the related 
movement in deferred tax were as follows:

Pre-tax 
impairment

£000

Movement in 
deferred tax

£000
Post-tax impact

£000

2015
Schooner & Ketch 16,570 (5,289) 11,281
Blane 11,512 (46) 11,466
Njord & Hyme 11,450 (8,931) 2,519
Butch 2,931 (2,286) 645
Other 2,645 (1,877) 768
Total 45,108 (18,429) 26,679

2014
Schooner & Ketch 17,000 (1,823) 15,177
East Foinaven 11,900 (1,330) 10,570
Brage 10,901 (7,618) 3,283
Glitne – reversal of prior years impairment (3,115) 2,429 (686)
Other 1,782 (919) 863
Total 38,468 (9,261) 29,207

The factors that led to the impairments in 2015 were as follows:

Schooner & Ketch
The impairment charge is principally driven by the continuing decline in gas prices throughout 2015. Furthermore, there was 
a reserves downgrade on the Schooner asset. The recoverable amount is £3.4 million.
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Blane
The impairment on Blane is driven by two factors. Faroe entered into the transaction in mid-2015 to acquire an additional 12% 
stake in the field in an environment where the oil price was higher. The decline in the oil price throughout 2015 has resulted in 
an impairment charge being booked at the year end in relation to Faroe’s enlarged equity stake of 30% in the field. Additionally 
an increase in the decommissioning liability and asset, based on an updated operator estimate, increased the book value further 
above the fair value of the field. The recoverable amount is £29.4 million.

Butch
The Butch field was reclassified as a development and production asset in December 2015 as commercial reserves were discovered 
and development sanction was achieved. The impairment charge is principally driven by falling oil prices. The recoverable amount 
is £17.5 million.

Njord & Hyme
The impairment charge is principally driven by the continuing decline of oil prices throughout 2015. Furthermore, there was a 
reserves downgrade on Hyme. The recoverable amount is £6.0 million.

The assumptions used for the impairment review are stated in Note 2.

6 Segmental reporting 
The Group operates a single class of business being oil and gas exploration, appraisal, development and production and related 
activities in a single geographical area presently being Northwest Europe. Revenue from three key customers (2014: two key 
customers) which individually represent more than 10% of total sales were as follows: £54,700,000 and £5,800,000 arising from 
sales of oil in Norway and the UK respectively (2014: £77,282,000 and £18,356,000 Norway and UK respectively), £23,578,000 
and £15,583,000 arising from sales of natural gas in the UK and Norway respectively (2014: £8,282,000 and £11,521,000 UK 
and Norway respectively) and £1,589,000 and £763,000 arising from sales of condensate in the UK and Norway respectively 
(2014: £926,000 and £534,000 UK and Norway respectively). The Company has negligible revenue.

Capitalised Exploration and Evaluation costs are split £66,461,000 and £7,059,000 between Norway and the UK respectively 
(2014: £112,145,000 and £16,171,000). Capitalised Development and Production costs are split £54,112,000 and £56,482,000 
between Norway and the UK respectively (2014: £72,474,000 and £65,877,000).

7 Group operating loss
2015

£’000
2014 

£’000

Group operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting)
Exploration asset write-off 83,569 131,735
Asset impairment (Note 5) 45,108 38,468
Pre-award exploration expenditure 5,968 7,639
Depletion, depreciation and amortisation – development and production assets 38,019 35,442
Adjustments to decommissioning cost estimate – (2,761)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – other 428 427
Realised hedging gains (9,287) (461)
Unrealised hedging gains (4,580) (4,583)
Gain on disposal of intangible assets – (783)
Operating lease payments 656 721
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8 Auditors’ remuneration
The Group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for other services 
provided to the Group:

2015
£’000

2014 
£’000

Audit of Group financial statements 82 80
Audit of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 31 33
Other services – compliance 29 29
Other services – advisory 26 –

168 142

Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP and its associates for non-audit services are not disclosed in the individual accounts of the Company 
as Group financial statements are prepared which are required to disclose such fees on a Group basis. Fees paid to Ernst & Young 
LLP and its associates for the audit of Faroe Petroleum plc Company in 2015 were £12,000 (2014: £12,000).

9 Finance revenue and cost
2015

£’000
2014 

£’000

Bank and other interest receivable 909 650
Total interest income for financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss 909 650
Realised exchange gain – –
Total finance revenue 909 650
Bank interest payable and other loans (6,380) (5,714)
Realised exchange loss (1,587) (4,292)
Total interest expense for financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss (7,967) (10,006)
Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (3,888) (3,801)
Total finance cost (11,855) (13,807)

10 Employment costs
The aggregate payroll costs of staff and Directors were as follows:

2015
£’000

2014 
£’000

Wages and salaries 8,568 8,730
Social security costs 1,450 1,249
Pension costs 438 1,296
Share based payments charge (both equity settled and phantom options) 1,916 2,429

12,372 13,704

Included in pension costs is a credit of £410,000 (2014: charge – £492,000) in respect of defined benefit schemes arising due 
to the cancellation of the defined benefit scheme (Note 23) and £848,000 (2014: £804,000) in respect of the defined 
contribution scheme.
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The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Executive Directors) during the year was as follows:

2015
No.

2014 
No.

Technical 33 27
Finance & Commercial 24 18
Administration 10 7

Directors’ emoluments:

2015
£’000

2014 
£’000

Directors’ emoluments 2,065 1,824
Aggregate contributions to pension schemes1: 
Defined benefit 20 25
Defined contribution 226 157
Number of Directors accruing benefits under: 
Defined benefit schemes – 1
Defined contribution schemes 3 3

The emoluments of the Directors: 

Fees/basic
salary
£’000

Annual
bonus 
£’000

Share option
compensation

£’000

Benefits
in kind

£’000

2015
Total
£’000

2014
Total
£’000

2015
Pension1

£’000

2014
Pension

£’000

Aggregate remuneration 1,233 443 363 26 2,065 1,824 246 182

1  Pension contributions made to UK Executive Directors in excess of the Annual Allowance or Lifetime Allowance are paid as salary (but such sums are not taken into account when 
calculating any bonus or option award).

Full details of amounts paid to Directors can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration.

On 20 January 2015 a total of 536,736 nil-cost options which had previously vested were exercised by the Directors.

These comprised 452,189 nil cost options which had been awarded on 24 July 2013 under the Faroe Petroleum Incentive plan 
and 84,547 (adjusted from an option over 74,216 shares following the Rights Issue of April 2010) awarded under an LTIP award 
dated 4 October 2005.

The value above represents the number of options exercised multiplied by the share price on the date of issue.

Helge Hammer received £83,000 as compensation due to the closure of the defined benefit scheme and this is included in within 
his basic salary.
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11 Taxation
(a) Tax on loss on ordinary activities

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Current taxation

Overseas tax credit 35,272 45,831
UK tax charge (392) –
Current tax credit 34,880 45,831
Amounts under/(over) provided in previous year (187) 501
Total current tax credit 34,693 46,332

Deferred taxation
Origination of temporary differences 34,594 38,971
Not provided in earlier years 175 18,262
Total deferred tax credit 34,769 57,233

Foreign exchange differences
Differences arising from the use of year end and average exchange rates (80) 7,250
Total foreign exchange differences (80) 7,250
Total tax credit in the Income Statement 69,382 110,815

There are no items charged to equity with any current or deferred tax effect.
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(b) Reconciliation of the total tax credit
The tax credit in the Income Statement for the year is lower than the inside ring fence rate of corporation tax in the UK of 50% 
(2014: 62%). The differences are reconciled below:

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Tax reconciliation 
Loss on ordinary activities before tax (122,300) (165,796)
Tax at 50% (2014: 62%) (61,150) (102,794)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8,613 16,512
Prior year adjustments 221 –
Income not taxable (2,225) (806)
Ring fence expenditure supplement and field allowances (130) (2,114)
Effect of foreign profits/losses charged at different rate of tax (24,778) (18,475)
Effect of profits/losses taxed at 20.25% (2014: 23.25%) 1,852 –
Foreign exchange differences 6,080 18,992
Movement in unrecognised deferred tax 2,707 (18,208)
Change of ring fence rate 5,067 –
Other (2,058) 1,463
Underprovided in previous year in foreign subsidiary – (502)
Norwegian allowances uplift (3,581) (4,883)
Total tax credit (69,382) (110,815)

The 2015 overseas tax credit of £35,272,000 (2014: £45,831,000) represents a tax refund on net exploration expenditure and 
is due for repayment in December 2016.

The Chancellor of the Exchequer of the United Kingdom announced in his budget statement on 18 March 2015 that the rate 
of the supplementary charge tax (SCT) will be reduced from 32% to 20% with effect from 1 January 2015.

The reconciliation of the total tax credit has been based upon the UK ring fence corporation tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%) and 
the UK supplementary charge which was 20% (2014: 32%) giving a combined rate of 50% (2014: 62%). The UK oil and gas 
activities of the Group were subject to this rate during 2015.

Group
The Group has gross ring fence tax losses which arose in the UK of £55,577,000 (2014: £67,995,000) that are available indefinitely 
for offset against future taxable profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as it is probable that 
they will be used in the foreseeable future.

(c) Unrecognised tax losses
Company
The Company has net excess management expenses of £4,203,000 (2014: £1,555,000). A deferred tax asset has not been 
recognised in respect of losses as there is uncertainty whether the losses may be used to offset future taxable profits.
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11 Taxation continued
(d) Deferred tax liability
The provision for deferred tax liabilities included in the Balance Sheet is as follows:

Group
2015

£’000

Group
2014

£’000

Company
2015

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Deferred tax liability
Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances (19,888) (58,781) – –
Recognised deferred tax liability1 (19,888) (58,781) – –

1 The year on year change in the deferred tax liability is not equal to the origination of temporary difference as in Note 11 (a) due to the foreign exchange differences.

(e) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets included in the Balance Sheet are as follows:

Group
2015

£’000

Group
2014

£’000

Company
2015

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Recognised deferred tax assets
Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances – (14,682) – –
Tax losses 28,439 41,874 – –
Other temporary differences 3,959 2,772 – –
Recognised deferred tax asset 32,398 29,964 – –

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances 64 54  64 54
Tax losses – – – –
Other temporary differences 1,970 1,711 1,970 1,711
Excess management expenses 4,203 1,555 4,203 1,555
Unrecognised deferred tax asset 6,237 3,320 6,237 3,320

In considering the recoverability of the deferred tax asset at the year end, the Directors have considered that:

1. based on current forecasts, the deferred tax asset will be fully utilised by 2020;

2.  the current forecasts are based on the same price assumptions used in the 2015 impairment tests, which are deemed 
to be reasonable; and

3. the forecasts are derived from operator budgets and Life of Field models which are deemed to be reasonable.
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12 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by 
the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of Ordinary  
Shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential Ordinary Shares into Ordinary Shares.

The following reflects the loss and share data used in the basic and diluted loss per share computations:

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

Basic and diluted loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (52,918) (54,981)

2015
Thousands

2014
Thousands

Basic weighted average number of shares 268,049 242,808
Dilutive potential of Ordinary Shares granted into share based incentive schemes – –
Diluted weighted average number of shares 268,049 242,808

There have been no other transactions involving Ordinary Shares or potential Ordinary Shares between the reporting date and the 
date of completion of these financial statements.

2015
Pence

2014
Pence

Loss per share (basic) (19.7) (22.6)
Loss per share (diluted) (19.7) (22.6)
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13 Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Intangible Property, Plant and Equipment

Exploration 
and evaluation

costs
£’000

Development
and

production 
costs

£’000
Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2014 185,805 246,008 2,727 434,540
Additions 87,198 48,290 531 136,019
Effect of changes to decommissioning assets – 38,863 – 38,863
Disposals (6,218) – – (6,218)
Write-offs (131,735) – – (131,735)
Exchange adjustments (6,734) (10,877) (83) (17,694)
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 128,316 322,284 3,175 453,775
Additions 61,948 38,667 139 100,754

Effect of changes to decommissioning assets – 5,639 – 5,639
Reclassification (19,670) 19,670 – –
Write-offs (83,569) – – (83,569)
Exchange adjustments (13,504) (8,606) (35) (22,145)
As at 31 December 2015 73,521 377,654 3,279 454,454

Depreciation and impairment 
At 1 January 2014 – 106,908 1,921 108,829
Impairment losses – 41,583 – 41,583
Depreciation charge for year (Note 7) – 35,442 427 35,869
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 – 183,933 2,348 186,281
Impairment (Note 5) – 45,108 – 45,108
Depreciation charge for year – 38,019 428 38,447
At 31 December 2015 – 267,060 2,776 269,836

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 73,521 110,594 503 184,618

 
At 31 December 2014 128,316 138,351 827 267,494
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The E&E write-offs in 2015 of £83,569,000 (2014: £131,735,000) relate to licences where active exploration has been completed 
and commercial reserves have not been discovered.

A provision for decommissioning the oil and gas assets is recognised in full when the related facilities are installed. The extent 
to which a provision is required depends on the legal requirements for decommissioning, the costs, the timing of work and the 
discount rate to be applied.

The carrying amount of the Pil licence as at 31 December 2015 was £45,313,000 (2014: £35,805,000). The entry into the Pil 
licence followed a farm-in deal between Faroe and VNG Norge in February 2013. The licence is located on the Halten Terrace. 
During the year £32,134,000 was capitalised and £22,626,000 was written off in respect of Blink drilling costs due to the results 
of exploration drilling.

The carrying amount of the Fogelberg licence as at 31 December 2015 was £14,671,000 (2014: £13,936,000). Fogelberg was 
discovered in April 2010, with a volume range of 105-530 bcf. A concept for developing the Fogelberg gas discovery has been 
selected. During the year, £735,000 was capitalised.

In 2015, Faroe Petroleum UK Limited (“FPUK”) acquired Roc Oil (GB Holdings) Limited (“Roc”) which holds a 12.5006% interest 
in the Blane unit in the UK North Sea and a 12.00% interest in the Enoch unit in the UK North Sea. The initial consideration of 
$17,000,000 was based on an effective date of 1 January 2015, and was reduced to $13,681,502 (£8,900,000) at completion after 
working capital and other corporate adjustments. A payment of $2,000,000 (£1,300,000) was deferred, based on set production 
targets, and subsequently settled in January 2016. 

The impairment on Blane is driven by two factors. Faroe entered into the transaction in mid-2015 to acquire an additional 12% 
stake in the field in an environment where the oil price was higher. The decline in the oil price throughout 2015 has resulted in 
an impairment charge being booked at the year end in relation to Faroe’s enlarged equity stake of 30% in the field. Additionally, 
an increase in the decommissioning liability and asset, based on an updated operator estimate, increased the book value further 
above the fair value of the field. The recoverable amount is £29.4 million.

In 2014, the Glitne gross decommissioning cost estimate was reduced. This resulted in the reversal of an impairment charge 
previously recognised of £3,115,000. Furthermore, because the abandonment asset in respect of Glitne had previously been 
written off to nil, this has led to credits being charged through depletion, depreciation and amortisation in the Income Statement 
of £2,761,000. 

In 2014, the Glenlivet licence was disposed of for total proceeds of £7,000,000 including a deferred consideration of £1,300,000 
due in 2015, resulting in a gain on disposal of £783,000. 

In 2014, Faroe Petroleum UK Limited (“FPUK”) acquired a 60% operated interest in the Ketch field and a 53.1% operated interest 
in the Schooner field. Both fields are located in the UK Southern North Sea gas basin. Prior to the completion of the deal FPUK 
held a 6.9% interest in the Schooner field. The total acquisition cost was £25,771,000 which reflects the headline price plus 
internal transition costs less net income attributable to the interests from the effective date of 1 January 2014.
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13 Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment continued
Property, Plant and Equipment

Other 
£’000

Company
Cost
At 1 January 2014 501
Additions 189
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 690
Additions 40
At 31 December 2015 730

Depreciation
At 1 January 2014 366
Charge for year 87
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 453
Charge for year 113
At 31 December 2015 566

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 164

At 31 December 2014 237

14 Financial assets
Cost and net

book value
2015

£’000

Cost and net
book value

2014
£’000

Group
Financial assets – non current
Trade investments 12 12
Financial assets – Current
Derivative financial instruments 10,621 6,110

Company
Financial assets – non current
Loans to subsidiaries 162,419 195,632

The Group’s trade investment consists of a 14% holding of the shares in Atlantic Supply Base P/F (“ASB”). ASB was established 
in 1999 as a private limited company incorporated in the Faroe Islands. There is no intention to dispose of this investment.

Unquoted equity investments are held at cost less impairment charges because the fair value of the financial asset cannot be 
reliably measured.
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15 Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Company investments in 
subsidiary undertakings 

£’000

Cost and net book value

At 1 January 2014 38,768

Additions 938

At 31 December 2014 39,706
Additions 37,144
Impairment loss (27,890)
At 31 December 2015 48,960

During the year, the intercompany loan balance between the Company and Føroya Kolvetni P/F of 270,000,000 DKK (£26,700,000) 
was fully repaid via a capital contribution from the Company. In addition, £10,000,000 of the intercompany loan balance between 
the Company and Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited was capitalised via a capital contribution from the Company.

An impairment loss of £27,890,000 was recognised in respect of the investment in Føroya Kolvetni P/F because there is no current 
activity within Føroya Kolvetni P/F, and accordingly the value of the investment is deemed to be nil.

At 31 December 2015, the subsidiary undertakings of the Company and Group were:

Company
Country of 

incorporation Nature of business

Proportion of 
shares and  

voting 
rights held

Føroya Kolvetni P/F Faroe Islands Oil and gas exploration 100% ordinary 
Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited England Oil and gas exploration 100% ordinary
Faroe Petroleum Norge AS Norway Oil and gas exploration 100% ordinary
Faroe Petroleum (Energy) Limited England Investment activities 100% ordinary
Faroe Petroleum SIP Employment Benefit Trust Limited England Employee Benefit Trust company 100% ordinary
Faroe Petroleum Employment Benefit Trust Limited England Employee Benefit Trust company 100% ordinary
Durmine Holdings Limited* England Holding company 100% ordinary
Faroe Petroleum (ROGB) Limited** England Oil and gas exploration 100% ordinary

* Formerly known as Roc (G.B. Holdings) Limited.
** Formerly known as ROC (G.B.) Limited.

16 Inventories
2015

£’000
2014

£’000

Materials and equipment 5,922 4,342

97Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

A
cco

unts



17 Trade and other receivables
Group

2015
£’000

Group
2014

£’000

Company
2015 

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 8,410 10,599 – –
Other receivables 15,621 19,292 200 194
Prepayments and accrued income 3,933 6,652 137 127

27,964 36,543 337 321
Current tax receivable 35,195 45,831 – –
Total receivables 63,159 82,374 337 321

The current tax receivable in 2015 relates to a tax rebate in Norway of 78% of Norwegian net exploration expenditure.

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is assessed by reference to external credit 
ratings where available, otherwise historical information relating to counterparty default rates is used.

Group
2015

£’000

Group
2014

£’000

Company
2015

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Counterparties with internal credit rating 24,031 29,891 200 194
24,031 29,891 200 194

18 Cash and cash equivalents
Group

2015
£’000

Group
2014 

£’000

Company
2015

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 36,463 36,305 7,531 432
Short-term deposits 55,052 56,266 30,045 48,196

91,515 92,571 37,576 48,628

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. If the 
Group is required to utilise a deposit, there is access to a deposit at any point in the term. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 
is £91,515,000 (2014: £92,571,000). At 31 December 2015, the Group had available £37,580,000 (2014: £80,566,000) of undrawn 
committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met. The fair value of cash and cash 
equivalents of the Company is £37,576,000 (2014: £48,628,000).
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19 Trade and other payables and current financial liabilities
Group

2015
£’000

Group
2014

£’000

Company
2015

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade payables 8,926 7,873 181 127
Other payables 6,182 11,441 543 781
Accruals and deferred income 17,310 15,000 551 271
Trade and other payables 32,418 34,314 1,275 1,179

Exploration Financing Facility 32,776 42,684 – –
Reserve Based Lending Facility 23,000 23,000 – –
Short-term bank borrowing 55,776 65,684 – –

Exploration Financing Facility (EFF)
This facility is under Faroe Petroleum Norge AS and has an aggregate commitment of NOK 1.5 billion (approximately £130 million). 
Utilisations can be made under the facility up until 31 December 2017. Interest charged on utilisations is based on the NIBOR rate 
prevailing at the time and a margin of 1.85%. At 31 December 2015 NOK 425 million (£32.8 million) was utilised under the facility 
(2014: NOK 493 million (£43.0 million)). The facility is secured against the annual Norwegian tax rebate under which 78% of all 
allowable expenditure is repaid to the claimant (together with interest thereon) 12 months after the end of the tax year.

Reserve Based Lending Facility (RBL)
This Revolving Borrowing Base facility is under both Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited and Faroe Petroleum Norge AS. The facility 
has an aggregate amount of US$225 million and will amortise over the loan life which matures on 30 June 2018. Interest charged 
on utilisations is based on the LIBOR, NIBOR or EUROBOR rates (depending on the currency of the drawdown) plus a margin 
ranging from 2.75% to 3.25% (depending on the total facility utilised). At 31 December 2015, Faroe Petroleum Norge AS had 
utilised US$7.0 million (£4.7 million) (2014: US$12.5 million (£8.1 million)) as cover for a Letter of Credit and drawn £nil (2014 £nil). 
Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited had drawn £23.0 million (2014: £23.0 million) under the facility and had utilised £16.5 million 
(2014: £13.5 million) as cover for a Letter of Credit. 
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20 Provisions 
Decommissioning

provision
£’000

Other
provision

£’000
Total
£’000

Group
At 1 January 2014 47,188 262 47,450
Employee benefits – 350 350
Additions/(releases) 35,748 – 35,748
Exchange adjustments (7,644) – (7,644)
Utilised (2,032) – (2,032)
Unwinding of discount (Note 9) 3,801 – 3,801

   
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 77,061 612 77,673
Asset acquisition 6,183 – 6,183
Employee benefits – 603 603
Additions 5,639 – 5,639
Exchange adjustments (4,226) – (4,226)
Utilised (2,642) – (2,642)
Unwinding of discount (Note 9) 3,888 – 3,888
At 31 December 2015 85,903 1,215 87,118

Other
provision

£’000
Total
£’000

Company
At 1 January 2014 89 89
Employee benefits 169 169
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 258 258
Employee benefits 268 268
At 31 December 2015 526 526
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Decommissioning
The decommissioning provision of £85,903,000 (2014: £77,061,000) relates primarily to the Group’s production and development 
facilities. The decommissioning provision is recorded at Faroe’s share of the decommissioning cost expected to be incurred. 
These costs are expected to be incurred at various intervals over the next 19 years. The provision has been estimated using existing 
technology at current prices, escalated at 2.0% (2014: 2.0%) and discounted at 5.0% (nominal) (2014: 5.0%). This lower discount 
rate (compared to 7.5% used for asset impairment testing) reflects the greater uncertainty inherent in the decommissioning liability. 
The economic life and the timing of the decommissioning liabilities are dependent on Government legislation, commodity prices 
and the future production profiles of the production and development facilities. In addition, the costs of decommissioning are 
subject to inflationary changes in the service costs of third parties.

Other provisions
The provision for employee benefits relates to phantom shares which were awarded as part of the FPIP scheme. Further details 
of the FPIP scheme are disclosed in Note 24.

21 Called up share capital
Group and

Company
2015

£’000

Group and
Company

2014
£’000

Authorised
268,235,273 (2014: 267,514,580) Ordinary Shares of £0.10 26,824 26,751

Issued and fully paid
268,235,273 (2014: 267,514,580) Ordinary Shares of £0.10 26,824 26,751

2015
Thousands

2014
Thousands

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Ordinary Shares of £0.10 each 
At 1 January 267,515 212,687 26,751 21,269
Share placement – 54,170 – 5,417
Issue of Ordinary Shares under EBT 720 658 73 65

268,235 267,515 26,824 26,751

At 31 December 2015 the issued share capital of the Company was represented by 268,235,273 Ordinary Shares of £0.10 each 
(2014: 267,514,580). At 31 December 2015, there were 25,924,618 (2014: 15,866,804) outstanding options under various share 
option schemes, exercisable over various periods up to 2021, to acquire shares of the Company at prices ranging from £nil to 
£1.6725 (2014: £nil to £1.8175). Further details are contained in Note 24.

101Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

A
cco

unts



22 Financial instruments, financial risk factors and capital management
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments, including 
those classified under discontinued operations that are carried in the financial statements.

Group
2015

£’000

Group
2014 

£’000

Company
2015 

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
 Available-for-sale investments 12 12 – –
 Cash 91,515 92,571 37,576 48,628
 Trade and other receivables 24,031 29,891 200 194
 Loans to subsidiaries – – 162,419 195,632
Derivative financial assets 10,621 6,110 – –

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost
 Trade and other payables (14,990) (19,272) (751) (932)
 Short-term bank borrowing (55,776) (65,684) – –

55,413 43,628 199,444 243,522

There is no material difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the financial instruments due to their short-term 
nature. The investments are carried at cost because it is not possible to determine a reliable value.

The Group and Company are exposed to financial risks arising out of market risks (e.g. commodity prices, foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates), credit risks and liquidity risks. Details of these areas of risk are described below.

Within the above analysis, only the commodity pricing derivative contracts are deemed to be a level 2 financial instrument within 
a fair value hierarchy. Derivative financial assets are valued using the year end forward curves for oil and gas and applying those 
to the open hedge contract at the year end. 

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk arising from possible market price movements and their impact on the future performance of the business. 
The Group is currently exposed to commodity price risks in the form of oil and gas prices, movement in foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates. The Company is exposed to movement in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

  (i) Commodity price risk
   The Group is exposed to commodity price risk. Excluding hedging, revenue averaged $44 (2014: $71) per boe and a 10% 

increase or decrease in oil and gas prices would have an £11,000,000 (2014: £11,000,000) impact on gross revenue. Any 
significant change in commodity prices would lead to cost efficiency measures and therefore the Group has not quantified 
the impact on profit/(loss) before tax or equity. Therefore, where and when appropriate the Group will put in place suitable 
hedging arrangements to mitigate the risk of a fall in commodity prices. At December 2015, the Group had entered into hedging 
arrangements covering approximately 65% of 2016 and 50% of 2017 total expected gas and 17% of quarter one 2016 oil 
production (on a post-tax production basis). The hedging arrangements are predominantly put options with floors at US$63 
per barrel for oil and 45p per therm for gas. The unrealised hedging gains arising from these instruments was £4,580,000. 
The Company is not directly subject to commodity price risk.
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  (ii) Foreign currency exchange risk
   The Group and Company have potential currency exposures in respect of items denominated in foreign currencies relating 

to transactional exposure in respect of operating costs and capital expenditure incurred in currencies other than the functional 
currency of operations. Currency risk in respect of non-functional currency expenditure is reviewed by the Board. There are 
no material currency hedging arrangements in place. Loans to foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than British 
Pounds are denominated in the functional currency of the subsidiaries. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on these 
loans are recognised in the Company’s Income Statement as a gain or loss. In the Group accounts, these differences are taken 
to equity in such circumstances whereby the subsidiary would be unable to raise funds on the open market.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar and NOK exchange rates, being 
the currencies which the Group is primarily exposed to, with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s loss before tax and 
the Group’s equity.

Increase/
decrease in

FX rate

Effect on  
 profit/(loss)

pre tax
£’000

Effect on
equity
£’000

2015 – USD +/–10% 10,963/(10,963) –
2015 – NOK +/–10% 6,324/(6,324) –
2014 – USD +/–10% 7,854/(7,854) –
2014 – NOK +/–10% 9,271/(9,271) –

  (iii) Interest rate risk
   The Group is exposed to interest rate risks through the Group’s bank loan in Norway and the UK (see Note 19 for terms). 

The possible effect of changes in interest rates is shown in the table below:

Increase/
decrease in
basis points

Effect on  
(loss)/profit  

pre tax
£’000

2015
Norwegian kroner +/-10 281/(281)
British pounds +/-10 29/(29)
2014
Norwegian kroner +/-10 336/(336)
British pounds +/-10 6/(6)

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or partner fails to pay amounts due causing financial loss to the Group and Company. 
The Group has limited exposure to such credit risk and has put procedures in place to mitigate such risks. The maximum individual 
exposure for the Group at 31 December 2015 was £22,000 (2014: £998,000). For credit quality of trade and other receivables, 
please refer to Note 17. The Company had no exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2015 (2014: £nil) from customers or partners. 
The exposure to subsidiaries failing to repay loans to the Company at 31 December 2015 was £162,419,000 (2014: £195,632,000).

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash, short-term investments and 
derivative financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure 
equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The Group limits its counterparty credit risk on these assets by dealing only with 
financial institutions with credit ratings of at least A or equivalent. 
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22 Financial instruments, financial risk factors and capital management continued
(c) Liquidity risk
The ability to finance firm commitments and develop the Group’s business depends upon: (i) cash flow from the Group’s producing 
assets; and (ii) finance from the capital markets, debt finance, tax rebates (in Norway), farm downs and other means. In the event 
that sufficient funds are not available to finance the business it would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial 
condition and its ability to conduct operations. The Group seeks to mitigate these risks by maintaining a portfolio of oil and gas 
producing interests in both the UK and Norway. The Board reviews and approves the financial strategy of the Group. Short-term 
and longer-term cash flow forecasts are reported to senior management and the Board. The Group seeks to maintain strong 
relations with its banking syndicate and its shareholders.

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities.

31 December 2015
On demand

£’000

Less than 
3 months 

£’000

3 to 12 
months 

£’000
1 to 5 years

 £’000
>5 years 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Trade and other payables – 15,108 – – – 15,108
Short-term bank borrowing* – – 58,375 – – 58,375

31 December 2014
On demand

£’000

Less than 
3 months 

£’000

3 to 12 
months 

£’000
1 to 5 years

 £’000
>5 years 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Trade and other payables – 19,314 – – – 19,314
Short-term bank borrowing* – – 68,330 – – 68,330

* Includes the interest borne on these short-term bank borrowings.

The Company’s financial liabilities consist of trade and other payables of £723,000 (2014: £909,000) which are due within three months.

Capital management
The Group defines capital as the total equity of the Company. The objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that 
it makes the maximum use of its capital to support its business and maximise shareholder value. There are no external constraints 
on the Group’s capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings divided by total equity. 
Borrowings include current and non-current debt.

As the Group’s primary focus is on exploration, equity is the principal form of funding. The Group’s policy is to utilise debt where 
possible. A committed reserve based lending facility is in place to finance its exploration and production and development assets’ 
operations activity.

The Group’s policy is to utilise debt where possible. The EFF banking facility has been arranged in Norway to bridge the tax rebate 
receivable and the RBL banking facility is in place to finance operations and further growth in the business. 
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At 31 December 2015 the net debt ratio was 29.0% (2014: 26.8%).

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

Borrowing 55,776 65,684
Equity 192,356 245,461
Debt ratio 29.0% 26.8%

23 Pension scheme
In the UK and for certain Norwegian employees the Group makes contributions to defined contribution schemes nominated 
by employees for which the pension cost for the year amounted to £848,000 (2014: £804,000). There were accrued contributions 
of £27,000 (2014: £22,000).

During the year the Group cancelled the defined benefit scheme for all employees in Norway. This led to a credit to the income 
statement of £410,000 and consequently the scheme had no assets and liabilities at the year end. The Group’s contributions for 
2016 are expected to be £nil (2015: £543,000).

The table below is a summary of the net liabilities position of the pension scheme: 

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Present value of scheme liabilities – (2,161)
Total market value of assets – 1,207
Net pension liability – (954)

No further disclosures have been provided on the defined benefit pension scheme due to the non-material amounts in the context 
of the financial statements. 

105Faroe Petroleum plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2015

A
cco

unts



24 Share based payments 
During the year, the Company operated four share schemes to incentivise employees: the Faroe Petroleum Unapproved Share 
Option Scheme (Option Scheme), the Faroe Petroleum Co-Investment Plan (CIP), the Share Incentive Plan (SIP); and the Faroe 
Petroleum Incentive Plan (FPIP), details of which are summarised below: 

CIP:
Under this plan key employees can invest up to 100% of base salary in any financial year to purchase Company shares (“Investment 
Shares”). Investment Shares will be matched by new shares to be issued by the Company dependent upon the Company’s performance 
over a three year period. The maximum match will be 3:1 (i.e. three new shares for every Investment Share) but will require the 
Company to satisfy stretching share price growth targets and be subject to a comparative total shareholder return underpin.

SIP:
Under this scheme employees commit to invest a monthly amount of up to an annual maximum of £1,500 through market 
purchases of the Company’s shares and for every share purchased the Company will match it with two Matching Shares. 
The Matching Shares are released at the end of a three year holding period.

FPIP:
Under the scheme awards will be granted in the form of whole shares as either Nil-Cost Options or cash equivalent phantom options. 

The options will vest after three years, dependent upon the Company’s performance over the three year period. 

In the case of a Phantom Share, the Award Holder is entitled to receive a cash payment to the extent that the Award has vested. 
In the case of a Nil-Cost Option, the Award Holder is entitled to exercise the Nil-Cost Option at any time during the Exercise Period 
to the extent that the option has vested. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options are exercised.

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’ and has elected to adopt the exemption to apply IFRS 2 
only to awards made after 7 November 2002 and which had not vested on 1 January 2006.

The Group recognised total expenses of £1,916,000 (2014: £2,429,000), all of which related to share based payment transactions 
under the Current Schemes.

Co-Investment Plan 
During 2007 the Group introduced a Co-Investment Plan. Under this plan, shares are released on the third anniversary of the date of 
grant provided that TSR performance conditions have been satisfied and the participant is still being employed on the anniversary date.

2015 
 CIP Share 

Awards
No

2014 
 CIP Share 

Awards
No

Outstanding at beginning of the year 1,497,337 2,251,295
Granted during the year  6,378,066 487,017
Lapsed during the year (283,036) (1,225,203)
Forfeited during the year – (15,772)
Exercised during the year (22,198) –
Outstanding at the end of the year 7,570,169 1,497,337
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The estimated fair value of the share award under the CIP and the inputs used in the Monte Carlo Simulation model to calculate 
the fair values are as follows:

All vested Co-Investment Plan shares have lapsed as performance conditions were not met.

Date of grant
Fair value  

(£)

Share price 
at grant  

(£)

Exercise  
price 

(£)
Volatility of 
share price

Expected 
life (yrs.)

Risk-free  
rate Dividend yield

30-May-07  0.47  1.15  – 39.82%  3.00 5.73% 0.00%
12-Sep-08  0.63  1.37  – 41.53%  3.00 4.50% 0.00%
23-Sep-08  0.60  1.27  – 42.47%  3.00 4.52% 0.00%
13-May-10  0.66  1.19  – 62.91%  3.00 1.69% 0.00%
19-Nov-10  0.94  1.74  – 64.02%  3.00 1.41% 0.00%
12-Apr-11  0.95  1.82  – 63.13%  3.00 1.80% 0.00%
22-Dec-11  0.73  1.53  – 53.09%  3.00 0.51% 0.00%
28-May-12  0.64  1.56  – 45.97%  3.00 0.34% 0.00%
4-Jan-13  0.55  1.39  – 43.55%  3.00 0.65% 0.00%
24-Jul-13  0.39  1.12  – 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
17-Jun-14  0.40  1.26  – 35.96%  3.00 1.46% 0.00%
20-Jan-15 0.20 0.69 – 35.83% 3.00 0.71% 0.00%

Share Incentive Plan 
During 2011 the Group introduced a Share Incentive Plan.

2015
SIP Share 

Awards No

2014 
SIP Share 

Awards No

Matching Shares outstanding at the beginning of the period 239,452 197,950
Matching Shares purchased during the period 213,634 112,590
Matching Shares forfeited during the period (3,334) (5,924)
Matching Shares exercised during the period (45,862) (65,164)
Outstanding at the end of the period 403,890 239,452

The share awards under the SIP are booked through the Employment Benefit Trust at actual cost.

Faroe Petroleum Investment Plan 
During 2013 the Group introduced a Faroe Petroleum Investment Plan.

2015
FPIP Share 

Awards No

2014 
FPIP Share 

Awards No

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 14,369,467 13,651,575
Granted during the period1 6,898,522 3,984,741
Lapsed during the period (1,669,217) (2,400,846)
Forfeited during the period (475,829) (358,409)
Exercised during the period (613,942) (507,594)
Outstanding at the end of the period2 18,509,001 14,369,467

1  3,667,356 (2014: 2,404,765) relate to award of Nil-Cost Options and 3,231,166 (2014: 1,579,976) relate to award of Phantom options issued for the year; the latter awards are  
non-dilutive; and

2 the FPIP awards outstanding at 31 December 2015 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.01 years (2014: 4.01 years).
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24 Share based payments continued
The estimated fair value of the share award under the FPIP and the inputs used in the Monte Carlo Simulation model to calculate the 
fair values are as follows:

All vested FPIP shares have lapsed as performance conditions were not met.

Date of grant
Fair value 

(£)

Share price 
at grant 

(£)

Exercise  
price 

(£)
Volatility of 
share price

Expected 
life (yrs.)

Risk-free  
rate

Dividend  
yield

24-Jul-13 0.98  1.12 0.00 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
31-Dec-13 1.05  1.19 0.00 37.38%  2.56 0.98% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.07  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 1.25  1.24 0.00 34.06%  2.07 1.02% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 1.03  1.24 0.00 35.84%  3.07 1.42% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.43  0.61 0.00 36.10%  1.56 0.40% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.34  0.61 0.00 35.16%  2.56 0.65% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.26  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 1.24  1.24 0.00 35.84%  3.07 1.42% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.60  0.61 0.00 35.16%  2.56 0.65% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.26  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 1.24  1.24 0.00 35.84%  3.07 1.42% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.60  0.61 0.00 35.16%  2.56 0.65% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 1.11  1.12 0.00 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
31-Dec-13 1.19  1.19 0.00 37.38%  2.56 0.98% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 1.24  1.24 0.00 34.06%  2.07 1.02% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.60  0.61 0.00 36.10%  1.56 0.40% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 0.68  1.12 0.00 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
31-Dec-13 0.76  1.19 0.00 37.38%  2.56 0.98% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 0.67  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 0.78  1.24 0.00 34.06%  2.07 1.02% 0.00%
30-Jun-14 0.64  1.24 0.00 35.84%  3.07 1.42% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.02  0.61 0.00 36.10%  1.56 0.40% 0.00%
31-Dec-14 0.04  0.61 0.00 35.16%  2.56 0.65% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 0.98  1.12 0.00 39.77%  5.00 0.66% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 0.98  1.12 0.00 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.07  1.26 0.00 35.98%  5.10 1.46% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.07  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.26  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.26  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 1.11  1.12 0.00 39.77%  5.00 0.66% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 1.11  1.12 0.00 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 1.26  1.26 0.00 35.98%  5.10 1.46% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 0.68  1.12 0.00 39.77%  5.00 0.66% 0.00%
24-Jul-13 0.68  1.12 0.00 39.77%  3.00 0.66% 0.00%
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Date of grant
Fair value 

(£)

Share price 
at grant 

(£)

Exercise  
price 

(£)
Volatility of 
share price

Expected 
life (yrs.)

Risk-free  
rate

Dividend  
yield

17-Jun-14 0.67  1.26 0.00 35.98%  5.10 1.46% 0.00%
17-Jun-14 0.67  1.26 0.00 35.98%  3.10 1.46% 0.00%
22-Dec-11 1.09  1.53 0.00 53.09%  5.00 0.51% 0.00%
20-Jan-15 0.37 0.69 0.00 37.18% 3.51 0.81% 0.00%
20-Jan-15 0.58 0.69 0.00 37.18% 3.51 0.81% 0.00%
20-Jan-15 0.68 0.69 0.00 37.18% 3.51 0.81% 0.00%
20-Jan-15 0.68 0.69 0.00 37.18% 3.51 0.81% 0.00%
31-Mar-15 0.45 0.81 0.00 37.18% 3.32 0.73% 0.00%
31-Mar-15 0.69 0.81 0.00 37.18% 3.32 0.73% 0.00%
31-Mar-15 0.81 0.81 0.00 37.18% 3.32 0.73% 0.00%
31-Mar-15 0.81 0.81 0.00 37.18% 3.32 0.73% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.45 0.82 0.00 37.64% 5.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.69 0.82 0.00 37.64% 5.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.82 0.82 0.00 37.64% 5.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.45 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.69 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.82 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.82 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.45 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.69 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.82 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%
15-Jun-15 0.82 0.82 0.00 37.64% 3.11 0.92% 0.00%

25 Contingent liabilities
Under the terms of a sale and purchase agreement between Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited (“FPUK”) and Tullow Oil SK Limited, 
FPUK are liable to pay a deferred consideration of £10,000,000 upon cumulative production exceeding 20bcf gross from the 
Schooner SA11 well. It remains uncertain whether the deferred consideration will be paid.

Under the terms of a sale and purchase agreement between FPUK and North Sea Ventures Limited, FPUK are liable to pay a 
deferred consideration of $6,500,000 upon approval of a Field Development Plan (“FDP”) by DECC for the Lowlander licence. 
In late 2013 the partnership agreed a work programme with DECC with the objective of developing the field jointly with the 
neighbouring Perth field and moving toward an FDP. It remains uncertain whether the deferred consideration will be paid.

Under the terms of a sale and purchase agreement between Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited (“FPUK”) and Nexen Petroleum U.K. 
Limited, FPUK are liable to pay a deferred consideration of £2,994,000 upon approval of a Field Development Plan (“FDP”) by DECC 
for the Perth Licence. During 2013 the partnership agreed a work programme with DECC with the objective of developing the field 
jointly with the neighbouring Lowlander field and moving toward an FDP. It remains uncertain whether the deferred consideration 
will be paid.
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26 Commitments
Pre-tax capital commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made, in relation to the Group’s 
licences, amount to £61,875,000 (2014: £62,191,000) as follows: 

2015
£’000

2014 
£’000

Group
UKCS Contracted 2,137 2,005
Norway Contracted 59,738 60,186
Total 61,875 62,191

Company
As at 31 December 2015, the Company has no future capital commitments (2014: £nil). The Company has provided a guarantee 
for all the licence costs of its subsidiaries.]

27 Obligations under operating leases
Obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for land and buildings are as follows:

Group
2015

£’000

Group
2014

£’000

Company
2015

£’000

Company
2014

£’000

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases:
Within one year 648 707 281 278
Two to five years 1,213 1,465 976 751
After five years 564 – 564 –

2,425 2,172 1,821 1,029

Rentals due under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. In 2015 lease 
payments (net) of £656,000 (2014: £721,000) were charged against income (see Note 7). The operating leases relate predominantly 
to office leases with rent payable on a quarterly basis.

28 Related party disclosures
For the purpose of related party disclosure in accordance with IAS 24, only Directors are considered to be key management personnel.

Compensation of key management personnel:

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,389 2,027
Post-employment benefits 246 182
Share based payment 791 909

3,426 3,118

There are no other related party transactions requiring disclosure for the Group. The Directors’ Remuneration Report, together with 
Note 10, contains additional information in respect of Directors’ emoluments.
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During the year the Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties, all within the 
Group. Trading balances outstanding at 31 December 2015 with other related parties are as follows:

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Loans to subsidiaries 162,419 195,632

The terms of the loans to subsidiaries are summarised in the table below.

Subsidiary Loan facility Maturity Interest rate

Faroe Petroleum (UK) Limited (“FPUK”) £100,000,000 31 December 2016* LIBOR +3%
Faroe Petroleum Norge AS (“FPN”) NOK 1,000,000,000 31 December 2016* LIBOR +3%

*  These loans only fall due when the subsidiaries, current assets exceed total liabilities (excluding loans payable to the ultimate parent company). Accordingly, the Company has disclosed 
these receivables as long-term due to the fact that these loans are unlikely to be repaid by 31 December 2016.

29 Subsequent events
Norwegian exploration licence awards
On 20 January 2016, the Company announced that it has been awarded six new prospective exploration licences, including two 
operatorships, under the 2015 Norwegian APA Licence Round on the Norwegian Continental Shelf. These include three licences 
in the Norwegian Sea, and three licences in the Norwegian North Sea. Due to the nature of the oil and gas industry it is not possible 
to quantify the financial effect of these licence awards.

Kvalross exploration well commences drilling in the Norwegian Barents Sea
On 24 February 2016, the Company announced the results of the Kvalross exploration well 7224/2-1. The Kvalross exploration well 
was spudded on 11 January 2016 and reached a total vertical depth of 2,917 metres. In the main Kvalross target hydrocarbon shows 
were observed, but not in good quality reservoirs. No commercial discovery has been made. The costs of this well are included in 
the £83,569,000 exploration asset write-off included in note 7.

UK tax rate change
The Chancellor of the Exchequer of the United Kingdom announced in his Budget Statement on 16 March 2016 that the rate of 
supplementary charge tax (SCT) will be reduced from 20% to 10% with effect from 1 January 2016. The reduction in SCT will 
affect the carrying value of the Group’s deferred tax liability; reducing the rate at which fixed assets and other temporary differences 
will reverse and also reducing the rate at which UK ring fence losses will be relievable in the future. It is estimated that, following the 
reduction in SCT, the deferred tax liability will reduce by £0.3 million and the deferred tax asset will reduce by £6.3 million, resulting 
in a net reduction in the recognised deferred tax asset of £6.0 million. 
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30 Joint operations
Fields in production or under development as at 31 December 2015:

Country Licence Block Field name Field operator Field % interest

UK P.558 204/ 24a East Foinaven B.P. Exploration Operating Company Ltd 10.00
UK P.803 204/ 25b East Foinaven B.P. Exploration Operating Company Ltd 10.00
UK P039 53/4d Wissey Tullow Oil UK Limited 18.75
UK P611 44/24a Minke GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd 5.89
UK P454 44/29b Minke GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd  5.89
UK P611 44/24a Orca GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd 3.24

UK P454 44/29b Minke GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd 5.89
Netherlands D15 D15 Orca GDF Production Nederland B.V 3.24
Netherlands D18a D18a Orca GDF Production Nederland B.V 3.24
UK P689 43/30a Schooner Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 6.9
UK P516 44/26a Schooner Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 53.10
UK P453 44/28b Ketch Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 60.00
UK P530 49/1a Topaz RWE Dea UK Limited 7.50
UK P111 30/3 A Upper Blane Talisman Energy Norge AS 30.5047
Norway PL107 6407/7 Njord Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL107C 6407/7 Njord Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL132 6407/10 Njord Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL348 6407/8,9 Hyme Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL348b 6407/8 Hyme Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL048B 15/5 Glitne Statoil Petroleum AS 9.30
Norway PL048D 15/5 Enoch Statoil Petroleum AS 13.86
Norway PL053B 30/6 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL055 31/4 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL055B 31/4 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL055D 31/4 Brage Extension Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL185 31/7 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL103b 25/7 Jotun Det norske oljeselskap ASA 3.00
Norway PL169E 25/8 Ringhorne East Statoil Petroleum AS 7.80
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Exploration acreage and discoveries as at 31 December 2015:

Country Licence Block Field name Field operator
Licence % 

interest

UK P1190 204/13a Tornado OMV (U.K.) Limited 10.00
UK P.2011 205/16d, 17b, 21c, 22b Dunvegan Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 50.00
UK P218 15/21a rest,21f rest Perth Deo Petroleum UK Limited 34.62
UK P588 15/21b rest, 21c all Perth Deo Petroleum UK Limited 34.62
UK P1948 29/7c, 12, 13 & 14 Curlew South Endeavour Energy (U.K.) Limited 33.33
UK P1993 15/16e Birnam Parkmead 33.33
UK P324 14/20c Lowlander Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 100.00*

UK P.2156 15/11 & 15/16d Fynn Parkmead E&P Limited 25.00
UK P.2154 14/25 Perth extension DEO Petroleum U.K. Limited 34.62
Norway PL433 6506/9 part, 12 part Fogelberg Centrica Resources Norge AS 15.00
Norway PL475 6406/3, 6407/1 part Rodriguez Wintershall Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL348C 6407/8 Bister Statoil Petroleum AS 7.5
Norway PL590 6507/10 Milagro North Energy ASA 30.00
Norway PL644 6506/8,10,11 Aerosmith OMV (Norge) AS 20.00
Norway PL586 6406/11,12 Pil VNG 25.00
Norway PL749 6306/4 Seychelles Centrica Resources Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL475 6407/1 Solberg extension Wintershall Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL590 6507/11 Soberg extension North Energy ASA 30.00
Norway PL753 6407/7,8 Zircon VNG 30.00
Norway PL006C 2/5 part SE Tor Lundin Norway AS 10.00
Norway PL405 7/9,12, 8/7,8,10,11 Butch Centrica Resources Norge AS 15.00
Norway PL405B 7/12 Butch ext Centrica Resources Norge AS 15.00
Norway PL627/627B 25/5,6,8,9 Shango Total E&P Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL660 1/6 Blackmore Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 35.00
Norway PL665 2/2,3, 3/1 Caramello Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 40.00
Norway PL670 7/11, 7/12 Betula Tullow Oil Norge AS 25.00

* Not jointly controlled – belongs 100% to the Group.
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30 Joint operations continued
Exploration acreage and discoveries as at 31 December 2015:

Country Licence Block Field name Field operator
Licence % 

interest

Norway PL740 30/9 and 31/7 Brasse Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 50.00
Norway PL670 7/11 Betula extension Tullow Oil Norge AS 25.00
Norway PL792 6306/2 Slynge Centrica Resources Norge AS 50
Norway PL793 6407/7.8.10 & 11 Portrush Shell 20
Norway PL794 6407/7 & 10 Rosapenna Statoil Petroleum AS 20
Norway PL534 7224/7,8,11 Samson Dome BG Norge AS 50.0
Norway PL611 7223/3,6 7224/1,2,3,4,5 Kvalross Wintershall Norge AS 40.0
Norway PL716 7318/11,12 Dazzler Eni Norge AS 20.0

Ireland 14/1
Part Blocks 48/28, 29, 30,  

49/26, 57/3, 4 & 5 Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Ltd 100.0*

Ireland 14/2
Blocks 57/7, 11 and Part Blocks 

57/6, 8, 9 & 12 Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Ltd 100.0*

Ireland 14/3
Blocks 50/10, 14, 16 & 17 and  

Part 50/9, 11, 13 & 18 Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Ltd 100.0*

Iceland 2013/01 IS6808/8,9,10,11,12, IS6708/1,2 1 Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 67.50

* Licensing options, not jointly controlled – belongs 100% to the Group.
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Fields in production or under development as at 31 December 2014:

Country Licence Block Field name Field operator
Field % 
interest

UK P.558 204/ 24a East Foinaven
B.P. Exploration Operating  

Company Ltd 10.00

UK P.803 204/ 25b East Foinaven
B.P. Exploration Operating  

Company Ltd 10.00
UK P039 53/4d Wissey Tullow Oil UK Limited 18.75
UK P611 44/24a Minke GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd 5.89
UK P454 44/29b Minke GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd  5.89
UK P611 44/24a Orca GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd 3.24

UK P454 44/29b Minke GDF SUEZ E&P UK Ltd 5.89
Netherlands D15 D15 Orca GDF Production Nederland B.V 5.00
Netherlands D18a D18a Orca GDF Production Nederland B.V 2.50
UK P689 43/30a Schooner Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 6.90
UK P516 44/26a Schooner Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 53.10
UK P453 44/28b Ketch Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 60.00
UK P530 49/1a Topaz RWE Dea UK Limited 7.50
UK P111 30/3 A Upper Blane Talisman Energy Norge AS 18.00
Norway PL107 6407/7 Njord Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL107C 6407/7 Njord Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL132 6407/10 Njord Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL348 6407/8,9 Hyme Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL348b 6407/8 Hyme Statoil Petroleum AS 7.50
Norway PL048B 15/5 Glitne Statoil Petroleum AS 9.30
Norway PL048D 15/5 Enoch Statoil Petroleum AS 1.86
Norway PL053B 30/6 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL055 31/4 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL055B 31/4 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL055D 31/4 Brage Extension Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL185 31/7 Brage Statoil Petroleum AS 14.26
Norway PL103b 25/7 Jotun Det norske oljeselskap ASA 3.00
Norway PL169E 25/8 East Statoil Petroleum AS 7.80
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30 Joint operations continued
Exploration acreage and discoveries as at 31 December 2014:

Country Licence Block Field name Field operator
Licence % 

interest

UK P1190 204/13a Tornado OMV (U.K.) Limited 10.00
UK P1192 213/20b, 25C N.Uist/Cardhu Nexen Petroleum U.K. Ltd 10.00
UK P.2011 205/16d, 17b, 21c, 22b Dunvegan Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 50.00
UK P218 15/21a rest,21f rest Perth Deo Petroleum UK Limited 34.62
UK P588 15/21b rest, 21c all Perth Deo Petroleum UK Limited 34.62
UK P1948 29/7c, 12, 13 & 14 Curlew South Endeavour Energy (U.K.) Limited 33.33
UK P1993 15/16e Birnam Parkmead 33.33
UK P324 14/20c Lowlander Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Limited 100.00*

UK P.2156 15/11 & 15/16d Fynn Parkmead E&P Limited 25.00
UK P.2154 14/25 Perth extension DEO Petroleum U.K. Limited 34.62
Norway PL433 6506/9 part, 12 part Fogelberg Centrica Resources Norge AS 15.00
Norway PL475 6406/3, 6407/1 part Rodriguez Wintershall Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL590 6507/10 Milagro North Energy ASA 30.00
Norway PL644 6506/8,10,11 Aerosmith OMV (Norge) AS 20.00
Norway PL645 6507/7,10 Novus Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 30.00
Norway PL586 6406/11,12 Pil VNG 25.00
Norway PL749 6306/4 Seychelles Centrica Resources Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL475 6407/1 Solberg extension Wintershall Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL590 6507/11 Soberg extension North Energy ASA 30.00
Norway PL753 6407/7,8 Zircon VNG 30.00
Norway PL006C 2/5 part SE Tor Lundin Norway AS 10.00
Norway PL405 7/9,12, 8/7,8,10,11 Butch Centrica Resources Norge AS 15.00
Norway PL405B 7/12 Butch ext Centrica Resources Norge AS 15.00
Norway PL627 25/5,6,8,9 Shango Total E&P Norge AS 20.00
Norway PL660 1/6 Blackmore Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 35.00
Norway PL665 2/2,3, 3/1 Caramello Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 40.00
Norway PL666 2/1, 8/10, 8/11 Percy Centrica Resources Norge AS 30.00
Norway PL670 7/11, 7/12 Betula Tullow Oil Norge AS 25.00

* Not jointly controlled – belongs 100% to the Group.
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Exploration acreage and discoveries as at 31 December 2014:

Country Licence Block Field name Field operator
Licence % 

interest

Norway PL676 24/9 part, 24/12, 25/7 Firklover Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 40.00
Norway PL740 30/9 and 31/7 Brasse Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 50.00
Norway PL670 7/11 Betula extension Tullow Oil Norge AS 25.00
Norway PL534 7224/7,8,11 Samson Dome BG Norge AS 50.0
Norway PL611 7223/3,6 7224/1,2,3,4,5 Kvalross Wintershall Norge AS 40.0
Norway PL716 7318/11,12 Dazzler Eni Norge AS 20.0

Ireland 14/1
Part Blocks 48/28, 29, 30, 49/26, 

57/3, 4 & 5 Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Ltd 100.0*

Ireland 14/2
Blocks 57/7, 11 and Part Blocks 

57/6, 8, 9 & 12 Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Ltd 100.0*

Ireland 14/3
Blocks 50/10, 14, 16 & 17 and  

Part 50/9, 11, 13 & 18 Faroe Petroleum (U.K.) Ltd 100.0*

Iceland 2013/01 IS6808/8,9,10,11,12, IS6708/1,2 Faroe Petroleum Norge AS 67.50

* Licensing options, not jointly controlled – belongs 100% to the Group.
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“APA” awards in pre-defined areas

“bcf” billions of standard cubic feet

“boe” barrels of oil equivalent

“boepd” barrels of oil equivalent per day

“Contingent Resources” those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known 
accumulations by application of development projects but which are not currently considered to be 
commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingent Resources are a class of 
discovered recoverable resources

“EBITDAX” earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and exploration expenditure (gross profit 
plus depreciation and impairment on producing assets)

“net to gross ratio” the total amount of pay footage divided by the total thickness of the reservoir interval

“net to Faroe” the portion that is attributed to the equity interests of Faroe

“PL” production licence 

“PRMS” the 2007 Petroleum Resources Management System (PRMS) prepared by the Oil and Gas Reserves 
Committee of the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE) and reviewed and jointly sponsored by the  
World Petroleum Council (WPC), the American Association of Petroleum Geologists (AAPG) and the 
Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE)

“Proved Reserves” or  
“1P”

those quantities of petroleum, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated 
with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable, from a given date forward, from known 
reservoirs and under defined economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations. 
If deterministic methods are used, the term reasonable certainty is intended to express a high degree 
of confidence that the quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be 
at least a 90% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate

“Proved + Probable 
Reserves” or “2P”

when added to 1P, those additional reserves which analysis of geoscience and engineering data indicate 
are less likely to be recovered than 1P but more certain to be recovered than 3P. It is equally likely that 
actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater than or less than the sum of the estimated Proved 
plus Probable Reserves (2P). In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at  
least a 50% probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the 2P estimate

“Proved + Probable  
+ Possible Reserves”  
or “3P”

when added to 2P, those additional reserves which analysis of geoscience and engineering data suggest 
are less likely to be recoverable than 2P. The total quantities ultimately recovered have a low probability  
of exceeding the sum of Proved plus Probable plus Possible (3P) Reserves, which is equivalent to the high 
estimate scenario. In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 10% 
probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the 3P estimate

“reserves” reserves are those quantities of petroleum anticipated to be commercially recoverable by application 
of development projects to known accumulations from a given date forward under defined conditions. 
Reserves must further satisfy four criteria: they must be discovered, recoverable, commercial, and remaining 
(as of the evaluation date) based on the development project(s) applied. Reserves are further categorised  
in accordance with the level of certainty associated with the estimates and may be sub-classified based 
on project maturity and/or characterised by development and production status

“STOIIP” stock tank oil initially in place
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